Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

11-26-2020 5:30 PM

Potential Use of Carbon Monoxide as a Non-Surgical Intervention in a Rat Model of Acute Compartment Syndrome

Patrick Qi Wang, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Lawendy, Abdel-Rahman, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Surgery © Patrick Qi Wang 2020

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Wang, Patrick Qi, "Potential Use of Carbon Monoxide as a Non-Surgical Intervention in a Rat Model of Acute Compartment Syndrome" (2020). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 7570. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/7570

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

ABSTRACT

Acute limb compartment syndrome (ACS), a potentially devastating complication of musculoskeletal trauma, results in muscle necrosis and cell death. Ischemia and inflammation both contribute to microvascular dysfunction and parenchymal injury. Currently, surgical fasciotomy remains the only first-line treatment.

Systemic application of carbon monoxide-releasing molecule-3 (CORM-3) in animal models of ACS has shown benefits when given in conjunction with fasciotomy; however, CORM-3 without fasciotomy has never been tested. The purpose of this thesis was to assess the effects of CORM-3 in ACS *without* surgical intervention.

Twenty-nine male adult Wistar rats were used to test the effects of CORM-3. Microvascular perfusion, tissue injury, and inflammatory response were measured at 24, 48, and 72 hours following intracompartmental pressure elevation and CORM-3 injection.

The results demonstrated partially restored microvascular perfusion, significantly reduced tissue injury, and significantly diminished leukocyte activation (inflammation), indicating the potential of CORM-3 as a pharmacological agent in the treatment for ACS.

Keywords: acute compartment syndrome; elevated intracompartmental pressure; carbon monoxide; CORM-3; fasciotomy; microvascular perfusion, tissue injury; inflammation; non-operative management.

ii

SUMMARY FOR LAY AUDIENCE

Acute limb compartment syndrome (ACS) is a potentially devastating complication of limb trauma resulting in muscle and cell death. Lack of blood flow and white blood cell activation both contribute to vessel dysfunction and tissue injury. The treatment gold standard is an emergency surgery to relieve the tissue pressure.

Injection of carbon monoxide-releasing molecule-3 (CORM-3), a substance that gives off carbon monoxide, in animal models of ACS has shown benefits when given together with surgery; however, CORM-3 without surgery has never been tested. Therefore, the purpose of this thesis was to assess the effects of CORM-3 in ACS *without* surgical intervention.

Twenty-nine male adult Wistar rats were used to test CORM-3. Tissue perfusion, injury, and white blood cell response were measured at 24, 48, and 72 hours following tissue pressure elevation and CORM-3 injection.

Our results demonstrated that CORM-3 injection without surgery improved perfusion, reduced tissue injury, and diminished inflammation, indicating its potential in prolonging the surgical window and its use as a pharmacological treatment for ACS.

iii

CO-AUTHORSHIP

Despite being the principal author of this thesis, where I performed the experiments, collected, analyzed, and interpreted the data, as well as wrote the dissertation, this project would not have been possible without the co-authors listed below.

Abdel-Rahman Lawendy, MD, PhD, FRCSC: It is through his previous research and publications that the conception of this project was even made possible. In his role as the principal investigator and supervisor of this thesis, his clinical expertise and intimate knowledge of compartment syndrome have provided crucial guidance, direction, and leadership over the course of my project; his insight into the pathophysiology of compartment syndrome and knowledge of reperfusion injury mechanisms helped to direct the project towards the end product. He also critically reviewed this work.

Aurelia Bihari, PhD: Dr. Bihari has been the driving force throughout this experiment. She has spent countless hours supervising and teaching me how to perform the experiments. She has played an instrumental role in setting up the lab, providing technical support, helping with data collection, data analysis, and interpretation, as well as critically reviewing the dissertation.

DEDICATION

To my parents, Shengrui and Zhanhong, who have made countless sacrifices throughout my childhood and young adulthood to help me reach my ambitions and pursue my dreams.

To my little brother, Samuel, who is also enrolled in a master's program at the time of writing this thesis. He has always had my back in every step of life. He has also tried to bully me at times to show who's boss, but that obviously never worked.

To my beautiful wife, Mylène, who has always supported me despite my busy schedules, and more importantly, whose unconditional love has brought me joy and happiness, even in the most difficult of times.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge Dr. Abdel-Rahman Lawendy, who has given me the opportunity to perform this project as a Master's student under his supervision. As a clinical supervisor, he has also spent a tremendous amount of time teaching me about Orthopaedics in general as well as the pathophysiology, clinical presentation, operative techniques, and perioperative management of compartment syndrome, the focus of this study.

Nothing would have been possible without the incredible efforts and extraordinary patience of Dr. Aurelia Bihari. Without her, this project does not come to fruition. She has been a workhorse of this experiment from its conception, laboratory set-up, data collection, and analysis, as well as critical dissertation review. How she remained calm and has never yelled at me throughout the year is, to me, a feat in itself.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTii			
SUMMARY FOR LAY AUDIENCEiii			
CO-AUTHORSHIPiv			
DEDICATIONv			
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSvi			
TABLE OF CONTENTS vii			
LIST OF TABLES xiii			
LIST OF FIGURESxiv			
LIST OF APPENDICESxv			
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxvi			
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW1			
1.1 ACUTE COMPARTMENT SYNDROME1			
1.2 ACS: A DIAGNOSTIC CHALLENGE2			
1.2.1 Aetiologies2			
1.2.2 Clinical Findings			
1.2.3 Use of Compartment Pressure Monitoring5			
1.2.4 Alternative Diagnostic Tools8			
1.2.5 Missed or Delayed Diagnosis9			
1.2.6 Time to Irreversible Damage12			
1.2.7 Surgeon Variability13			
1.2.8 Medical-Legal Implications13			

1.3 MANAGEMENT OF ACS			14
1.3.1	Limb Anat	omy	14
	1.3.1.1	Leg	14
	1.3.1.2	Forearm	16
1.3.2	Fasciotom	у	17
	1.3.2.1	Threshold for Fasciotomy	19
	1.3.2.2	Techniques for Fasciotomy	20
	1.3.2.3	Delayed Fasciotomy	20
	1.3.2.4	Complications of Fasciotomy	21
1.3.3	Alternative	e Treatments	22
	1.3.3.1	Tissue Ultrafiltration	22
	1.3.3.2	Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy	23
	1.3.3.3	Mannitol	23
	1.3.3.4	Anti-Inflammatories	24
	1.3.3.5	Antioxidants	25
1.4 PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF ACS			26
1.4.1	Historical	Perspective	26
1.4.2	Microcircu	ulation in ACS	28
	1.4.2.1	Normal Microcirculation	28
	1.4.2.2	Microcirculatory Dysfunction	28
1.4.3	Ischemia	and Reperfusion	32
	1.4.3.1	Complete Versus Partial Ischemia	32
	1.4.3.2	Low-Flow Ischemia	33

1.4.4	Reperfus	ion Injury	35
	1.4.4.1	Reactive Oxygen Species and Free Radicals .	36
	1.4.4.2	Lipid Peroxidation	39
	1.4.4.3	Thromboxane	40
	1.4.4.4	Leukocyte Activation	40
	1.4.4.5	Interaction Between the Endothelium and	
		Leukocytes	42
	1.4.4.6	Cytokines/Chemokines	46
	1.4.4.7	Nitric Oxide	48
	1.4.4.8	Complement	48
1.5 HEME M	IETABOLI	SM AND OXIDATIVE STRESS	49
1.5.1	Heme Ox	ygenase	50
1.5.2	Carbon M	1onoxide	53
1.5.3	Effects of	Carbon Monoxide	54
	1.5.3.1	Cellular Signalling	55
	1.5.3.2	Vasodilation	56
	1.5.3.3	Anti-Apoptotic Effects	57
	1.5.3.4	Anti-Proliferative Effects	59
	1.5.3.5	Anti-Inflammatory Effects	59
1.5.4	Carbon M	Ionoxide-Releasing Molecules	60
	1.5.4.1	CORM-3	62
1.6 PURPO	SE OF TH	E THESIS	64
CHAPTER 2: MATE	ERIALS AN	ND METHODS	66

	2.1 ANIMAL CARE	66
	2.2 ANIMAL DESCRIPTION	66
	2.3 CARBON MONOXIDE	66
	2.4 EXPERIMENTAL SETUP	67
	2.4.1 General Overview	67
	2.4.2 Anaesthesia	68
	2.4.3 Acute Compartment Syndrome	68
	2.5 EXPERIMENTAL GROUPS	70
	2.5.1 Sham	70
	2.5.2 ACS with 24hr Recovery	70
	2.5.3 ACS with 48hr Recovery	71
	2.5.4 ACS with 72hr Recovery	71
	2.6 INTRAVITAL VIDEO MICROSCOPY	71
	2.6.1 Muscle Preparation	71
	2.6.2 Vital Dye Staining	72
	2.6.3 Microscopy	72
	2.7 OFFLINE VIDEO ANALYSIS	73
	2.7.1 Microvascular Perfusion	73
	2.7.2 Tissue Injury Analysis	73
	2.7.3 Analysis of Leukocytes	74
	2.8 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	74
CHAF	PTER 3: RESULTS	75
	3.1 MICROVASCULAR PERFUSION	75

3.1.1 Continuously-Perfused Capillaries	75
3.1.2 Intermittently-Perfused Capillaries	75
3.1.3 Non-Perfused Capillaries	77
3.2 TISSUE INJURY	77
3.3 LEUKOCYTE BEHAVIOUR	79
3.3.1 Leukocyte Rolling	79
3.3.2 Leukocyte Adhesion	79
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	82
4.1 OVERVIEW OF RESULTS	82
4.1.1 The Effect of ACS	83
4.1.1.1 Microvascular Changes	83
4.1.1.2 Tissue Injury	85
4.1.1.3 Leukocyte Activation	88
4.1.2 Therapeutic Effects of CORM-3-Derived CO	92
4.1.2.1 Effects of CORM-3 on Microvascular Perfusion	92
4.1.2.2 Effects of CORM-3 on Tissue Injury	94
4.1.2.3 Effects of CO and CORM-3 on Leukocyte Activity	95
4.2 STUDY LIMITATIONS	98
4.3 FUTURE DIRECTIONS	99
4.4 CONCLUSIONS	100
REFERENCES	101
APPENDICES	130
APPENDIX I: FASCIOTOMY TECHNIQUES	131

I.1 LOWER LEG FASCIOTOMY132
I.1.1 Single-Incision Fasciotomy132
I.1.2 Two-Incision Fasciotomy133
I.2 FOREARM FASCIOTOMY135
I.2.1 Volar Approach135
I.2.2 Dorsal Approach135
APPENDIX II: PERMISSIONS TO USE COPYRIGHTED MATERIALS. 138
II.1 Operative Techniques: Orthopaedic Trauma Surgery 2010138
II.2 Mechanisms of Vascular Disease: A Reference Book
Vascular Specialists (2011)139
II.3 Nature Reviews Immunology 2007; 7(9): 678-689140
APPENDIX III: ANIMAL PROTOCOL APPROVAL LETTER144
VITA145

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.1.	Most common carbon monoxide-releasing molecules (CO-RMs)	61

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	e Description	Page
1.1	Compartments of the leg	15
1.2	Compartments of the forearm	18
1.3	Microcirculation of the skeletal muscle	29
1.4	Microcirculatory dysfunction in compartment syndrome	34
1.5	Generation of reactive oxygen species in ischemia-reperfusion	38
1.6	Leukocyte activation sequence in inflammation	43
1.7	Heme degradation pathway	51
2.1	Schematic illustration of rat ACS experimental setup	69
3.1	The effect of CORM-3 on skeletal muscle perfusion following ACS	76
3.2	The effect of CORM-3 on skeletal muscle tissue injury following ACS	;78
3.3	The effect of CORM-3 on leukocyte activation following ACS:	
	leukocyte rolling	80
3.4	The effect of CORM-3 on leukocyte activation following ACS:	
	leukocyte adhesion	81
l.1	Two-incision fasciotomy	134
I.2	Fasciotomy of the forearm	136

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix	Page
Appendix I: Fasciotomy Techniques	131
Appendix II: Permissions to Use Copyrighted Materials	138
Appendix III: Animal Protocol Approval Letter	144

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- ACS, acute compartment syndrome
- AIF, apoptosis-inducing factor
- ANOVA, analysis of variance
- APAF-1, apoptotic protease activating factor-1
- ATP, adenosine triphosphate
- AV, arteriovenous
- BB, bisbenzimide
- BR, bilirubin
- BV, biliverdin
- BVR, biliverdin reductase
- CCAC, Canadian Council on Animal Care
- cGMP, cyclic guanosine monophosphate
- CM, centimetres
- CO, carbon monoxide
- COHb, carboxyhemoglobin
- CO-RMs, carbon monoxide-releasing molecules
- CORM-3, carbon monoxide-releasing molecule-3
- COX, cyclooxygenase
- CPC, continuously-perfused capillaries
- DISC, death-inducing signalling complex
- EB, ethidium bromide
- EDL, extensor digitorum longus

- EIU, endotoxin-induced uveitis
- ERK, extracellular signal-related kinases
- GRO, growth-regulated oncogene
- HO, heme oxygenase
- HSP32, heat shock protein 32
- HUVEC, human vascular endothelial cells
- ICP, intracompartmental pressure
- ICAM-1, intracellular adhesion molecule-1
- ICAM-2, intracellular adhesion molecule-2
- lg, immunoglobulin
- IL-1 β , interleukin-1 beta
- IL-6, interleukin-6
- IL-8, interleukin-8
- IM, intra-muscular
- IPC, intermittently-perfused capillaries
- I-R, ischemia-reperfusion
- IVVM, intravital video microscopy
- JAM, junctional adhesion molecule
- JNK, *c*-jun N-terminal kinases
- LFA-1, lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1
- LG, lateral gastrocnemius
- LT, leukotriene
- MAC-1, macrophage-associated protein-1

MADCAM-1, mucosal vascular addressin cell adhesion molecule type 1

MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinases

MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein 1

MIN, minute

MIP-1, macrophage inflammatory protein-1

ML, milliliters

MMP, matrix metalloproteases

MPO, myeloperoxidase

N.S., not significant

NA, neutralizing antibodies

NAC, N-acetyl cysteine

NAD⁺, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide

NADPH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate

NIRS, near infra-red spectroscopy

NF-kB, nuclear factor kappa B

NM, nanometers

NO, nitric oxide

NOS, nitric oxide synthase

- cNOS, constitutive NOS; eNOS, endothelial NOS; iNOS, inducible NOS
- NPC, non-perfused capillaries
- NSAIDs, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
- PAF, platelet-activating factor
- PCA, patient-controlled analgesia

PECAM-1, platelet-associated cell adhesion molecule-1

- PI3K, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
- PL, peroneus longus
- PMN, polymorphonuclear leukocytes
- PSGL-1, P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1
- PVD, peripheral vascular disease
- RIP, receptor-interacting protein
- ROS, reactive oxygen species
- sGC, soluble guanylate cyclase
- SEC, seconds
- SEM, standard error of the mean
- SOD, superoxide dismutase
- TA, tibialis anterior
- TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor-alpha
- TUF, tissue ultrafiltration
- VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
- VLA-4, very late antigen-4
- XD, xanthine dehydrogenase
- XO, xanthine oxidase
- Δp , pressure differential
- µg, microgram
- µm, micrometer

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 ACUTE COMPARTMENT SYNDROME

Acute compartment syndrome (ACS) in musculoskeletal trauma is a limbthreatening and, potentially, life-threatening injury. Without prompt surgical intervention, the elevation of pressure within a closed osseofascial compartment leads to tissue ischemia, myonecrosis, and nerve injury (McMillan et al. 2019; Mortensen et al. 2020; Schmidt 2017; von Keudell et al. 2015). The microvascular compromise that results in a lack of oxygen and nutrient delivery to the tissues then leads to cellular anoxia and cell death. Ultimately, this can cause severe functional impairment in extremity function, potential loss of limb, and even patient death. Although multiple therapeutic agents have been proposed, the treatment gold standard remains fasciotomy. However, the surgical window for the procedure is quite narrow before permanent damage develops (Guo et al. 2019; Mubarak & Hargens 1983). Risk factors for delayed diagnosis of ACS reported in the literature include poor communication between physicians, failure of early recognition of signs and symptoms, neurological injuries, altered levels of consciousness, children, and patient-controlled or regional anaesthetics (Bhattacharyya & Vrahas 2004; Garner et al. 2014; Mortensen et al. 2020; von Keudell et al. 2015).

1.2 ACS: A DIAGNOSTIC CHALLENGE

1.2.1 Aetiologies

There are numerous causes of increased compartmental pressures in the limbs. They can be divided into traumatic injuries, such as fractures, soft-tissue trauma without fracture, and penetrating trauma; vascular injuries, such as arterial/venous injuries, intracompartmental bleeding, reperfusion injuries following ischemia; soft tissue injuries, such as burns, crush injuries, hematomas, animal bites; iatrogenic causes including, but not limited to, tight casts, constrictive dressings, prolonged lithotomy position (flexion, elevation, and abduction of the leg) during orthopaedic surgery, intravenous drug use, tourniquet application, and anticoagulation (Gourgiotis et al. 2007; Olson & Glasgow 2005). Reported rare causes of ACS include hypothyroidism, diabetes, vascular abnormalities, nephrotic syndrome, statins, and ganglion cysts of the proximal tibiofibular joint (Chautems et al. 1997; Flamini et al. 2008). Although ACS can occur in the arm, hand, thorax, abdomen, buttock, thigh, foot, paraspinal muscles, and even in the ocular orbit, it is most commonly seen following injuries to the lower leg and forearm (Elliott & Johnstone 2003; Garner et al. 2014; McCallum et al. 2019; Rupprecht et al. 2019).

Bone fractures are the most common cause of ACS when compared to non-fracture aetiologies, and most commonly occur following tibial shaft fractures (Elliott & Johnstone 2003; Garner et al. 2014; McQueen et al. 2000; von Keudell et al. 2015). In a retrospective study, McQueen et al. (2000) found that tibial diaphyseal fractures were the most common fracture cause of ACS, at 36%, followed by distal radius fractures with nearly 10% of cases. Nonetheless, 23.2% of ACS patients were a result of soft-tissue trauma without fracture. Risk stratification demonstrated that men under the age of 35 are at greatest risk of developing ACS following injury (McQueen et al. 2000).

1.2.2 Clinical Findings

Making the diagnosis of ACS is a subject of much debate. It relies on clinical acumen and monitoring. Intracompartmental pressure (ICP) monitoring is often used when the diagnosis is equivocal; however, there are no standardized guidelines for its use (Garner et al. 2014; Mabvuure et al. 2012). Furthermore, the quality and timing of symptoms can vary between injuries and patients. Studies have even suggested that muscle damage can occur before the diagnosis of ACS becomes evident (Frink et al. 2010; Nudel et al. 2016; Vaillancourt et al. 2004).

Classically, the five Ps (pain, pallor, pulselessness, paralysis, and paraesthesia) mnemonic has been used as a diagnostic tool for ACS (Donaldson et al. 2014; Gourgiotis et al. 2007). However, some authors have contended that they are unreliable. Von Keudell et al. (2015) argue that these represent arterial ischemia rather than increased compartment pressures. Furthermore, given that ACS is a dynamic process, the progression of symptoms can be variable (von Keudell et al. 2015).

Mubarak and colleagues (1978) found that swelling and palpable tenseness were the first signs of ACS as a result of ICP elevation. Alone,

however, they are not diagnostic of ACS. They also found that pain with passive stretch was subjective and unreliable, given that it could be a result of the traumatic injury rather than ischemia (Mubarak et al. 1978). Furthermore, Rorabeck and Macnab (1976) found that hypoesthesia and anaesthesia were the last clinical findings to develop (Rorabeck & Macnab 1976). Meanwhile, Ulmer (2002) showed that pain, pain with passive stretch, paraesthesia, and paresis are more useful in ruling out the diagnosis of ACS in the absence of these symptoms rather than making the diagnosis when they are present. He found that the individual sensitivities of each symptom ranged from 13% to 19%, whereas their positive predictive value ranged from 11% to 15%. Meanwhile, both their specificities and negative predictive values ranged between 97% and 98%. Nonetheless, in patients at risk of ACS, he demonstrated that the odds of diagnosing ACS increase with an increasing number of symptoms present; 19% to 26% with one clinical finding, 68%, 93%, and 98% with two, three, and four clinical findings respectively (Ulmer 2002).

Heavy reliance on the five Ps can be misleading: pain out of proportion and pain with passive stretch are important early clinical signs and most reliable indicators in the diagnosis of ACS (Donaldson et al. 2014; Guo et al. 2019; von Keudell et al. 2015). However, they can be confounded by the nature of the injury(ies) suffered, analgesics, altered levels of consciousness, being uncooperative or unconscious, and pain tolerance (Garner et al. 2014; Mortensen et al. 2020). Serial and careful examinations thus become crucial. The other Ps (pallor, pulselessness, paralysis, and paraesthesia) are generally considered late signs of persistent ischemia. Paraesthesia and muscle weakness can be a result of the injury itself rather than ACS. However, if true weakness is detected, then this could potentially indicate permanent muscle damage (Elliott & Johnstone 2003). Pulselessness is almost only noted in the very late stages of ACS. Tense compartments and increasing analgesic requirements are also important clinical signs that should increase the index of suspicion and must not be neglected (Garner et al. 2014; Matsen 1975; Mubarak et al. 1978).

1.2.3 Use of Compartment Pressure Monitoring

The concept of compartment pressure monitoring was first introduced by Whiteside and colleagues in 1975. Proper technique is critical: monitoring should be done within five centimetres from the zone of injury, and multiple pressure readings should be done rather than relying on one measurement (Heckman et al. 1994; Raza & Mahapatra 2015; Whitesides et al. 1975). Compartment pressure measurement should also be performed in all compartments of the extremity involved, to avoid missing ACS in adjacent compartments (Erdos et al. 2011; Nudel et al. 2016; Whitesides & Heckman 1996). Needle misplacement, faulty monitoring systems, and operator experience can all affect pressure reading (McLaughlin et al. 2014).

Commercial pressure monitoring systems, such as the Stryker Intra-Compartmental Pressure Monitor System (Stryker Instruments, Kalamazoo, MI) or the Synthes Electronic Pressure Transducer (Synthes USA, Paoli, PA) are readily available on the market. However, when resources are limited, ICP monitoring is often performed using simple hospital equipment (Pechar & Lyons 2016; Raza & Mahapatra 2015). These include the simple needle manometry, wick catheter, slit catheter, central venous manometer, side-ported needle technique, fibreoptic transducer, and infusion technique (Gourgiotis et al. 2007; McLaughlin et al. 2014).

The routine use of ICP monitoring and the threshold for fasciotomy remain controversial. While previous authors have advocated for absolute pressures of greater than 30mmHg (Mubarak et al. 1978), the more recent literature favours the Δp value of less than 30mmHg (McQueen et al. 2000). The Δp is a measurement of the difference between the diastolic blood pressure and the intramuscular pressure. Thus, a value below 30mmHg suggests inadequate perfusion. A growing body of literature supports the role of blood pressure in the role of ICP monitoring, given that tissue perfusion and consequent viability are dependent on blood pressure (Gourgiotis et al. 2007; Whitesides et al. 1975). In patients with tibial fractures, McQueen and Court-Brown (1996) demonstrated that upwards of 43% of patients would have undergone unnecessary fasciotomies had they used ICP measurement alone (McQueen & Court-Brown 1996).

It has been demonstrated that routine compartment pressure monitoring can lead to unnecessary fasciotomies in the alert, oriented, and cognitively sound patient (Guo et al. 2019; Janzing & Broos 2001; Tiwari et al. 2002). In a prospective study of patients with tibial fractures, Janzing and Boos (2001) compared patients who had "true" ACS (i.e. those either having undergone fasciotomy or having residual physical exam symptoms consistent with compartment syndrome 12 months after injury) with patients without ACS (i.e. those who did not undergo fasciotomy and having no residual symptoms 12 months after injury). The data revealed that unnecessary fasciotomies would have been performed in 6.2%, 3.1%, and 2.1% of patients based on symptoms alone, absolute ICP >30mmg, and Δp <30mmHg, respectively. Meanwhile, if decision to fasciotomy were based on ICP monitoring alone, missed ACS would have been found in 47.4% and 29.0% of patients based on absolute ICP >30mmg and Δp <30mmHg, respectively. Sensitivity and specificity for diagnosing ACS was 0.67 and 0.89, respectively, based on symptoms alone; 0.83 and 0.65, respectively, based on ICP >30mmHg; 0.89 and 0.65, respectively, based on $\Delta p < 30$ mmHg (Janzing & Broos 2001). In another study of patients with lower extremity injuries but no fasciotomy, 18 out of 19 patients had at least one ICP reading >30mmHg, with 12 patients exceeding 45mmHg and 16 patients with at least one Δp measurement of <30mmHg, without any clinical evidence of ACS (Prayson et al. 2006). A mathematical and quantitative analysis of ACS was also performed, arguing that even though monitoring may be beneficial, it is not yet fully reliable, given the non-uniform pressure distribution in the compartments and that permanent damage to the soft tissues can occasionally occur even before the onset of ACS symptoms (Nudel et al. 2016). Therefore, ICP measurement is recommended as an adjunct, rather than a sole diagnostic tool (Garner et al. 2014).

Some authors have advocated for continuous ICP monitoring in patients at risk of ACS, arguing that it may detect it early, before the onset of clinical symptoms, hence reduce time to fasciotomy. This type of monitoring can be carried out by connecting the compartment catheter to an arterial line transducer. However, obtaining precise measurements can be technically challenging and has a learning curve associated with it (Matsen et al. 1976; McLaughlin et al. 2014; McQueen & Court-Brown 1996; von Keudell et al. 2015). In a review of patients with a tibial fracture in which their compartment pressures were continuously monitored coupled with careful clinical examination did not lead to an increase in the rate of unnecessary fasciotomies (Al-Dadah et al. 2008).

There is no question regarding the benefit of using ICP monitoring in patients with risk factors that could delay the diagnosis of ACS. These include young children, intoxicated patients, patients with equivocal symptoms or altered levels of consciousness, patients with nerve injuries, use of epidural anaesthesia or nerve block, polytrauma patients, and high-energy injuries (Janzing & Broos 2001; McQueen et al. 2000).

1.2.4 Alternative Diagnostic Tools

Other proposed diagnostic tools for ACS include intramuscular oxygen partial pressure monitoring (Doro et al. 2014; Weick et al. 2016), near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) (Mancini et al. 1994; Shuler et al. 2011), monitoring localized perfusion using ultrasound or laser Doppler (Abraham et al. 1998; Edwards et al. 1999), and intramuscular glucose and pH monitoring (Doro et al. 2014). In a canine model of ACS, oxygen partial pressure of <30mmHg was reported to have a 100% sensitivity and a 100% specificity as a diagnostic tool. In addition, intramuscular glucose concentrations of <97mg/dL had 100% sensitivity and 75% specificity (Doro et al. 2014). Although the data looks promising, these are still in the experimental phase in human adults.

NIRS has been proposed and has gained more traction in recent years. Its proponents explain that blood flow should increase at the site of injury. A decrease or absence of blood flow could be used as a diagnostic tool for ACS and could be used as a continuous monitoring device (McMillan et al. 2019; Shuler et al. 2011). However, a recent study revealed poor reliability in patients with lower leg injuries, as well as a high number of erroneous NIRS readings (Schmidt et al. 2018).

Magnetic resonance imaging has limited use in the early acute setting, as the swelling and edema are not differentiated between early signs of ACS or from the injury itself. It can, nonetheless, confirm ACS once the diagnosis is established. However, at that point, a significant delay in the treatment would occur (Mabvuure et al. 2012).

1.2.5 Missed or Delayed Diagnosis

Patients may also present with variable findings leading to missed or delayed diagnosis of ACS. Risk factors include patient-controlled or regional anaesthetics, poor communication between physicians, small children, failure of early recognition of signs and symptoms, neurological injuries, and altered levels of consciousness (Erdos et al. 2011; Garner et al. 2014; Mortensen et al. 2020). The use of compartment pressure monitoring is highly recommended for patients with any risk factor for potential ACS; the lack of monitoring in high-risk patients is a common cause of missed ACS (Al-Dadah et al. 2008; Garner et al. 2014; McLaughlin et al. 2014).

A case report by Wright et al. (2011) described a 39-year-old male with a crush injury to the left lower leg, leading to a minimally displaced fracture of the fibular head. The patient was noted to have absent sensory function over the dorsal first web space (associated with a foot drop), an absent active extension of the great toe (extensor hallucis longus), as well as a firm anterior compartment to palpation. At the same time, very little pain and no significant pain to passive stretch were noted, with distal pulses palpable and normal. Following fasciotomy, the patient quickly started regaining his sensory and motor functions. In his case, the ACS presented in the form of isolated peroneal palsy and an anterior compartment under great pressure (Wright et al. 2011).

Additional case reports described patients who were given patientcontrolled analgesia (PCA) following tibial intramedullary nail for tibial shaft fracture (Harrington et al. 2000; O'Sullivan et al. 2002). The PCA masked the pain, delaying the diagnosis of post-operative ACS. While one patient underwent fasciotomy of the lower leg with subsequent closure and no long-term sequelae, another patient ultimately required a below-knee amputation of the leg (Harrington et al. 2000; O'Sullivan et al. 2002). A study conducted by Hope and McQueen (2004) that compared patients with ACS following fracture and those in the absence of fracture revealed a 13:1 male-to-female ratio in ACS following fracture compared to a 5:1 ratio in ACS without fracture. The patients without fracture were found to be significantly older and with more known medical comorbidities. Consequently, the time from admission to fasciotomy in the non-fracture related patients was delayed, on average, by more than 12 hours, leading to a significantly greater number of patients with muscle necrosis, compared to those in the fracture group (Hope & McQueen 2004).

The diagnosis of ACS in young children can also pose challenges due to communication difficulties. A case series of patients aged 2 to 18 years revealed a mean time from admission to fasciotomy greater than 27 hours (Erdos et al. 2011). Thus, careful serial examination and clinical vigilance to any potential signs of ACS are critical.

Missed or delayed diagnosis of ACS can have serious consequences. Care must be taken to monitor for signs of shock, renal failure, acidosis, hypotension, hyperkalaemia, and hypocalcaemia (Guo et al. 2019). Depending on the amount of muscle(s) involved, missed ACS can lead to ischemic contractures, secondary deformity, permanent neuromuscular deficits, sensory deficits, limb dysfunction, infections especially gram-negative sepsis, amputation, and even death (Donaldson et al. 2014; Elliott & Johnstone 2003; Whitesides & Heckman 1996). Myonecrosis puts patients at high risk of myoglobinuria due to myoglobin released in the systemic circulation accumulating in the distal convoluted tubules in the kidneys, leading to acute renal failure requiring aggressive fluid hydration (Donaldson et al. 2014; Mabvuure et al. 2012; Whitesides & Heckman 1996). In severe cases of metabolic acidosis, hyperkalaemia, and renal failure, debridement of necrotic muscles is often indicated to prevent and minimize systemic failure as well as metabolic complications (von Keudell et al. 2015).

1.2.6 Time to Irreversible Damage

It is generally accepted that irreversible changes begin around 6 to 8 hours following the onset of ACS, although determining the time of onset of ACS symptoms in itself is often quite challenging (Elliott & Johnstone 2003; Gourgiotis et al. 2007; Guo et al. 2019; Mabvuure et al. 2012; von Keudell et al. 2015). However, reports indicate that irreversible damage can also be seen much earlier, e.g. within 3 hours of ACS onset (Vaillancourt et al. 2004). A study by Sheridan and Matsen (1976) found that early fasciotomies (within 12 hours of onset of ACS) resulted in 68% of extremities with normal function and 4.5% complication rate, while late fasciotomy (mean 37.1 hours from ACS onset) produced only 8 percent of extremities with normal function and a 54% complication rate (Sheridan & Matsen 1976). Another study reported on patients who were operated within three hours of injury already showing evidence of muscle necrosis and complete muscle necrosis in the affected compartment within four hours of injury (Vaillancourt et al. 2004). Moreover, in an animal model

of ACS, Labbe et al. (1987) demonstrated upwards of 90% leg muscle necrosis within 5 hours of ischemia (Labbe et al. 1987).

1.2.7 Surgeon Variability

It has been demonstrated that there is a degree of variability among surgeons in the diagnosis and treatment of ACS (O'Toole et al. 2009). A comparison of seven surgeons within the same institution found a wide variation of ACS diagnosis, ranging from 2% to 24% of the tibial fractures assessed. The use of compartment pressure monitors also greatly varied (1.7% to 28.6%), with similar variation to the percentage of ACS diagnosis (O'Toole et al. 2009).

1.2.8 Medical-Legal Implications

ACS is often subject to litigation. A review found that the factors leading to unsuccessful defences included poor documentation, poor physician communication, lack of action once neurovascular signs and symptoms were identified, increased number of concerning clinical findings, and increased time to surgery (Bhattacharyya & Vrahas 2004). Furthermore, given the magnitude and urgency in the treatment of ACS, information disclosed to obtain informed consent for surgery was often found to be incomplete. Risk of infection, risk of reoperation, the potential need for staged-operations, skin grafts, negative pressure vacuum dressing, renal failure, and long-term complications were often omitted when surgeons were rushed to obtain informed consent (Garner et al. 2014).

1.3 MANAGEMENT OF ACS

ACS constitutes a surgical emergency. When ACS is suspected, all external compressive forces, such as casts or occlusive dressings, should be removed immediately. The affected limb should be elevated to the level of the heart (but not higher) to maximize perfusion (Forsh & Wolinsky 2013; Matsen et al. 1980). If the signs and symptoms of ACS persist, surgical fasciotomy of all compartments remains the gold standard. Although numerous nonoperative treatments of ACS have been studied in various models (tissue ultrafiltration, hyperbaric oxygen therapy, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), mannitol, antioxidants), there is no conclusive evidence to support their use as a first-line treatment (Donaldson et al. 2014; Harvey et al. 2012; McLaughlin et al. 2014; McMillan et al. 2019).

1.3.1 Limb Anatomy

1.3.1.1 Leg

The lower leg is the most commonly affected limb in ACS. It includes two bones (tibia and fibula) and is divided into four compartments: anterior, lateral, deep posterior, and superficial posterior (Thompson 2016) (Figure 1.1).

The anterior compartment includes the tibialis anterior, extensor hallucis longus, extensor digitorum longus, and peroneus tertius muscles. These muscles function primarily in foot and ankle dorsiflexion, are innervated by the deep peroneal nerve, and the blood supply mainly comes from the anterior tibial artery. The compartment is delineated by the tibia medially, the interosseous membrane



Figure 1.1 Compartments of the leg. Cross-sectional view of the leg including the tibia and fibula as well as muscles separated into four osseofascial compartments: anterior, lateral, deep posterior, and superficial posterior.

Reproduced with permission from Lawendy and Sanders (2010).

and fibula posteriorly, and the anterior intermuscular septum laterally (Thompson 2016).

The lateral compartment includes the peroneus long and brevis muscles. They are innervated by the superficial peroneal nerve and are supplied by the anterior tibial and fibular arteries. The muscles function as the primary foot evertor while having secondary functions in ankle plantarflexion. The fibula borders the compartment medially while the anterior and posterior intermuscular septum borders the front and back, respectively (Thompson 2016).

The muscles in the posterior compartments are mainly responsible for the plantarflexion of the foot and ankle. While the tibial and fibular arteries, as well as the tibial nerve, reside in the deep posterior compartment, they are responsible for vascularizing and innervating both posterior compartments. The deep posterior compartment includes the flexor hallucis longus, flexor digitorum longus, tibialis posterior, and popliteus muscles while the superficial posterior compartment is comprised of the gastrocnemius, soleus, and plantaris muscles. The compartments are separated by the transverse intermuscular septum (Thompson 2016).

1.3.1.2 Forearm

The forearm is the second most commonly affected limb in ACS. The forearm, along with the radius and ulna bones, contains three compartments: the anterior forearm (divided into superficial, intermediate, and deep layers), the

posterior forearm, and the mobile wad (brachioradialis, extensor carpi radialis longus and brevis) (Thompson 2016) (Figure 1.2).

The anterior forearm muscles are primarily responsible for hand and wrist flexion, as well as forearm pronation. These muscles are either innervated by the median nerve or by the anterior interosseous nerve, a branch of the median nerve. They are vascularized by both the ulna and radial arteries (Thompson 2016).

The posterior (or dorsal) forearm muscles are primarily responsible for hand and wrist extension as well as forearm supination. These muscles are innervated by the posterior interosseous nerve, a branch of the radial nerve. They are vascularized by branches of the radial and ulnar arteries (Thompson 2016).

The mobile wad muscles act as secondary elbow flexors proximally. While the brachioradialis also assists radioulnar joint supination and pronation during elbow flexion, the extensor carpi radialis longus and brevis allow wrist extension and hand abduction. The mobile wad is innervated by the radial nerve (brachioradialis and extensor carpi radialis longus) as well as the posterior interosseous nerve (extensor carpi radialis brevis). They are vascularized by the radial artery and brachii profunda (Thompson 2016).

1.3.2 Fasciotomy

The concept of fasciotomy surfaced early in the 1900s. As physicians attempted to provide treatment for Volkmann's ischemic contracture, multiple


Interosseous membrane

Figure 1.2 Compartments of the forearm. Cross-sectional view of the forearm including the radius and ulna as well as muscles separated into three different osseofascial compartments: dorsal, volar and mobile wad.

Reproduced with permission from Lawendy and Sanders (2010).

reports of myotomies and nerve release were published (Thomas 1909). In 1911, Bardenheuer described a fasciotomy-type technique, termed aponeurectomy, as an operative treatment for patients with impending Volkmann's contracture (Bardenheuer 1911). The procedure was then advocated by Murphy (1914), who argued that ischemic paralysis was caused by venous obstruction, hence splitting the deep fascia would relieve the pressure (Murphy 1914). Jepson (1926) also reported that decompression helped prevent ischemic contractures (Jepson 1926).

Fasciotomy has since become the forefront of treatment for ACS (Sheridan & Matsen 1976). By releasing the skin and fascia, the fasciotomy procedure decompresses the affected compartment(s), allowing the soft tissues to expand and increase in volume, immediately reducing the compartment pressures (Schmidt 2017).

1.3.2.1 Threshold for Fasciotomy

Controversy and variability exist when making decisions to intervene. While some authors advocate for continuous pressure monitoring or routine compartment pressure checks on all patients at risk, it is generally accepted that, in the absence of risk factors, the diagnosis of ACS and the decision to intervene surgically can be made based on clinical symptoms alone. However, if there are any equivocal symptoms or ambivalence, compartment pressure measurements should be added as a diagnostic tool (Garner et al. 2014; Mortensen et al. 2020). The thresholds for compartment pressure measurements are also controversial. The evidence is shifting towards the use of Δp (McQueen & Court-Brown 1996); however, false positive rates may be more significant than previously believed. A study of patients with tibial shaft fractures but no clinical evidence of ACS and who did not undergo fasciotomy reported that if the threshold for surgery of Δp <30mmHg and <20mmHg had been applied, 35% and 24% of patients, respectively, would have met the criteria for fasciotomy based on compartment pressures alone (Whitney et al. 2014).

1.3.2.2 Techniques for Fasciotomy

The leg fasciotomy can be done either through a 1-incision technique laterally or two incisions medially and laterally (Forsh & Wolinsky 2013; von Keudell et al. 2015) (Appendix I). In the forearm fasciotomy, the volar incision is performed using either a radial or ulnar curvilinear incision. If needed, a dorsal incision extending from the lateral epicondyle to the centre of the wrist at the level of the radioulnar joint is made for the posterior forearm (Forsh & Wolinsky 2013; Gourgiotis et al. 2007) (Appendix I).

1.3.2.3 Delayed Fasciotomy

Some authors argue that fasciotomy should be considered even during late presentation due to the potential of salvaging any remaining muscle function (Olson & Glasgow 2005), as well as decreasing the risk of systemic complications such as rhabdomyolysis and renal failure (von Keudell et al. 2015). No guidelines exist, particularly for patients with clearly missed ACS, no viable muscle function following the onset of symptoms for more than 24 to 48 hours, and no nerve injury or nerve block to alter the examination. In this scenario, supportive care has been the main indication, including adequate fluid resuscitation, analgesics, and splinting, unless there is evolving limb necrosis or systemic involvement requiring source control (Mabvuure et al. 2012; Schmidt 2017; von Keudell et al. 2015).

Finkelstein et al. (1996) reported that delayed fasciotomy (patients underwent fasciotomies at an average 56 hours after lower limb ACS was established) can result in death due to multi-organ failure or amputation due to infection and sepsis (Finkelstein et al. 1996). Another study reported an infection rate of 28% in patients undergoing late fasciotomy (>12 hours) (Williams et al. 1997). Complication rates of 4.5% were reported for an early fasciotomy (less than 12 hours after onset of ACS, with a mean 5.3 hours) and 54% for late fasciotomy (more than 12 hours after onset of ACS, with a mean 37.1 hours). Additionally, only 8% of patients in the late group regained normal function (Sheridan & Matsen 1976).

1.3.2.4 Complications of Fasciotomy

Complication rates of fasciotomy are significant. In a study by Fitzgerald et al. (2000), long-term complications of fasciotomy included altered sensation around the wound margins (77%), persistent wound pain (10%), dry scaly skin (40%), pruritus (33%), discoloured wound (30%), swollen extremity (25%),

tethered scar (26%), recurrent ulceration (13%), muscle herniation (13%), and tethered tendon (7%). Furthermore, 12% and 28% of patients stated that they changed occupation and hobbies, respectively, following fasciotomy (Fitzgerald et al. 2000). Other complications of fasciotomy include delayed wound closure, need for surgical reconstruction with grafts or flaps, chronic pain, nerve injury, infection, permanent muscle weakness, chronic venous insufficiency, renal failure, and death (Schmidt 2017).

1.3.3 Alternative Treatments

To-date, open fasciotomy remains the gold standard in the treatment of ACS. Given the morbidity and potential complications, non-surgical management is rather used as an adjunct to fasciotomies or when fasciotomies are absolutely contraindicated (Donaldson et al. 2014; McMillan et al. 2019). Several different techniques have been tested in various models of ACS: tissue ultrafiltration, hyperbaric oxygen, mannitol, anti-inflammatory medications, and antioxidants.

1.3.3.1 Tissue Ultrafiltration

Odland and colleagues explored the use of tissue ultrafiltration (TUF) as a potential therapy for ACS. The technique consists of an insertion of small hollow fibers via catheters into muscle compartments to remove interstitial fluid and thus decrease compartmental pressures (Harvey et al. 2012). The technique was first tested in a porcine model of hindlimb ACS by Odland et al. (2005), demonstrating decreased intramuscular pressure and reduced muscle necrosis in the treated

limb (Odland et al. 2005). A small, randomized pilot study was then undertaken in 10 patients with tibial fracture. Although no patients suffered from ACS during the study period, one patient developed ACS in the lateral compartment of the lower leg and underwent a 4-compartment fasciotomy 22 hours after the TUF catheter was removed and 46 hours after fracture fixation (Odland & Schmidt 2011).

1.3.3.2 Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy

Hyperbaric oxygen therapy allows the delivery of 100% oxygen to the patient (normal atmospheric air contains 21% oxygen). In a case report of a 43-year-old male bitten by a Western diamondback rattlesnake who developed ACS and was recommended fasciotomy by the consulting orthopaedic surgeon, due to the patient's refusal of fasciotomy, the therapy consisted of antivenom, mannitol, and hyperbaric oxygen; the patient fully recovered from the envenomation without any long-term complications (Gold et al. 2003).

Given the high cost of equipment and paucity of evidence, hyperbaric oxygen therapy has been largely abandoned as a treatment of ACS (Greensmith 2004), although limited evidence shows that it does offer some value as an adjunct to standard ACS therapy.

1.3.3.3 Mannitol

Mannitol, a type of sugar alcohol, has previously been suggested to offer protective effects as an osmotic agent, thereby decreasing muscle edema (Daniels et al. 1998; Shah et al. 1996). Successful treatment of ACS using mannitol was reported in some case reports: a patient presenting with a heat stroke who later developed ACS of the anterior compartment of the right lower leg was treated with mannitol alone and developed only mild residual weakness in the right lower extremity (Daniels et al. 1998); a snakebite that progressed into ACS was treated with mannitol as an adjunct (along with hyperbaric oxygen and antivenom) resulting in full recovery and no long-term complications (Gold et al. 2003).

1.3.3.4 Anti-Inflammatories

Significant leukocyte activation (i.e. inflammation) is one of the driving forces of ACS pathophysiology (Lawendy et al. 2015). As such, the potential of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medications as a therapy for ACS has also been explored in animal models. Cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes play a key role in prostaglandin formation, mediating inflammatory processes. While COX-1 is expressed constitutively, COX-2 enzymes are upregulated during pro-inflammatory state (Tsatsanis et al. 2006). In a rat model of ACS, Manjoo et al. (2010) demonstrated improved muscle perfusion and decreased tissue damage in animals treated with indomethacin, a COX-2 inhibitor. The observed effects were a result of indomethacin's inhibitory effects on activated neutrophils and its effects as a free radical scavenger. However, it did not affect the apoptotic activity seen during ICP elevation (Manjoo et al. 2010).

1.3.3.5 Antioxidants

Antioxidants have potential benefits in situations of oxidative stressinduced microvascular injuries such as trauma, ischemia-reperfusion, sepsis, and organ failure (Oudemans-van Straaten et al. 2014; Spoelstra-de Man et al. 2018). A previous study of limb ACS demonstrated that exogenous administration of superoxide dismutase (SOD) antioxidant (an intrinsic enzyme) and hydroxyl radical inhibitors decreased compartment pressure rise and improved muscle perfusion (Perler et al. 1990). Meanwhile, the administration of SOD and mannitol, a hydroxyl radical scavenger, in a canine model of ACS significantly reduced muscle necrosis compared to control groups but did not prevent compartment pressure rise (Ricci et al. 1990).

Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) has many antioxidant and immune-supporting effects such as helping the mediation of direct free radical scavengers, reducing reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, and increasing the immune response (Spoelstra-de Man et al. 2018). It has been shown that in a rat model of ACS within the cremaster muscle, vitamin C pre-treatment in conjunction with decompression (fasciotomy equivalent) helped maintain muscle function and decreased extracellular neutrophil infiltration and soft tissue edema (Kearns et al. 2004).

N-acetyl cysteine (NAC), a precursor of glutathione, is a potent antioxidant by acting as a free radical scavenger (Lejay et al. 2018). Kearns et al. (2010) demonstrated preserved muscle contractility, decreased oxidant injury, and improved muscle viability following decompression and NAC treatment in a rodent cremasteric striated muscle model of ACS (Kearns et al. 2010).

1.4 PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF ACS

1.4.1 Historical Perspective

The first description of ACS originates in 1881 by Volkmann. Following his observation on outcomes of bandages being applied too tightly, he suggested that ischemic contractures and limb paralysis secondary to ACS following traumatic injuries were a result of arterial obstruction rather than neurologic injuries (Volkmann 2007; von Volkmann 1881). Greater attention was brought in 1884 following Leser's report of seven upper extremity cases treated with plaster cast and consequent contractures (Leser 1884; Thomas 1909). However, much debate remained regarding the pathophysiology of ACS. Over the next century, multiple theories have been postulated, including arterial injuries and arterial spasms (Griffiths 1940; Plewes 1940), venous obstruction (Bardenheuer 1906; Brooks 1922; Jepson 1926; Murphy 1914; Plewes 1940), nerve injuries (Hildebrandt 1906; Thomas 1909), and thromboembolism (Lander 1895; Thomas 1909).

In the 1930s and 1940s, the correlation between increased tissue pressures and ischemia started surfacing (Hughes 1948; Lewis 1936). Although fasciotomy or fasciotomy-type procedures had been previously described, the concept of fascial splitting or decompression became more widely accepted and emphasized in the treatment of ACS in the 1950s (Benjamin 1957; Mavor 1956;

Reneman 1975). In 1975, Matsen unified the concepts from the scientific evidence gathered over the years. He emphasized that the underlying pathophysiology of ACS was the same, regardless of aetiology, and could occur within any closed space, regardless of location. Moreover, immediate surgical decompression of the affected compartments is crucial while suggesting that the pressure required to cause irreversible damage was not an absolute value but rather dependent on local factors such as time under elevated ICP, vascular tone, local blood perfusion, and metabolic rates (Matsen 1975).

While many theories have been postulated, the underlying mechanism leading to tissue ischemia, myonecrosis, and loss of limb function during sustained ICP elevation is not yet fully understood. However, it is widely accepted that increased compartment pressures due to inelastic fascia following a bony or soft tissue insult leads to progressive microvascular dysfunction and tissue hypoperfusion. This leads to impaired gas exchange and inability to meet tissue metabolic demands (Schmidt 2017; von Keudell et al. 2015). Furthermore, elevated ICP-generated ischemia is associated with leukocyte recruitment, as well as local and systemic pro-inflammatory cascades, ultimately leading to cellular anoxia and death, tissue necrosis, and potential loss of limb function (Donohoe et al. 2018; Lawendy et al. 2015). It is also important to note that unlike complete ischemia, the deleterious effects of ACS occur despite a patent macrocirculation where distal pulses are usually palpable unless there is presence of associated arterial injury. Furthermore, pulselessness is an end-

27

result of ACS rather than the cause of tissue necrosis (Gourgiotis et al. 2007; Hoekman et al. 2005; Leach et al. 1967; Seddon 1966; Whitesides et al. 1975).

1.4.2 Microcirculation in ACS

1.4.2.1 Normal Microcirculation

In normal skeletal muscle, arterioles, capillaries, and venules form the microcirculatory system (Figure 1.3). Gas exchange and nutrient delivery occur in the capillaries of terminal vascular beds. In the terminal vascular beds, arterioles divide into multiple closely spaced capillaries situated along parenchymal cells to allow oxygen and nutrient exchange. Following material exchange, the blood flows through the venules and into the systemic venous circulation. In the microcirculatory system, all vessels are comprised of a single layer of vascular endothelial cell lining sitting on a layer of extracellular matrix (basement membrane). The arterioles are surrounded by smooth muscle mesenchymal cells to allow contractility, while capillaries and post-capillary venules are surrounded by pericytes rather than smooth muscle cells. The post-capillary venules also have a rather larger cross-sectional area compared to the corresponding arterioles resulting in decreased luminal pressures. This allows perfusion through an arteriovenous pressure gradient (Brown et al. 2006).

1.4.2.2 Microcirculatory Dysfunction

The exact mechanism by which microcirculatory dysfunction and tissue ischemia occur remains poorly understood. Multiple theories have been



Figure 1.3 Microcirculation of the skeletal muscle. Normal microcirculation where an arteriole branches into capillaries. Oxygenated blood flows from the arterioles (red) into the capillary beds and deoxygenated blood flows from the capillary beds to collect into the post-capillary venules (blue).

Reproduced with permission from Bihari (2017).

postulated in an attempt to explain the phenomenon in relation to increased compartment pressures, including the critical closing pressure theory, microvascular occlusion theory, and arteriovenous (AV) gradient theory. The critical closing pressure theory suggests that the intravascular arteriolar mural tension must be sufficiently elevated to overcome extravascular tissue pressure. Disruption of this equilibrium and an extravascular ICP above the arteriolar mural pressure in compartment syndrome leads to abrupt arteriole occlusion resulting in ischemia (Burton 1951; Singh et al. 2004). Additionally, Ashton (1975) also postulated other mechanisms, including active arteriolar closure mediated by vasomotor tone due to a decrease in intravascular pressure or extravascular pressure increase (Ashton 1975). However, the theory has been questioned when a rabbit model of ACS revealed increased venous pressures and total intramuscular pressures, while arteriolar dilatation occurred (Reneman et al. 1980). Additionally, in a rodent model, Vollmar et al. (1999) demonstrated no signs of arteriolar collapse or spasm with elevated intracompartmental pressures despite blood flow cessation and decreased venular diameter (Vollmar et al. 1999).

In the microvascular occlusion theory, it is assumed that increased ICP leads to capillary collapse as tissue pressures overcome intracapillary pressures. Given the low baseline capillary pressures, small extravascular pressure increments can lead to a reduction in blood flow and subsequent ischemia (Ashton 1975; Hargens et al. 1978). However, Hartsock et al. (1998)

demonstrated, in a rat model, that capillaries did not collapse despite an increase in ICP and even complete cessation of capillary perfusion (Hartsock et al. 1998).

The assumption behind the AV gradient theory is that with rising intracompartmental pressures, the intraluminal venous pressures also increase, causing a decrease in the AV gradient and subsequent decrease in perfusion. This leads to a rise in interstitial pressure due to the extrusion of fluids into the interstitial space. While the continuous arterial perfusion contributes to increasing edema and swelling, the increasing extravascular pressures eventually decrease arterial perfusion, and the cellular metabolic demands are no longer met (Elliott & Johnstone 2003; Mabvuure et al. 2012; McLaughlin et al. 2014; McMillan et al. 2019). In animal models of ACS, it has been shown that increasing ICP and extravascular pressure resulted in the reduction of venule diameter, thus decreasing local perfusion and effectively decreasing the AV gradient, without complete closure of vessels (Hartsock et al. 1998; Reneman et al. 1980; Slaaf et al. 1987; Vollmar et al. 1999). The AV gradient theory is the most widely accepted theory explaining the relationship between the microcirculation and increased ICP. However, it only accounts for passive microvasculature changes in response to pressure changes and does not consider local adaptive responses, endothelial structural changes, and the inflammatory responses associated with ACS.

1.4.3 Ischemia and Reperfusion

The exact underlying pathophysiology of ACS still needs to be fully elucidated. However, the consequences of untreated ACS appear to share characteristics with ischemia-reperfusion (I-R) injuries. In general, morbidity and cellular death from ischemic events alone are either a result of prolonged ischemia (vasculopathy) or lack of oxygen supply due to interrupted blood flow for periods beyond the organs' hypoxic threshold (Grace 1994). In ischemic events, depletion of intracellular adenosine triphosphate (ATP) leads to cellular membrane damage and loss of transmembrane electrical potential. This leads to acidosis, osmotic shock, and intracellular calcium overload, with eventual irreversible mitochondrial damage, protein and enzymatic leakage, and cellular apoptosis (Grace 1994; Hamburg & Creager 2017; Sharfuddin & Molitoris 2011). However, histologic findings are often 'normal' with preserved tissue architecture and acellularity, while I-R injuries are characterized by tissue necrosis and neutrophil infiltration, also observed in ACS (Epstein & McCord 1985; Francis & Baynosa 2017; Lawendy et al. 2011, 2014). Therefore, understanding the inflammatory process of I-R injury may help elucidate the mechanisms that lead to myonecrosis and systemic complications in ACS.

1.4.3.1 Complete Versus Partial Ischemia

ACS is believed to be a type of I-R injury (Francis & Baynosa 2017; Gourgiotis et al. 2007; Lawendy et al. 2015). However, the degree of ischemia in ACS remains questioned. Perry and his colleagues have previously compared the effects of 3 hours of partial ischemia and complete ischemia, followed by reperfusion in canine animal models. Although both the complete and partial ischemia induced cell membrane dysfunction, partial ischemia led to greater damage than complete ischemia (Perry 1988; Perry et al. 1984; Roberts et al. 1985). Heppenstall and colleagues (1986) demonstrated that increased ICP resulted in decreased levels of ATP, more severe muscle acidosis and cellular degeneration compared to tourniquet-induced I-R (Heppenstall et al. 1986). Conversely, Conrad et al. (2005) found that partial ischemia resulted in significantly greater early inflammatory cytokine production than incomplete ischemia. However, after 24 hours of reperfusion, less tissue viability was found following complete ischemia (Conrad et al. 2005).

1.4.3.2 Low-Flow Ischemia

Recent animal model studies have demonstrated ACS as a "low-flow" ischemic state (Lawendy et al. 2011, 2015) (Figure 1.4). Normal microvascular perfusion is predominantly of continuous type (Lawendy et al. 2011; Sadasivan et al. 1997). However, as the ICP increases, capillaries progress to intermittency and non-perfusion, although some capillaries remain continuously perfused, thus decreasing gas exchange and nutrient delivery overall. This partial ischemic state results in a significant degree of leukocyte activation, cytokine production, and tissue necrosis (Donohoe et al. 2018; Lawendy et al. 2011, 2015). Therefore, while the underlying pathophysiology of ACS may not be due to pure I-R mechanisms, it is thought to be a result of perpetual I-R injuries leading to severe



Figure 1.4 Microcirculatory dysfunction in compartment syndrome. Hypoperfusion of the capillary beds (low-flow ischemia) causes tissue injury (brown cells). Subsequently, leukocyte activation occurs in post-capillary venules and results in inflammation. *LKC*: leukocytes. *Reproduced with permission from Bihari (2017).* microvascular dysfunction, tissue ischemia, and eventual macrocirculation deficits.

1.4.4 Reperfusion Injury

Logically, reperfusion of ischemic tissues serves to restore blood flow, tissue oxygenation, nutrient delivery, and removal of toxic metabolites. Paradoxically, it further exacerbates tissue injury and cell death.

The concept of reperfusion injury surfaced in the early 1940s following air raids during World War II. Patients with crush injuries had localized symptoms but were systemically well. However, upon restoration of blood flow, they were found in shock within hours and many passed away within one week (Bywaters & Beall 1941; Bywaters et al. 1941). Reperfusion following ischemia results in multiple systemic disturbances, including metabolic acidosis, hyperkalaemia, myoglobinemia, myoglobinuria, and ultimately renal failure (Erdos et al. 2011). The systemic return of acidotic blood with venous blood pH usually below 7.2 causes metabolic acidosis, while intracellular potassium (cation) leakage leads to hyperkalaemia and could be severe enough to cause death. Additionally, intracellular enzymes, such as creatinine phosphokinase, lactic acid dehydrogenase, and glutamic-oxaloacetic transaminase, can lead to rhabdomyolysis (Grace 1994). Furthermore, ischemic muscles release myoglobin that can lead to acute renal failure (Matsen 1975; von Keudell et al. 2015).

Re-introduction of oxygen molecules leads to the formation of ROS, metabolites, endothelial alterations, increased leukocyte activation, neutrophil infiltration, inflammatory cascades, and changes in microvascular permeability (Francis & Baynosa 2017). Several studies have shown that reperfusion of ischemic tissues with anoxic (without oxygen) blood or limited oxygenated blood produced considerably less tissue injury (Gute et al. 1998). Consequently, ischemic tissue injuries appear to be exacerbated by the formation of ROS (Grace 1994; Gute et al. 1998; Wright et al. 1988).

1.4.4.1 Reactive Oxygen Species and Free Radicals

ROS are oxygen-containing reactive molecules that display much greater reactivity with other molecules than molecular oxygen (O₂) does. Free radicals are a type of ROS as they contain one or multiple unpaired electrons (Toyokuni 1999). ROS normally play an important role in regulating cell signalling, growth, and apoptosis. They are also vital in regulating immune, thyroid, and cognitive functions (Brieger et al. 2012). However, when ROS levels are supraphysiologic and overwhelm the antioxidant system, they become detrimental, leading to I-R injuries and various diseases, such as oncologic, cardiovascular, neurologic, and psychiatric disorders (Brieger et al. 2012; Francis & Baynosa 2017; Lushchak 2015; Toyokuni 1999).

Multiple sources of ROS have been described in biological systems, such as xanthine oxidase (XO) metabolism, by-products of leukocyte activation, mitochondrial electron transport chain, arachidonic acid metabolism, catecholamine autoxidation, endothelial cells, and prostaglandins (Cowled & Fitridge 2011; Gute et al. 1998). The evidence suggests that XO metabolism and leukocyte activation are the main drivers of ROS production in I-R. Superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide appear to be the most commonly produced ROS, while others include, but are not limited to, hydroxyl radical, nitric oxide, and peroxyl radical (Brieger et al. 2012; Cowled & Fitridge 2011; Grace 1994; Toyokuni 1999).

XO is a primary producer of ROS in I-R injuries: during the ischemic phase, glycogen breakdown in the mitochondria leads to increased lactic acid, resulting in a tissue pH drop, subsequently inhibiting ATP production and decreasing the transmembrane gradient. ATP is subsequently broken down into adenosis, inosine, hypoxanthine, and xanthine. Concomitantly, as the transmembrane gradient diminishes, intracellular sodium rises while potassium escapes into the extracellular space, and calcium is released from the mitochondria into the cytoplasm (Cowled & Fitridge 2011). Calpain, a calciumdependent cytosolic protease, is then activated, converting xanthine dehydrogenase (XD) to XO. During reperfusion, molecular oxygen reacts with XO, catalysing the formation of uric acid and superoxide anion. Superoxide anion can further be converted to hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radicals (Cowled & Fitridge 2011; Epstein & McCord 1985; Perry & Fantini 1987) (Figure 1.5). In contrast, in its physiologic role, XD reacts with nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺), converting hypoxanthine to xanthine and NAD⁺ to nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) rather than reacting with molecular oxygen, and does not produce ROS (Gute et al. 1998).



Figure 1.5 Generation of reactive oxygen species in ischemiareperfusion. During ischemia, ATP is degraded and XD converted to XO. Upon reperfusion, XO catalyses the conversion of hypoxathine to superoxide anions; these then initiate the production of hydrogen peroxide and superoxide radical, leading to lipid peroxidation and tissue damage.

Reproduced with permission from Cowled and Fitridge (2011).

The evidence that free radicals play a major role in I-R has been shown in multiple experiments. Superoxide dismutase (SOD), a free radical scavenger, has been shown to decrease free radical levels and tissue damage (Gute et al. 1998; Perler et al. 1990; Perry & Fantini 1987; Salvemini & Cuzzocrea 2003).

Other endogenous antioxidants, such as catalase, glutathione peroxidase, histidine, and vitamin E play a significant role in maintaining equilibrium and physiologic levels of ROS; however, during I-R, the antioxidant system becomes overwhelmed and is unable to maintain its scavenging function (Francis & Baynosa 2017).

1.4.4.2 Lipid Peroxidation

A major consequence of ROS production is structural and functional damage to the phospholipid-derived cell membrane (Gaschler & Stockwell 2017; Grace 1994). Following reperfusion, superoxide contributes to free ferrous ion release, catalysing the formation of hydroxyl radicals and peroxyl radicals from hydrogen peroxide. These radicals then remove a hydrogen atom in the methylene group (-CH₂-) between two unsaturated bonds (double covalent bonds) in the lipid molecule, which creates a new carbon-centred radical. When this new carbon-centred radical reacts with molecular oxygen, a lipid-peroxyl radical (ROO⁻) is formed; it then abstracts another hydrogen atom from another methylene group in the cell membrane, forming lipid peroxide (ROOH). Molecular oxygen then reacts with the newly created carbon-centred radical, creating a chain reaction, ultimately leading to cellular permeability and cell death (Cowled & Fitridge 2011; Gaschler & Stockwell 2017; Grace 1994).

1.4.4.3 Thromboxane

Plasma thromboxane A₂ is derived from arachidonic acid that is released from lipid peroxidation. Released within minutes of I-R injuries, it promotes vasoconstriction and platelet aggregation (Mazolewski et al. 1999). A rat model of I-R with administration of thromboxane A₂ receptor antagonist demonstrated a significant decrease in vasoconstriction (Mazolewski et al. 1999).

1.4.4.4 Leukocyte Activation

The production of ROS has a downstream effect on leukocyte activation and endothelial injury. Superoxide promotes the production of inflammatory mediators such as platelet-activating factor and leukotrienes. It also activates leukocyte chemoattraction and endothelial adhesion proteins, leading to neutrophil infiltration (Kubes et al. 1990a; Lehr et al. 1991; Lewis et al. 1988; Rubanyi & Vanhoutte 1986). Leukocyte chemoattraction creates an additive effect of ROS production through NADPH oxidase (Gute et al. 1998).

Leukocytes contain NADPH oxidase and can oxidize O₂ into superoxide; superoxide is further converted to hydrogen peroxide (Cowled & Fitridge 2011; Gute et al. 1998). Activated neutrophils undergo degranulation and release myeloperoxidase (MPO), which then catalyses the formation of hypochlorous acid (HOCI) from hydrogen peroxide and chloride ions. This ROS activates the secretion of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). MMP secretion is tightly controlled and plays an essential role in angiogenesis, arteriogenesis, and extracellular matrix remodelling (Dejonckheere et al. 2011; Hobeika et al. 2008). However, during I-R, MMP upregulation leads to further basement membrane and tissue destruction (Cowled & Fitridge 2011; Dejonckheere et al. 2011; Gute et al. 1998; Hobeika et al. 2008).

Leukocyte proteinases, such as neutrophil elastase and MMPs, further amplify leukocyte adherence and endothelial transmigration (Owen 2008; Stowe et al. 2009). Previous mice studies with either neutrophil elastase or MMP-9 deficiency demonstrated diminished leukocyte adherence, decreased brain infarct size and blood brain barrier deficiency, and reduced extracellular matrix destruction in cerebral I-R (Gidday et al. 2005; Stowe et al. 2009). Other animal studies showed significant decrease in liver injury (Okajima et al. 2004; Soejima et al. 1999), renal injury (Matsuyama et al. 2008), and pulmonary injury (Ishikawa et al. 2003) following neutrophil elastase inhibition in the context I-R. MMP inhibition also showed similar effects in animal studies of cardiac (Cheung et al. 2000; Wang et al. 2002), cerebral (Chen et al. 2018), and renal as well as other tissue models (Kunugi et al. 2011) of I-R. Neutrophil elastases have been shown to independently promote neutrophilic and endothelial receptors that allow leukocyte adherence and transmigration (Woodman et al. 1993; Yamaguchi et al. 1998) while MMPs have degrading effects on the basement membrane, extracellular matrix, and interstitial tissue (Cheung et al. 2000; Wang et al. 2002, Kunugi et al. 2011).

Platelet-activating factors also play detrimental roles in causing interstitial edema and leukocyte adhesion to the endothelium. Free radicals promote the activation of phospholipase A₂, which then leads to the formation of platelet-

activating factors, a leukocyte chemoattractant. Lewis (1988) demonstrated that hydrogen peroxide catalysed the synthesis of platelet-activating factors via the endothelium, inducing leukocyte-endothelial adhesion (Lewis et al. 1988). Platelet-activating factor antagonists have also been found to play a role in attenuating leukocyte adhesion and cellular extravasation (Kubes et al. 1990a,b).

Lipid peroxidation of the cell membrane leads to the release of arachidonic acid. Arachidonic acid then leads to the production of leukotrienes (LTs) (Gaschler & Stockwell 2017). LTs affect the endothelial cytoskeleton by increasing membrane permeability, smooth muscle contraction, and vasoconstriction (Cowled & Fitridge 2011), as well as activation of endothelial adhesion molecules, such as CD18 (Grace 1994). Furthermore, leukotriene B₄ also mediates neutrophil-generated hydrogen peroxide and elastase (proteolytic) production (Welbourn et al. 1991).

1.4.4.5 Interaction Between the Endothelium and Leukocytes

During reperfusion, neutrophils are recruited to the ischemic areas, adhere to the endothelium, and transmigrate into the extravascular space (Ley et al. 2007). This is a multi-step process, initially described by Du Trochet in 1824 (Du Trochet 1824), known as the leukocyte adhesion cascade (Figure 1.6). While knowledge surrounding the leukocyte adhesion cascade is still evolving, the current model of the cascade features nine distinct steps: capture, rolling, slowrolling, arrest, adhesion, intravascular crawling, paracellular transmigration, and transcellular transmigration (Eltzschig & Collard 2004; Ley et al. 2007).



Figure 1.6 Leukocyte activation sequence in inflammation. Activated leukocyte sequence includes leukocyte capture/tethering, rolling, firm adhesion, arrest and extravasation. It is mediated by various adhesion molecules such as selectins, integrins, and Ig superfamily.

Adapted with permission of Springer Nature from Ley, Laudanna et al. (2007).

The process of neutrophil capturing (known as endothelial tethering, where the neutrophil makes first endothelial contact) and rolling (slow movement along the endothelial lining) are mediated by selectins and integrins. Initially, L-selectin is expressed on leukocytes; P-selectin and E-selectin are expressed on the endothelium (Ley et al. 2007). During reperfusion, P-selectin (normally stored in α -granules of platelets and Wiebel-Palade bodies of the endothelium) is quickly expressed on to the endothelial cell surface (Cowled & Fitridge 2011; Lum & Roebuck 2001). Inflammatory mediators promote de novo transcription and production of E-selectin, taking several hours until full expression (Ley et al. 2007).

Leukocyte rolling is then mediated by integrins, leading to eventual firm adhesion and arrest. Leukocyte cell surface receptors $\alpha_4\beta_7$ integrin and very late antigen-4 (VLA-4) contribute to leukocyte rolling along the endothelium, interacting with mucosal vascular addressin cell-adhesion molecule-1 (MADCAM-1) and vascular cell-adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), respectively. (Cowled & Fitridge 2011; Ley et al. 2007).

Leukocyte adhesion is mediated by integrins and immunoglobulin superfamily (Ig). The CD11/CD18 $\alpha\beta$ -integrin complexes mediate adhesion: CD11a/CD18, also known as lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1), is expressed on all leukocytes, while CD11b/CD18, also known as macrophageassociated receptor-1 (MAC-1), is expressed on certain monocytes, macrophages, lymphocytes, natural killer cells, neutrophils, and granulocytes (Ley et al. 2007; Lum & Roebuck 2001). CD11a and CD11b are constitutively expressed. Both neutrophilic-integrin complexes interact with immunoglobulin superfamily, including intercellular adhesion molecules 1 and 2 (ICAM-1 and ICAM-2) on the endothelium, whereas VLA-4 binds with VCAM-1 during the rolling phase to initiate arrest. ROS, along with pro-inflammatory cytokines, further promote CD11/CD18 complex and ICAM-1 interaction (Cowled & Fitridge 2011; Eltzschig & Collard 2004; Ley et al. 2007; Lum & Roebuck 2001).

Neutrophil transmigration is triggered by а chemoattractant transendothelial gradient. Emigrating leukocytes must pass through three distinct barriers: endothelial cell (rapid penetration, <5 minutes), endothelial cell basement membrane (penetration time around 5 to 15 minutes), and pericytes. During I-R, β -integrins promote greater leukocyte-endothelial interactions, leading to the transmigration of neutrophils. Platelet-associated cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1), also a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily, is constitutively expressed on endothelial cells, leukocytes, and platelets. It is a major protein facilitating transmigration of leukocytes through both the paracellular route (at the junctions between endothelial cells) and the transcellular route (within the body of the endothelium) (Albelda et al. 1991; Ley et al. 2007; Woodfin et al. 2007). The leukocyte-bound PECAM-1 interacts with endothelial PECAM-1 promoting transendothelial leukocyte movement, upstream integrin activation (including MAC-1), and upregulates neutrophil integrin $\alpha_{6}\beta_{1}$, which enables PECAM-1-mediated migration through the perivascular basement membrane. (Berman & Muller 1995; Privratsky et al. 2010). Studies of proinflammatory conditions have previously revealed diminished severity of disease,

reduced leukocyte endothelial transmigration, and reduced migration into the interstitium when PECAM-1 was inhibited (Privratsky et al. 2010; Ley et al. 2007; Woodfin et al. 2007). Other endothelial mediators of transmigration are junctional adhesion molecules (JAMs), including JAM-A, JAM-B, JAM-C, as well as ICAM-1, ICAM-2, CD99 antigen, and endothelial cell-selective adhesion molecules (Ley et al. 2007; Lum & Roebuck 2001). Junctional adhesion molecules interact with leukocyte ligands LFA-1, VL-4, and MAC-1. (Lum & Roebuck 2001; Tuma et al. 2008; Woodfin et al. 2007).

1.4.4.6 Cytokines/Chemokines

Cytokines and chemokines play a significant role in the pro-inflammatory response of I-R injury. During I-R, calcium phosphate complexes and uric acid levels inflammasomes, increase and bind onto assisting with the upregulation/production of tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and interleukin-1 β $(IL-1\beta)$ by tissue macrophages and neutrophils (Kalogeris et al. 2016; Martinon et al. 2002). These cytokines enable toll-like receptor stimulation through intracellular pathways, leading to an upregulation of nuclear factor kappa lightchain of activated B cells (NF-kB) transcription factor activity. As a result, platelet-activating factors, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), chemokine ligand 5 (also known as RANTES), and other interleukins (IL-) including IL-6 and IL-8 are produced and released. Cytokines and chemokines work synergistically with leukocyte-endothelial adhesion proteins, causing further

neutrophil chemoattraction, cellular infiltration, and edema (Kalogeris et al. 2016; Lum & Roebuck 2001; Lutz et al. 2010; Martinon et al. 2002).

Functions of TNF-α include chemoattraction of neutrophils, upregulating ICAM-1 expression on the vascular endothelium, stimulating production of downstream cytokines, and apoptosis. It has a high affinity for TNF-α receptor-1 and TNF-α receptor-2 (Cowled & Fitridge 2011). Studies have demonstrated that inhibition of TNF-α receptor-1 can prevent downstream effects and programmed cell-death (Jiang et al. 2009). Unlike complete ischemia followed by reperfusion (Bihari et al. 2017), ICP elevation in a rat model of ACS led to a sustained increase in serum TNF-α levels, with a second peak (biphasic TNF-α elevation) occurring after fasciotomy (Lawendy et al. 2016). Meanwhile, IL-1β is released by mast cells and macrophages to stimulate the production of downstream cytokines. IL-1β inhibition studies have shown to lessen the pro-inflammatory response, chemokine expression, and apoptotic events in I-R injuries (Furuichi et al. 2006; Lutz et al. 2010).

In a rat model of ACS, neutralizing TNF- α alone or both TNF- α and IL-1 β together significantly reduced tissue injury but not with IL-1 β neutralization alone. TNF- α with or without IL-1 β neutralization significantly decreased leukocyte activation and inflammation, while IL-1 β neutralization alone had partial suppressive effects (Donohoe et al. 2018).

1.4.4.7 Nitric Oxide

Nitric oxide (NO) is synthesized by nitric oxide synthase (NOS) enzyme existing in three forms: constitutive (cNOS), inducible (iNOS), and endothelial (eNOS). During the ischemic phase, there is a surge of eNOS within minutes. However, during reperfusion, eNOS functions decline and NO levels, important in maintaining vascular tone, decrease. During later stages of reperfusion, cytokinemediated upregulation of iNOS from mast cells, neutrophils, and macrophages leads to an increase in NO production. However, NO function is bimodal. While its production from eNOS during ischemia appears to be cytoprotective and acts as an antioxidant, the late surge from iNOS expression results in further oxidative stress and interacts with superoxide to form peroxynitrite free radical (Cowled & Fitridge 2011; Khanna et al. 2005).

1.4.4.8 Complement

I-R has also been shown to lead to an activation of the complement cascade. Active peptides, such as C3a and C5a, increase microvascular permeability and exert chemotactic effects on neutrophils. They also increase CD18 expression and increase neutrophil adhesion to the endothelium (Grace 1994). Heideman et al. (1988) demonstrated increased serum C3a and C5a as well as elevated serum terminal complement complexes in patients with acute limb ischemia. Following amputation, these peptide levels returned to normal range. Multiple complement inhibitors, at various points of the complement pathway, have been found to decrease tissue injury and organ damage in I-R

(Heideman et al. 1988). However, none were able to completely prevent tissue injury, suggesting that complement activation plays only a partial role in the underlying pathophysiology of I-R (Arumugam et al. 2006).

Despite their important physiologic functions in maintaining homeostasis, inflammation and ROS production in the context of ACS and I-R injuries contribute to extensive tissue damage, organ dysfunction, and systemic complications.

1.5 HEME METABOLISM AND OXIDATIVE STRESS

Despite the dependence of living organisms on oxygen to survive, the oxygen required to maintain life is intrinsically toxic due to its capabilities of inducing oxidative stress. Therefore, compensatory mechanisms have evolved to allow for survival in such toxic environment. One of the most ubiquitous mechanisms is heme oxygenase (HO) metabolism (Morse & Choi 2005).

The importance of HO was highlighted by Yachie et al. (1999), who reported on the first case of HO deficiency: a 2-year-old child presented with growth retardation, developmental delay, hepatomegaly, asplenia, and persistent hemolytic anemia requiring regular erythrocyte transfusions. The mother had two previous intrauterine death that could have been related to HO deficiency; the child did not survive beyond the age of 6 (Kawashima et al. 2002; Yachie et al. 1999).

1.5.1 Heme Oxygenase

HO is an enzyme that catalyses heme degradation (Figure 1.7). It was first described in 1968 by Tenhunen and colleagues (Tenhunen et al. 1968). Subsequently, three isoforms of HO were isolated: the inducible form, HO-1, and constitutively expressed HO-2 and HO-3 (Hayashi et al. 2004; Maines et al. 1986; Mccoubrey et al. 1997).

HO breaks down the heme porphyrin ring and cleaves the α-methene bridge, releasing carbon monoxide, biliverdin, and iron. Oxidation reaction between HO, NADPH-Cytochrome P450 reductase complex, and oxygen further converts biliverdin to bilirubin (catalysed by biliverdin reductase) and iron to ferritin (Ryter & Choi 2016; Wu & Wang 2005).

Bilirubin is increasingly recognized as an antioxidant. For example, it has been shown that small amounts of bilirubin can protect neural cells from hydrogen peroxide oxidant *in vitro* (Baranano et al. 2002). There appears to be a correlation between low bilirubin levels and increased risk of coronary artery disease and myocardial infarction (Djoussé et al. 2003; Hopkins et al. 1996; Schwertner et al. 1994).

The regulatory effects of HO-1 on iron levels have also been shown to prevent cell death by controlling intracellular iron levels (Ferris et al. 1999; Li & Stocker 2009). An *in vitro* study also demonstrated that ferritin itself might have endothelial antioxidant properties (Balla et al. 1992).

HO-1, normally expressed at low levels, is upregulated in response to stressors, such as fever, heat, heavy metals, infection, lipopolysaccharides,



Figure 1.7 Heme degradation pathway. Heme derived from hemoglobin is broken down into biliverdin, carbon monoxide (CO), and free iron (Fe²⁺) by heme oxygenase (HO). Biliverdin is then rapidly converted into bilirubin by biliverdin reductase (BVR). *Reproduced with permission from Bihari (2017).* oxidative agents, stress, radiation, toxins, and ultraviolet light (Choi & Otterbein 2002; Intagliata et al. 2019; Waza et al. 2018). Previously, stress-induced proteins have been shown to not only protect cells from immediate stress but also to fortify the organism to withstand future stresses originating from a different source. In the late 1980s, a 32kD mammalian stress protein, known as the heat shock protein-32 (HSP32), had been identified (Shibahara et al. 1987); it was later proven to be HO-1, the inducible form of HO (Keyse & Tyrrell 1989; Taketani et al. 1989). Benefits of HO-1 include anti-inflammatory properties, neuroprotection, and protective effects against cardiovascular, diabetic, hepatic, and renal diseases (Waza et al. 2018; Wu & Wang 2005).

Although HO-2 is constitutively expressed and its gene expression remains fairly consistent under stress conditions, it also plays important roles in neuroprotection of the brain and neurologic disease; protection against cardiovascular, pulmonary, and renal diseases as well as diabetes; protection against male reproduction disease and pregnancy-related complications; protection against oxidative stress and deleterious effects of inflammation (Intagliata et al. 2019; Wu & Wang 2005). Studies of HO-2 knockout mice have demonstrated elevated levels of inflammatory cytokines, increased oxidative stress, and decreased healing potential (Bellner et al. 2009; Chen et al. 2018).

The upregulation of HO has been extensively studied. While HO-1 is ubiquitously produced and found in virtually all tissues affected by stressors such as oxidative stress and inflammation, HO-2 is predominantly expressed in the endothelium, testes, and brain (Dunn et al. 2014; Motterlini & Foresti 2017; Yachie et al. 1999). Current techniques involve the use of various protoporphyrin (Maines & Kappas 1977), adenoviral vector transfer of HO gene construct for short-term effects, and retroviral vectors for long-term upregulation (Abraham et al. 2007). Despite its potential, there are currently no clinical trials of HO upregulation gene therapy in humans and is currently not clinically feasible (Abraham et al. 2007; Kim et al. 2012; Luo et al. 2018; Motterlini & Foresti 2014). Therefore, the attention shifted towards the by-products of HO activity, notably carbon monoxide (CO).

1.5.2 Carbon Monoxide

CO is a diatomic molecule occurring naturally as a colourless and odourless gas (Ryter & Otterbein 2004). Although CO has a negative connotation due to CO poisoning, carbon monoxide plays a vital role in cell signalling, cellular communication, vasodilation, as well as peripheral and central nervous system neurotransmission (Kim et al. 2006). It also possesses anti-inflammatory, antiproliferative, and anti-apoptotic properties (Kim et al. 2006; Ryter & Otterbein 2004; Weaver 2009).

CO binds to hemoglobin to form carboxyhemoglobin (COHb). CO affinity for hemoglobin is nearly 200 times greater than that of oxygen (Weaver 2009). Exogenous inhalation of CO not only increases levels of COHb but also shifts the oxygen dissociation curve to the left, thus decreasing the ability of the remaining oxyhemoglobin to release its oxygen into the tissues (Ryter & Otterbein 2004). Normal endogenous COHb levels from heme metabolism range between 1% and
3% in non-smokers and less than 10% in smokers (Weaver 2009). Symptoms of CO intoxication include headache, visual disturbances, dizziness, nausea, fatigue, decreased dexterity, vomiting, seizures, coma, and death if left untreated. Although the onset of symptoms starts around COHb levels of 15% and progresses as the CO levels increase, CO intoxication becomes lethal around COHb levels of 50-60% (Bleecker 2015). Since oxygen and CO are direct competitors for hemoglobin binding, the mainstay of CO poisoning treatment is oxygen therapy, which can include both normobaric and hyperbaric oxygenation (Kim et al. 2006; Ryter & Otterbein 2004; Weaver 2009).

The majority of endogenous CO is produced from heme metabolism. Daily production, in the absence of external stressors, reaches upwards of 10mL (Coburn et al. 1964). However, pathological conditions due to pro-inflammatory processes, external stressors, and environmental triggers that upregulate HO-1 expression lead to an increase in endogenous CO concentration. Multiple animal studies have confirmed that upregulating HO-1 expression increases endogenous CO production, while HO inhibition decreases CO synthesis (Intagliata et al. 2019; Wu & Wang 2005).

1.5.3 Effects of Carbon Monoxide

Multiple animal studies have demonstrated the benefits of exogenous CO application. CO therapy has shown inhibition of inflammatory mediators, decreased rates of apoptosis, decreased edema, and improved organ function in various animal models of I-R, including rodents (Neto et al. 2004), mice (Zhang et al. 2003), and pigs (Lavitrano et al. 2004). Clinically, CO therapy has demonstrated improved graft healing, function, and survival following cardiac, intestinal, renal, and pulmonary transplantation (Akamatsu et al. 2004; Lavitrano et al. 2004; Nakao et al. 2003; Neto et al. 2004; Song et al. 2003; Zhang et al. 2003). Exogenous CO application also appears to decrease hyperoxic and ventilator-induced pulmonary injuries, increases survival, and inhibits inflammatory cytokines and leukocytes (Dolinay et al. 2004; Otterbein et al. 2003b). CO also decreased apoptosis and structural damage in mice with acute hepatic injury (Zuckerbraun et al. 2003).

1.5.3.1 Cellular Signalling

CO has a high binding affinity for heme proteins and transition metals, such as hemoglobin and myoglobin. Therefore, other potential hemoprotein targets include guanylate cyclase, cytochrome *c* oxidase, and cytochrome P450 (Ryter & Choi 2016; Ryter & Otterbein 2004).

CO appears to be a modulator of proteins with important implications on downstream smooth muscle relaxation, vasodilation, ion channel conductance, glycogenolysis, and cellular apoptosis (Morita et al. 1995; Motterlini & Otterbein 2010; Ryter & Otterbein 2004). CO has been shown to modulate soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC) to produce cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP). These have downstream effects on vasodilation and anti-proliferation. However, it is a weaker agonist of sGC than NO (Ryter & Otterbein 2004). CO is also a modulator of calcium- and voltage-gated potassium channels that are involved in vasoregulation (Peers 2011; Ryter & Choi 2016; Wang 1998).

CO modulates signalling that controls inflammatory and apoptotic processes. It is an agonist to mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) such as p38, *c*-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK), and extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK), leading to downstream inhibition of pro-apoptotic cytokines such as TNFa, although the exact role of JNK and ERK kinases need further elucidation (Ryter & Choi 2016; Ryter & Otterbein 2004; Zuckerbraun et al. 2007). Animal and *in vitro* studies have shown CO as a potential inhibitor of NADPH oxidaseand mitochondria-dependent ROS, as well as a modulator of iNOS (Nakahira et al. 2006; Ryter et al. 2007; Sarady et al. 2004; Zuckerbraun et al. 2007).

1.5.3.2 Vasodilation

CO plays an important role in vasoregulation. Although NO is a much more potent sGC modulator (Ryter & Otterbein 2004), its effect on vascular smooth muscle cells appears to be independent of NO (Morita et al. 1995). Suematsu and colleagues (1994, 1995) demonstrated increased perfusion and vasorelaxation when either CO or cGMP was administered, whereas inhibition of cNOS and iNOS did not affect this response (Suematsu et al. 1994, 1995). CO may also have a role in promoting cGMP-independent vasodilation, controlling calcium-activated potassium ion channels, as illustrated by cerebral arteriolar dilation in response to CO (Jaggar et al. 2002). Wang et al. (1997) demonstrated that vasodilation is induced by both cGMP-dependent and calcium-activated potassium ion channel-dependent effects simultaneously (Wang et al. 1997).

1.5.3.3 Anti-Apoptotic Effects

Apoptosis, also known as programmed cell death, plays a vital role in maintaining cellular and tissue homeostasis under normal physiological state and disease conditions. It is characterized by cell shrinkage, pyknosis (chromatin condensation), karyorrhexis (fragmentation of the nucleus), and plasma membrane blebbing, which eventually breaks off into apoptotic bodies and are engulfed by phagocytes (Linkermann et al. 2013; Van Cruchten & Van den Broeck 2002). Its mechanism can be separated into extrinsic and intrinsic pathways. Both pathways lead to downstream caspase -3 and -9 release as well as proteolytic enzymes that induce cell death. In the extrinsic pathway, TNF- α induces the pro-apoptotic pathway by initiating death-inducing signalling complex (DISC), including Fas, Fas-associated death domain, and caspase-8, which ultimately activates caspase-3 activity. The intrinsic pathway, usually upregulated in response to irreparable intracellular and DNA damage, is activated through mitochondrial translocation of Bax protein from the Bcl-2 family, which then releases pro-apoptotic mediators such as cytochrome c and binds onto apoptotic protease activating factor-1 (APAF-1), thus triggering caspase activity (Bano & Prehn 2018; Green & Llambi 2015; Kluck et al. 1997; Soares et al. 2002; Wang et al. 2011; Zou et al. 1997). Various caspase-independent pathways lead to apoptosis. Increased intracellular calcium triggers calpain enzyme activation,

which leads to lysosomal-induced cell death. Calpain also functions as a cleavage system for apoptotic-inducing factors (AIF) causing DNA damage, while ROS stimulate AIF release through the activation of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 (Bano & Prehn 2018; Hongmei 2012; Kang et al. 2004; Kim et al. 2018).

Apoptosis is biologically distinct from cellular necrosis, also termed necroptosis. While TNF- α is a strong potentiator of both necroptosis and apoptosis, they have distinct pathways. In necroptosis, TNF- α mediates receptor-interacting protein (RIP) activation forming the RIP-1/RIP-3 complex. Cell death is then induced by mixed lineage kinase domain-like protein phosphorylation leading to cell membrane damage (Linkermann & Green 2014; Liu et al. 2019a; Vanlangenakker et al. 2011a,b).

Many studies have demonstrated that CO displays anti-apoptotic properties. Brouard et al. (2000) demonstrated the anti-apoptotic effects of CO, mediated through activation of p38 MAPK, in an *in vitro* murine model (Brouard et al. 2000). A murine model of pulmonary I-R injury also showed an inhibitory effect of CO on mitochondrial cytochrome *c* release (Zhang et al. 2003). Additional studies identified synergistic interaction between the HO-1/CO pathway, NF-κB-dependent anti-apoptotic genes (A1 and c-IAP2), and p38 MAPK activation in preventing TNF-α-mediated apoptosis (Brouard et al. 2002). It appears that the NF-κB transcription activity may have both pro- and anti-apoptotic effects. While CO interacts with NF-κB sub-genes A1 and c-IAP2 to promote anti-apoptotic activity, the NF-κB gene in itself can act as a pro-

inflammatory agent through proteasome pathways and upregulation of inflammatory mediators via its promoter gene (Soares et al. 2002). Important components of cellular apoptosis involve caspases (family of protease enzymes), *Fas* and *Bax* proteins (*Bcl-2* family), that have been shown to be inhibited by CO (Ryter & Choi 2016; Wang et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2003).

1.5.3.4 Anti-Proliferative Effects

The anti-proliferative effects of CO were examined by Morita et al. (1995). They demonstrated that, under hypoxic conditions, HO-1 and subsequent CO production significantly increased, leading to the upregulation of cGMP in vascular smooth muscle cells. The addition of CO inhibitors and CO scavengers completely inhibited this response. The cGMP produced in the vascular smooth muscles did not involve NO (Morita et al. 1995).

The CO-cGMP pathway has been suggested to prevent vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation and intimal hyperplasia (Motterlini & Otterbein 2010; Ryter & Otterbein 2004). Otterbein et al. (2003) demonstrated CO-induced anti-proliferative effects in rodent models, dependent on the activation of both cGMP and p38 MAPK (Otterbein et al. 2003a).

1.5.3.5 Anti-Inflammatory Effects

CO has been shown to exhibit anti-inflammatory effects, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In an *in vitro* model of sepsis, CO inhibited TNF-a release, along with other inflammatory markers (Otterbein et al. 2000). Application of CO in an

orthotopic lung transplant prevented severe intra-alveolar haemorrhage and intravascular coagulation (Song et al. 2003). CO was also found to significantly improve renal function, decrease pro-inflammatory cytokine expression and renal tubular injury, as well as inhibit tubular apoptosis in a kidney transplant model (Abe et al. 2017). Furthermore, CO has been shown to inhibit NADPH oxidase-and mitochondria-dependent ROS, while also downregulating NF-κB activity, thereby reducing TNF-α-induced leukocyte-endothelial upregulation of E-selectin, ICAM-1, and VCAM-1 (Chhikara et al. 2009; Ferran et al. 1995; Ryter & Choi 2016; Soares et al. 2002).

1.5.4 Carbon Monoxide-Releasing Molecules

To avoid the toxicity of CO inhalation, the development of carbon monoxide-releasing molecules (CO-RMs) was undertaken. CO-RMs are molecules capable of releasing CO on-demand, delivering it to the tissues without significant changes in COHb levels (Motterlini & Foresti 2014; Ryter & Choi 2016).

The first CO-RMs were synthesized by Motterlini et al. (2002) (Table 1.1). CORM-1 ([Mn₂(CO)₁₀]), the first CO-RM produced, contains manganese at its centre and releases CO rapidly (Motterlini et al. 2002). However, it needs photoactivation and, therefore, has limited use *in vivo*. CORM-2 contains ruthenium ([Ru(CO₃Cl₂)]) and requires organic solvents to be dissolved via ligand substitution making its clinical use also limited. CORM-3 ([Ru(CO)3Cl(glycinate)])

Table 1.1. Most common carbon monoxide-releasing molecules (CO RMs). CORM-1 and CORM-2 release CO rapidly but are not water soluble. CORM-3 and CORM-A1 are water-soluble.

Adapted from Motterlini (2007).

Name	Chemical Structure	Solubility	CO Release
CORM-1		DMSO	Light-dependent Fast (t _{1/2} <1min) 1M CO/mole CO-RM
CORM-2	$ \begin{array}{c} & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &$	DMSO	Ligand substitution Fast (t _{1/2} =1min) 0.7M CO/mole CO-RM
CORM-3	$\begin{array}{c} \infty, I \\ Ru \\ \infty \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0$	Water	Ligand substitution Fast (t _{1/2} =1min) 1M CO/mole CO-RM
CORM-A1		Water	pH dependent Slow (t _{1/2} =21min) 1M CO/mole CO-RM
CORM-F3	Fe(CO) ₃	DMSO	Metal oxidation Slow (t _{1/2} =55min) 0.25M CO/mole CORM

is a water-soluble version of CORM-2, also containing ruthenium. CORM-3 is a rapid equimolar CO releaser (within 10 minutes of being dissolved in water) and, thus, has a potential for clinical use (Motterlini et al. 2002; Wu & Wang 2005).

At present, ruthenium does not appear to have any physiological function while being used as experimental anti-cancer drugs. Consequently, metal toxicity and DNA alteration remain a concern for human studies (Emsley 1989; Bergamo & Sava 2011). Alternative forms of CO-RMs that are, in theory, more physiologically friendly have been developed including CORM-A1 and CORM-401. CORM-A1 ([Na2H3BCO2]) contains a boron-centric carboxylic group rather than a transition metal, allowing pH- and temperature-dependent CO release rather than ligand substitution. CORM-401 ([Mn(CO)₄S₂CNMe(CH₂CO₂H)]), in contrast, contains a manganese centre and releases 3 moles of CO per mole of CORM-401. Both forms of CO-RM are slower releasers of CO compared to CORM-3 with a half-life of approximately 21 minutes (Almeida et al. 2016; Fayad-Kobeissi et al. 2016; Inoue et al. 2017; Motterlini et al. 2005).

1.5.4.1 CORM-3

Administration of CORM-3 has been shown to be beneficial in several animal models, ranging from aortic vasodilation (Foresti et al. 2004), cardiac inotropy (Musameh et al. 2009), anti-ischemic effects on renal tissue (Sandouka et al. 2006), acute liver failure (Yan et al. 2016), vasodilation in cirrhotic rats (Bolognesi et al. 2007), reduced inflammation in haemorrhagic stroke (Yabluchanskiy et al. 2012), and inhibition of leukocyte-derived MPO activity in vascular endothelial injury (Patterson et al. 2014).

Sandouka et al. (2006) demonstrated improved reperfusion and glomerular filtration rate in I-R models of kidney transplant following treatment with CORM-3 (Sandouka et al. 2006). In a murine model of acute liver failure, CORM-3 significantly inhibited pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and increased IL-10 (an anti-inflammatory cytokine), while also inhibiting the expression of iNOS, Toll-like receptor-4, and NF-κB transcription activities (Yan et al. 2016). CORM-3 also displayed an anti-inflammatory effect in haemorrhagic stroke by inhibiting TNF-a (Yabluchanskiy et al. 2012). In vitro experiments on the heart also demonstrated significant cardioprotection in I-R models when the heart was re-perfused with CORM-3 (Clark et al. 2003). Additionally, in an in vitro human vascular endothelial cell (HUVEC) model of inflammation, CORM-3 significantly inhibited leukocyte-derived MPO activity (Patterson et al. 2014). MPO is a mediator of oxidative stress, important in the innate immune system. However, when excessive leukocytes are activated during severe inflammatory responses, stimulation of MPOs and subsequent ROS production contribute to vascular and organ dysfunction (Cepinskas et al. 2008; Patterson et al. 2014).

Recently, CORM-3 has been found to show promise as a possible pharmacological agent in the treatment of ACS. In a rat model, the administration of CORM-3 at fasciotomy led to improved microvascular perfusion, significantly decreased tissue injury, and diminished tissue leukocyte activation (Lawendy et al. 2014). In a preclinical porcine model of ACS, CORM-3 not only improved muscle injury but also significantly inhibited inflammation at both local and systemic levels. This was characterized by complete inhibition of systemic TNF- α release as well as suppression in oxidative bursts of leukocytes (Bihari et al. 2018).

To transition the promising results into human studies, Bihari et al. (2019) developed an *in vitro* model of ACS, using HUVEC stimulated with serum isolated from ACS patients. Incubation of HUVEC with ACS serum led to an endothelial barrier breakdown, an increase in oxidative stress and apoptosis, as well as polymorphonuclear leukocyte activation. The application of CORM-3 offered significant protection against these detrimental effects (Bihari et al. 2019).

1.6 PURPOSE OF THE THESIS

If not treated promptly, ACS is a limb-threatening and often life-threatening condition. The current gold standard for treatment is surgical fasciotomy. While the pathophysiology of ACS is not entirely understood, it shares many similarities with I-R injury. Although it is generally accepted that irreversible tissue damage occurs around 6 to 8 hours, previous studies have demonstrated myonecrosis as early as 3 hours within the onset of ACS.

The effects of complete ischemia (where the onset is known, as all circulation is cleanly cut off) and subsequent reperfusion injury have been extensively studied. Unlike complete ischemia, however, ACS occurs in the face of patent vessels; distal pulses are present in the majority of ACS patients, indicating that the *macrocirculation* within the involved compartments is still

intact, while the *micro*circulation becomes dysfunctional. The diagnostic challenges become even greater, as ACS is a clinical diagnosis, and multiple risk factors can delay timely diagnosis. The onset of ACS in itself is often difficult to identify.

Despite proposed non-operative alternatives in case reports or small case series, none have been proven to be an effective first-line treatment or a substitute for fasciotomy. Recently, the role of CO as a potential pharmacological therapeutic agent for the treatment of ACS has been explored. In preclinical studies, using both small (rat) and large (porcine) models of ACS, administration of CO, in the form of water-soluble CO donor, CORM-3, at fasciotomy has resulted in decreased microvascular perfusion deficits, diminished tissue injuries, blocked leukocyte activation, and inhibition of systemic TNF- α release (Bihari et al. 2018; Lawendy et al. 2014).

The purpose of this thesis was to evaluate the effects of CO in ACS without fasciotomy, by investigating its short- and longer-term effects on microvascular dysfunction, myonecrosis, and inflammatory response. For this experiment, CORM-3 was chosen as the CO donor, given its water solubility and rapid CO release. We hypothesized that the administration of CORM-3 would produce a lasting beneficial effect. The ultimate goal is to identify whether CO can be used as a stand-alone first-line treatment of ACS, or at least extend the surgical window. For the purpose of this thesis, the terms 'elevated ICP' and 'ACS' were used interchangeably. However, it is important to note that ACS is a clinical diagnosis and is only applicable to humans.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 ANIMAL CARE

The experimental protocol for the study was approved by the Animal Care Committee of the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC) at the University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario, Canada. The daily animal care, handling, and housing conformed with the guidelines established by the CCAC. The rats were housed in pairs, in clear plastic cages, and under 12:12 light:dark cycle. They had access to food and water *ad libitum*.

2.2 ANIMAL DESCRIPTION

Twenty-nine male Wistar rats were used for this study. Their body weight ranged between 190g and 260g.

2.3 CARBON MONOXIDE

A water-soluble CO donor, carbon monoxide-releasing molecule-3 (CORM-3) (tricarbonylchloro-glycinate-ruthenium(II), [Ru(CO)3CI-glycinate]; molecular weight 295gmol-1), was used in this experiment. It was synthesized in our lab using previously published method (Clark et al. 2003). A stock solution of 10mg/ml was prepared fresh, in isotonic saline, just before the injection. Each rat received 10mg/kg of CORM-3 intravenously, via the left lateral tail vein.

Inactive CORM-3 (iCORM-3) was used as an inert control. iCORM-3 was prepared by dissolving CORM-3 in normal saline 72 hours prior to injection; this allowed it to release all CO from the stock solution prior to administration to the animals. The lack of CO in iCORM-3 had been previously confirmed spectrophotometrically by myoglobin conversion assay (Bihari et al. 2017).

2.4 EXPERIMENTAL SETUP

2.4.1 General Overview

ACS was generated in the right hind limb of rats by elevating ICP under general anaesthesia. Elevated ICP was maintained at $\Delta p <30$ mmHg (ICP value of 40-65mmHg) for 2 hours. Experimental drug injections were administered; animals were then allowed to recover. Adequate pain control was provided to all rats using buprenorphine (Buprenex 0.05mg/kg IM q8h). During the recovery period, the rats were housed individually to prevent identification errors and erratic social behaviour.

Following the proper recovery time in accordance with the assigned experimental group (24, 48 or 72 hours), all rats were re-anaesthetised and intravital video microscopy (IVVM) was performed. At the conclusion of IVVM, animals were euthanized by cardiac puncture under the deepest plane of anaesthesia.

Sham animals underwent all procedures, but the ICP remained at baseline level of 0mmHg.

2.4.2 Anaesthesia

Anaesthesia was carried out using inhalational isoflurane. Induction of general anaesthesia was achieved using 5% isoflurane in 100% oxygen gas at a flow rate of 2L/min. Anaesthesia was maintained using 2% isoflurane at a flow rate of 0.5L/min and adjusted as needed to maintain adequate anaesthetic depth. A digital rectal thermometer probe was used to monitor core body temperature. A heating lamp was used to maintain body temperature at 37°C.

2.4.3 Acute Compartment Syndrome

The experimental model was previously described by Lawendy et al. (2011). Briefly, ICP elevation was achieved by continuous infusion of isotonic saline solution into the anterior compartment of the hindlimb using a 24-gauge angiocatheter (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ). An electronic compartmental pressure monitoring system (Synthes USA, Paoli PA) was inserted into the posterior compartment through a 14-gauge angiocatheter (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ). Both the anterior and posterior compartments became isobaric as the pressures rose, which allowed ICP monitoring from the posterior compartment. Continuous saline infusion was administered through a gravity-feed system where the isotonic saline bag was placed 120cm above the infusion site (Figure 2.1).

Elevated ICP was maintained between 40mmHg and 65 mmHg to achieve Δp between diastolic blood pressure and ICP of <30mmHg for two hours. It has been previously estimated that one hour of ischemia in rodents is equivalent



Figure 2.1 Schematic illustration of rat ACS experimental setup. Isotonic saline is continuously infused in the anterior compartment of the hind limb, maintaining elevated ICP between 40mmHg and 65mmHg. An angiocatheter connected to an electronic compartmental pressure monitoring system is inserted in the posterior compartment.

Reproduced with permission from Bihari (2017).

to about four hours in humans, given the metabolic differences (Hoppeler & Weibel 2005; Hulbert et al. 2007; Lawendy et al. 2011; Marquet et al. 2005); hence two hours of elevated ICP should be the equivalent of about eight hours in humans.

2.5 EXPERIMENTAL GROUPS

Rats were randomly assigned to one of four main groups: (1) sham, (2) ACS followed by 24 hour recovery, (3) ACS followed by 48 hour recovery, and (4) ACS followed by 72 hour recovery. Each group was further subdivided into animals that received CORM-3 or those receiving iCORM-3 injection. In this experiment, each rat received only a single dose of either CORM-3 or iCORM-3.

2.5.1 Sham

Six animals underwent all procedures, but the compartment pressure remained at baseline level of 0mmHg. Rats received an injection of CORM-3 (n=3) or iCORM-3 (n=3), followed by IVVM.

2.5.2 ACS with 24hr Recovery

Eight rats underwent ACS, followed by IV administration of CORM-3 (N=4) or iCORM-3 (N=4). They were then allowed to recover for 24 hours, as described in section 2.4.1. Following the recovery period, animals were re-anaesthetised and underwent IVVM.

2.5.3 ACS with 48hr Recovery

Seven animals underwent ACS, followed by CORM-3 (N=4) or iCORM-3 (N=3) injection. They were then allowed to recover for 48 hours. Following recovery period, all animals were re-anaesthetised and underwent IVVM.

2.5.4 ACS with 72hr Recovery

Eight rats underwent ACS, followed by CORM-3 (N=4) or iCORM-3 (N=4) injection. They were then allowed to recover for 72 hours. Following recovery period, all animals were re-anaesthetised and underwent IVVM.

2.6 INTRAVITAL VIDEO MICROSCOPY

2.6.1 Muscle Preparation

Under general anaesthesia, the extensor digitorum longus (EDL) muscle was prepared for IVVM using careful dissection and handling to avoid iatrogenic injuries. A lateral incision over the experimental hind limb was made. The underlying biceps femoris was exposed and incision through its fascial layer was undertaken, allowing retraction of the muscle. The tibialis anterior (TA), peroneus longus (PL), and lateral gastrocnemius (LG) muscles were then identified. Meticulous dissection was carried out to avoid traumatizing the saphenous vein and to maintain adequate hemostasis. Subsequently, the EDL was identified between TA and PL. The underside of TA and PL were gently brushed off and retracted without touching the fibers of EDL. Once exposed, the distal EDL tendon identified over the ankle was ligated using 3-0 silk and severed as close as possible to the bony insertion site.

Following EDL preparation, the rat was then carefully moved onto the stage of IVVM microscope; the EDL muscle belly was partially reflected anteriorly into the saline bath containing vital dyes and stabilized using the 3-0 silk ligature (Potter et al. 1993).

2.6.2 Vital Dye Staining

Two fluorescent dyes, ethidium bromide (EB) (Sigma Aldrich, Mississauga, ON) and bisbenzimide (BB) (Sigma Aldrich, Mississauga, ON) in concentrations of 5µg/ml each were added to the saline bath in which the EDL was placed on the microscope slide. Both dyes bind DNA, hence label cell nuclei. Due to its size and hydrophilic nature, EB does not penetrate intact cell membrane; therefore, it was used to label injured or dead cells (i.e. cells with compromised cellular membrane). BB, a lipophilic dye, is able to enter all cells, thus labelling the nuclei of all cells (Daly et al. 1992; Potter et al. 1995). Cellular injury was expressed as the ratio of EB-labelled nuclei to BB-labelled nuclei (EB/BB).

2.6.3 Microscopy

Microscopy was used to assess microvascular perfusion, tissue injury, and leukocyte behaviour. Microvascular perfusion was assessed by recording five transilluminated adjacent fields of view containing complete capillary beds using 20x objective (final magnification 700x) for 60 seconds each. An additional 10 seconds was recorded from the same fields of view under epifluorescence illumination using the proper filters for BB (excitation wavelength = 343nm, emission wavelength = 483 nm) and EB (excitation wavelength = 482 nm, emission wavelength = 610nm) in order to assess tissue injury.

Leukocyte behaviour was assessed by transillumination in five randomly chosen post-capillary venules, with diameter of at least 20µm using 40x objective (final magnification 1400x) for 45 seconds each.

All videos were saved into the computer using Adobe Premiere software for offline video analysis.

2.7 OFFLINE VIDEO ANALYSIS

2.7.1 Microvascular Perfusion

Three equidistant parallel lines were drawn perpendicular to the capillary axis on the video monitor. Microvascular perfusion was quantified by counting the number of continuously-perfused capillaries (CPC), intermittently-perfused capillaries (IPC), and non-perfused capillaries (NPC) crossing each line, based on red blood cell movement (Lawendy et al. 2014). The CPC, IPC, and NPC were expressed as a percentage of the total number of capillaries.

2.7.2 Tissue Injury Analysis

The ratio of EB-labelled cells to BB-labelled cells (EB/BB) was used to evaluate the extent of tissue injury (Potter et al. 1995).

2.7.3 Analysis of Leukocytes

Leukocyte behaviour was analyzed by counting the number of rolling and adherent leukocytes per 30 seconds in each venule. An adherent leukocyte was defined as a cell remaining stationary for at least 30 seconds, while a leukocyte was considered rolling if it remained in close contact with the vessel wall during its entire movement (Granger et al. 1989). The ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD) was used to measure the venular area. The results were expressed as the number of leukocytes per 30 seconds per 1000µm² (Lawendy et al. 2011).

2.8 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

All data were expressed as a mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM) and analysed using two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey multiple comparison post-hoc test. Data analysis was performed using Prism version 7.0c for Mac OS X (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA). The statistical significance was set at p<0.05. Minimum sample size calculation, based on leukocyte adhesion, was performed using StatMate (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA) with power set at 85%. We estimated that 48 rats were required to show a significant difference at an 85% confidence level. However, due to the COVID19 pandemic and circumstances out of our control, we were unable to perform analysis on the desired number of rats.

CHAPTER 3: <u>RESULTS</u>

3.1 MICROVASCULAR PERFUSION

3.1.1 Continuously-Perfused Capillaries

ICP elevation led to a significant decrease in CPC, from 79±9% in the sham group, to $39\pm5\%$, $44\pm10\%$, $35\pm4\%$ in the 24-, 48-, and 72-hour post-ACS groups, respectively (two-way ANOVA, p<0.0001). Administration of CO donor, CORM-3, resulted in significant increase in the number of CPC to $57\pm3\%$, $61\pm3\%$, $53\pm7\%$ at 24, 48, and 72 hours post-ACS, respectively versus $81\pm4\%$ in sham (*p*=0.0042) (Figure 3.1). CORM-3 had no effect on the number of CPC in sham animals.

3.1.2 Intermittently-Perfused Capillaries

In response to ACS, the number of IPC increased, from $10\pm6\%$ in the sham group, to $27\pm10\%$, $26\pm5\%$, $30\pm5\%$ at 24, 48, and 72 hours post-ICP elevation, respectively (two-way ANOVA, p=0.0365). Application of CORM-3 resulted in $28\pm4\%$, $18\pm4\%$, $22\pm6\%$ IPC at 24, 48, and 72 hours post-ACS, respectively versus $9\pm3\%$ in sham (p=0.3474, n.s.) (Figure 3.1). CORM-3 injection had no effect on the number of IPC in sham rats.



Figure 3.1 The effect of CORM-3 on skeletal muscle perfusion following ACS. ACS resulted in a significant microvascular dysfunction; administration of CO donor, CORM-3, partially restored the perfusion. CPC: continuously perfused capillaries; IPC: intermittently perfused capillaries; NPC: non-perfused capillaries (*p<0.001 from sham; †p<0.05 from ACS).

3.1.3 Non-Perfused Capillaries

A significant increase in the number of NPC was observed, from $11\pm3\%$ in the sham group, to $35\pm5\%$, $29\pm7\%$, $35\pm4\%$ at 24, 48, and 72 hours post-ICP elevation, respectively (two-way ANOVA, p=0.0006). Administration of CORM-3 led to a significant decrease in the number of NPC in all time-matched groups ($16\pm2\%$, $20\pm1\%$, $25\pm3\%$ at 24, 48, and 72 hours, respectively versus $11\pm3\%$ in sham, p=0.0012) (Figure 3.1). CORM-3 did not produce any effect on the number of NPC in sham rats.

3.2 TISSUE INJURY

Significant tissue injury in ACS rats was observed: the EB/BB ratio of 0.03 ± 0.003 in the sham group rose to 0.31 ± 0.08 , 0.41 ± 0.08 , 0.40 ± 0.1 at 24, 48, and 72 hours post-ICP elevation, respectively (two-way ANOVA, p=0.0004). Administration of iCORM-3 had no effect on tissue injury in any of the ACS animals, while CORM-3 significantly reduced the EB/BB ratio to 0.15 ± 0.05 , 0.17 ± 0.05 , 0.20 ± 0.04 at 24, 48, and 72 hours post-ICP elevation, respectively (two-way ANOVA, p=0.0013). Additionally, no significant difference was found between the sham group and animals that received CORM-3 (Figure 3.2).



Duration Post-CS

Figure 3.2 The effect of CORM-3 on skeletal muscle tissue injury following ACS. ACS resulted in a significant increase in tissue injury; administration of CO donor, CORM-3, significantly reduced tissue injury caused by ICP elevation (*p<0.05 from sham; †p<0.05 from ACS).

3.3 LEUKOCYTE BEHAVIOUR

3.3.1 Leukocyte Rolling

Significant increase in leukocyte rolling following ICP elevation was observed at 24 hours: from 4±2 leukocytes/30sec/1000µm² in the sham group, to 19 ± 5 leukocytes/30sec/1000µm² in the ACS group (p=0.0007). At 48 and 72 hours post-ACS, leukocyte rolling was 9±1 and 10±2 leukocytes/30sec/1000µm², respectively; values which were not significantly different from the sham group (p=0.3603 and p=0.2749, respectively). Administration of CORM-3 resulted in a significant reduction rolling leukocytes at 24 5±1 in hours: leukocytes/30sec/1000µm² versus 2±0 leukocytes/30sec/1000µm² in sham (p=0.0013). In the 48- and 72-hour groups, leukocyte rolling was 10±3 and 10±3 leukocytes/30sec/1000µm², respectively, which were not significantly different from iCORM-3 groups (p=0.9998 and p=0.9999, respectively) (Figure 3.3).

3.3.2 Leukocyte Adhesion

ICP elevation led to a significant increase in adherent leukocytes, from 1±1 in the sham to 5.6±0.8, 8.2±2.4, 6.7±1.0 leukocytes/30sec/1000 μ m² at 24, 48, and 72 hours following ACS, respectively (two-way ANOVA, p=0.0059). Administration of CORM-3 significantly reduced leukocyte adhesion to 2±1, 1±0, 3±1 leukocytes/30sec/1000 μ m² at 24, 48, and 72 hours post-ICP elevation, respectively (two-way ANOVA, p=0.0001) (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.3 The effect of CORM-3 on leukocyte activation following ACS: leukocyte rolling. ACS led to a significant increase in leukocyte rolling; administration of CO donor, CORM-3, attenuated this response at 24hr post-ACS (*p<0.05 from sham; †p<0.05 from ACS).



Figure 3.4 The effect of CORM-3 on leukocyte activation following ACS: leukocyte adhesion. ACS led to a significant increase in leukocyte adhesion; administration of CO donor, CORM-3 attenuated this response at all time points (*p<0.05 from sham; †p<0.05 from ACS).

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

4.1 OVERVIEW OF RESULTS

ACS is a surgical emergency for which the gold standard treatment is open fasciotomy. However, ACS remains a clinical diagnosis with multiple risk factors that can lead to delayed or missed diagnosis. Consequently, delayed management of ACS can result in loss of limb function, systemic complications, and even death (Mortensen et al. 2020; Olson & Glasgow 2005; Pearse et al. 2002; Via et al. 2015).

Given the challenges of timely diagnosis and surgical intervention, many alternatives have been previously proposed. Yet, none have been proven as a stand-alone first line treatment. Furthermore, fasciotomies have their own set of issues and may also result in significant debilitating complications (Fitzgerald et al. 2000; McMillan et al. 2019; Schmidt 2017). Therefore, there is a need to develop alternative therapeutic interventions in the treatment of ACS, or at least, to prolong the surgical window.

Over the last decade, CO has shown therapeutic potential in animal models of ACS when administered upon fasciotomy. However, its effects in ACS without fasciotomy are unknown. Therefore, the aim of this experimental project was to assess the use of CO, liberated from water-soluble CORM-3, in ACS *without* surgical intervention.

4.1.1 The Effect of ACS

Although the true underlying pathophysiology of ACS remains elusive, there is mounting evidence that ischemic insult may be occurring concurrently with reperfusion injury, rather than a pure ischemic event followed by reperfusion syndrome. Reperfusion following ischemia causes oxidative stress and mediates oxygen-derived ROS, leading to cellular damage through lipid peroxidation, leukocyte-endothelial activation, upregulation of inflammatory mediators such as TNF- α and IL-1 β working synergistically along with leukotrienes, thromboxane A₂, prostaglandins, and platelet-activating factors, thus causing further microvascular dysfunction, changes in vascular permeability, cell death, tissue necrosis, soft tissue swelling, increased ICP, and potential systemic inflammatory responses (Cowled & Fitridge 2011; Gourgiotis et al. 2007; Grace 1994; Lawendy et al. 2014; Lutz et al. 2010; Soares et al. 2002; von Keudell et al. 2015).

4.1.1.1 Microvascular Changes

Hindlimb ICP elevation resulted in a significant increase in non-perfused and intermittently-perfused capillaries, whereas the number of continuouslyperfused capillaries significantly decreased, leading to a low-flow ischemic state. These findings are consistent with previous studies of ACS assessing CPC, IPC, and NPC changes using IVVM in rat models, where microcirculatory deficits were found to occur by shifting continuous perfusion towards altered and/or absent flow (Bihari et al. 2017; Lawendy et al. 2011, 2014, 2015; Manjoo et al. 2010). A previous canine study had also characterized ACS as an incomplete and maldistributed microvascular blood flow rather than complete ischemia (Sadasivan et al. 1997).

The results corroborate with previous studies of I-R, showing early significant microcirculatory changes. Menger et al. (1992) used a hamster striated muscle I-R model, showing significant capillary hemodynamic changes at 30 minutes and 2 hours following reperfusion, but very little changes between 2 hours and 24 hours (Menger et al. 1992). In rat gracilis muscle I-R, Olivas et al. (2001) had demonstrated progressive microvascular dysfunction mainly within the first 7 hours of reperfusion. However, the magnitude of hypoperfusion saw very little change between 7 and 48 hours after reperfusion (Olivas et al. 2001). This suggests rapid and non-reversed microvascular dysfunction when left untreated, which was reflected in our study. However, given that ischemia occurs concurrently with reperfusion in ACS, the magnitude of perfusion deficits and timing of its deleterious effects likely differ from a pure I-R injury.

The no-reflow phenomenon has been used to describe the failure of capillary reperfusion and has been described in previous cardiac (Schofer et al. 1985), renal (Summers & Jamison 1971), epigastric free flap (May et al. 1978), and skeletal muscle (Blaisdell 2002) models of I-R. However, its underlying mechanism remains controversial. Debate still exist whether it is a consequence of ischemic muscle and cell death leading to non-perfused vessels, or whether the reperfusion injury ultimately shunts vascular perfusion. The aetiologies of the no-reflow phenomenon have been separated into two categories: structural and

functional. Structural no-reflow implies vasoconstriction, microembolization, endothelial damage, and extravascular compression (interstitial edema) while the functional variant is a result of leukocyte, erythrocyte, and platelet aggregation, observed especially in the post-capillary venules (Blaisdell 2002; Durante & Camici 2015; Maksimenko & Turashev 2012; Niccoli et al. 2010).

The no-reflow phenomenon can be appreciated in our study with the significant amount of NPC. In ACS, increased fluid extravasation from the vascular bed increases interstitial pressures leading to ICP elevation; this causes adjacent capillary lumen compression, progressive non-perfusion and ischemia (Gute et al. 1998; Lawendy et al. 2011). However, microcirculatory deficits are not only dependent on passive vasoconstriction secondary to increased interstitial pressure, but also on pro-inflammatory responses from reperfusion leading to vascular endothelial damage and tissue necrosis.

4.1.1.2 Tissue Injury

In low-flow ischemia, since there is still a degree of perfusion, reperfusion injury occurs concomitantly with ischemia rather than a no-flow ischemic event followed by reperfusion. Thus, parenchymal damage is likely caused by the perfusion deficits leading to hypoxemia, coupled with the ensuing inflammatory response (Bihari et al. 2017; Forbes et al. 1996; Gute et al. 1998; Lawendy et al. 2011, 2014, 2015). Although controversial, it appears that reperfusion following partial ischemia or elevated ICP produces more severe tissue damage than after complete ischemia (Heppenstall et al. 1986; Perry et al. 1984; Roberts et al. 1985). However, in a murine I-R experiment, Conrad (2005) demonstrated significantly reduced tissue viability at 24 hours post-reperfusion following complete ischemia, despite having greater early inflammatory response from partial ischemia (Conrad et al. 2005).

In our study, the EB/BB ratio significantly increased, indicating extensive tissue damage from elevated ICP at all examined time points. The EB/BB ratio appears to have plateaued at the 48-hour mark, showing slightly higher value than what was found in the 24-hour group, but minimal difference compared to the 72-hour time point. Comparatively, an I-R rat study performed by Olivas et al. (2001) demonstrated muscle necrosis worsening over the first 8 hours, followed by minimal changes to the damaged tissues between 8 and 48 hours of reperfusion (Olivas et al. 2001).

Reperfusion injury is a major contributor to the pro-inflammatory response. In a study by Bihari et al. (2017), no-flow ischemia followed by reperfusion demonstrated significant increase in EB/BB staining during the 90-minute reperfusion interval. However, after 2 hours of ischemia and prior to reperfusion, it was still at nearly the same level as in the sham group, indicating that the maximum amount of tissue necrosis occurred during reperfusion, and not during ischemia alone. The results also correlated with the systemic TNF- α levels, where TNF- α sharply increased at the time of reperfusion (Bihari et al. 2017). Thus, the pro-inflammatory response and subsequent tissue damage re-enforces the idea of underlying reperfusion injury in ACS with concurrent progressive ischemia.

The assumption that ischemic insult and reperfusion injury are occurring simultaneously in ACS is based on previous studies demonstrating perpetual and recurrent local I-R events, free radical generation, and endothelial damages, especially in peripheral vascular diseases (PVD). Both ambulation and exercise, but not while at rest, can induce progressive reperfusion syndrome from chronic hypoperfusion in patients with PVD. Its clinical symptom is known as intermittent claudication and can eventually progress to critical limb ischemia (Ciuffetti et al. 1991; Dopheide et al. 2013; Hickman et al. 1994). Similar mechanisms have been observed in the progression of non-healing chronic wounds (Mustoe et al. 2006) and diabetic foot ulcers (Alavi et al. 2014).

In our study, ICP elevation caused significant cellular injury and tissue damage. Historically, cellular necrosis was thought to be a form of unregulated cell death, as a consequence of disease process. However, there is increasing evidence that cellular necrosis is, in fact, mediated by defined (but not fully understood) molecular pathways, and is termed *necroptosis*. Although necroptosis shares upstream inflammatory mediators with apoptosis (eg. TNF- α), their downstream pathways are biologically distinct (Linkermann & Green 2014; Van Cruchten & Van den Broeck 2002; Vanlangenakker et al. 2011a,b). In I-R injuries, it appears that both necroptosis and apoptosis are involved in cell death. A combination of both apoptotic and necrotic cells has been found in I-R studies of rat gracilis muscles (Wang et al. 2008), murine gastrocnemius muscles (Tran et al. 2012), as well as other organs, including the brain (Degterev et al. 2005), heart (Oerlemans et al. 2012), kidney (Linkermann et al. 2013), and lungs

(Fischer et al. 2000). Previous studies of ACS have shown significant systemic pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α elevation (Bihari et al. 2018; Lawendy et al. 2014, 2016). Although it is impossible to differentiate cell death by necroptosis and apoptosis in this study, both pathways were likely involved, given that they are both potentiated by TNF- α .

Leukocytes are a major contributor to tissue damage and muscle necrosis. Tissue damage appears to be mediated by inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α and/or IL-1 β (Donohoe et al. 2018; Lawendy et al. 2011). Sadasivan et al. (1997) had previously demonstrated significant reduction in microvascular injury and neutrophil infiltration in ACS under neutropenic conditions (Sadasivan et al. 1997). In a rat model of ACS, Lawendy et al. (2015) compared ACS in leukopenic and normal rats. Leukopenia led to the suppression of leukocyte recruitment and no significant muscle tissue injury was observed. Meanwhile, leukopenia had no effect on perfusion deficits (Lawendy et al. 2015). This demonstrated that in ACS, ischemic insult also occurs distinctively from inflammatory-mediated damage. In our study, elevated ICP also led to leukocyte activation and was associated with significant tissue injury.

4.1.1.3 Leukocyte Activation

Leukocyte activation in response to elevated ICP showed significantly higher number of rolling leukocytes at 24 hours, but not at 48 or 72 hours. In fact, the number of rolling leukocytes trended towards normal in the latter 2 groups (still elevated compared to sham, but not significantly). Meanwhile, significant increase in leukocyte adhesion in post-capillary venules was observed at all time points, with peak levels occurring at 48 hours post-ICP elevation.

The results corroborate with those of previous experiments examining the relationship between leukocytes and vascular endothelial inflammation. In a rat model of endotoxin-induced uveitis (EIU), Miyamoto et al. (1996) demonstrated peak numbers of rolling leukocytes between 12 and 24 hours (Miyamoto et al. 1996). Another experiment had shown peak rolling leukocyte at 24 hours and returned to normal by 72 hours (Baatz et al. 1995). In a rat endotoxin-induced intestinal inflammation study, the peak number of rolling leukocytes was found between 6 and 12 hours, and subsequently trended towards control-group levels from 24 to 72 hours while the number of adherent leukocytes peaked at 24 hours before trending back down (Watanabe et al. 2018). A report of rat hindlimb allograft rejection found a significant increase in rolling leukocytes up to 24 hours post-transplantation. The number of rolling leukocyte adhesion continued to increase significantly between 24 and 72 hours (Ozer et al. 1999).

The early peak in rolling leukocytes, combined with later increase in leukocyte adhesion can be explained by the leukocyte-endothelial activation sequence. The selectin receptors found on leukocytes (L-selectin), endothelium (E-selectin) and both the endothelium and platelets (P-selectin) act as mediators of leukocyte rolling behaviour. In I-R injury, inflammatory cytokines, complement factors, and ROS activate selectins to initiate rolling leukocytes. P-selectins found in pre-formed pools in Weibel-Palade bodies in the endothelium are quickly
released within 30 minutes. Meanwhile, E-selectin is induced under transcriptional control, and will take several hours to reach its peak. Additionally, shedding of the constitutively expressed L-selectin is inversely proportional to leukocyte activation and works synergistically with P-selectins to stimulate rolling leukocytes. Loss of L-selectins is also associated with activation of MAC-1, important for later ICAM expression (Cowled & Fitridge 2011; Kurose et al. 1994; Ley et al. 2007; Panes & Granger 1998; Weibel & Palade 1964).

E-selectin appears to return to baseline levels by 24 hours from onset of inflammatory stimulus, while P-selectin has been found to be upregulated for up to 24 hours and expressed for up to 48-72 hours following leukocyte cascade activation (Cowled & Fitridge 2011; Hallahan et al. 1996; Panes & Granger 1998). In rat models, P-selectin was found to be maximally expressed up to 24 hours following cerebral artery reperfusion (Suzuki et al. 1997) and P-selectin mRNA expression was upregulated up to 24 hours in retinal I-R (Nishijima et al. 2004). In a pig model of inflammation, peak expression of E-selectin was found within the first few hours while returning to near baseline levels at 24 hours (Binns et al. 1996). Additionally, all 3 selectins interact with leukocytes via P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1). While P- and L-selectin (Somers 2000, Ley 2003). PSGL-1 binding with E-selectin appears to be transient compared to P-selectins (Ley & Kansas 2004; Vestweber & Blanks 1999).

To initiate arrest and adhesion, CD11/CD18 neutrophilic $\alpha\beta$ -integrin complexes bind onto the endothelial ICAM-1 and ICAM-2 ligands, whereas

neutrophilic VLA-4 interacts with MADCAM-1 and VCAM-1 ligands. While VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 peak expressions have been highly variable, ranging from 6 hours to 36 hours, these ligands are, nonetheless, highly expressed up to 48 hours post-activation (Cowled & Fitridge 2011; Eppihimer & Granger 1997; Hallahan et al. 1996; Langer & Chavakis 2009; Panes & Granger 1998). Therefore, the higher expression of selectins within the first 24 hours and early weaning help explain the initial surge in rolling leukocytes while adhesion endothelial factors usually have increased upregulation up to 48 hours post-activation, if not longer.

Inflammatory cytokines and chemokines play a key role in leukocyte activation. In a rat model of ACS, Donohoe et al. (2018) identified 16 detectable systemic cytokines/chemokines, 6 of which were significantly upregulated following ICP elevation. These included pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , chemokines growth-related oncogene- α (GRO α), along with monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), and macrophage inflammatory protein-1a (MIP-1 α). They also found increased levels of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10. Subsequently, administrating TNF- α neutralizing antibodies (NA) alone or TNF- α NA concurrently with IL-1 β NA resulted in a significant decrease of leukocyte rolling, whereas giving IL-1 β NA alone had no effects. Meanwhile TNF- α NA alone or combined with IL-1^β NA produced significant reduction in leukocyte adhesion, while IL-1 β NA alone only produced partial improvements (Donohoe et al. 2018). Although GRO α , MCP-1, and MIP-1 α were not tested against NA, they remain important mediators of pro-inflammatory response and leukocyte activities, whereas IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine (Bechara et al. 2007;

Deshmane et al. 2009; García-Bonilla et al. 2011; Maurer & von Stebut 2004; Menten et al. 2002; Ouyang & O'Garra 2019). Thus, identifying the exact roles and temporal activation of these cytokines/chemokines on rolling leukocytes would help elucidate the differences seen between the earlier and later time points in our study.

4.1.2 Therapeutic Effects of CORM-3-Derived CO

CO has been found to exhibit potent anti-inflammatory, anti-proliferative, anti-apoptotic, and vasodilatory effects. However, given the toxicity of inhaled CO, CO-RMs were synthesized in order to control CO delivery without elevating COHb levels (Guo et al. 2004; Lawendy et al. 2014; Motterlini & Otterbein 2010; Ryter & Choi 2016).

4.1.2.1 Effects of CORM-3 on Microvascular Perfusion

Systemic application of CORM-3 led to partial restoration of perfusion following ICP elevation: there was a significant increase in CPC and decrease in NPC. Microvascular perfusion remained relatively constant and unchanged between the 24-, 48-, and 72-hour groups. Although significant microvascular improvements were observed following treatment with CORM-3, the perfusion deficit still remained significant compared to the sham group. The results of this study are comparable with those of ACS treated with CORM-3 at fasciotomy: CORM-3 significantly restored the number of CPC and reduced the number of NPC in rat (Lawendy et al. 2014) and porcine models of ACS (Bihari et al. 2018), as well as in pure I-R injury (Bihari et al. 2017). However, these studies carried out microvascular analysis between 45 minutes and 3 hours following elevation of ICP, whereas we assessed longer-term results.

CO has been shown to mediate vasodilation via sGC. In the endothelial cGMP-dependent pathway, CO is in fact a weaker agonist than NO (Kajimura et al. 2010). However, CO appears to mediate NO-independent cGMP in the vascular smooth muscle cells, preventing proliferation and intimal hyperplasia. CO also mediates cGMP-independent pathways by mediating calcium-potentiated potassium membrane channels to induce vasodilation (Jaggar et al. 2002; Motterlini & Otterbein 2010; Ryter & Choi 2016; Ryter & Otterbein 2004; Suematsu et al. 1995; Wang et al. 1997).

NO also plays an important role in vasoregulation. Vasoconstriction is not only a result of passive changes from increased interstitial pressure and edema, but also due to a vasomotor component and autonomic dysfunction (Durante & Camici 2015; Nanobashvili et al. 2003). Pericytes in the microvascular wall act as contractile cells, activated by vasoactive hormones. Capillary dilatation from pericyte activity appears to be mediated by the NO/cGMP pathway (Bettaga et al. 2015; Hall et al. 2014; Kelley et al. 1988; Nanobashvili et al. 2003; Sakagami et al. 2001). CORM-3 has been shown to stimulate NOS in the endothelium and activate cGMP pathway, while inhibiting NOS in the acetylcholine-induced endothelium-dependent relaxation (Alshehri et al. 2013). In our study, CORM-3 resulted in improved microvascular perfusion, decreasing the no-reflow phenomenon, which could be explained, at least in part, by interplay of vasodilatory effects of CO and NO.

4.1.2.2 Effects of CORM-3 on Tissue Injury

In our experiments, tissue injury was significantly reduced following administration of CORM-3. EB/BB ratio in our study ranged between 0.14-0.2, values that are slightly higher than those found previously, where CORM-3 was given at fasciotomy or upon reperfusion (Bihari et al. 2017; Lawendy et al. 2014). However, those results reflect tissue injury at very early time points (45 to 90 minutes) compared to 24, 48, and 72 hours in our current study.

Our results are consistent with those of others who had previously demonstrated that CORM-3 was capable of lessening cellular damage and increasing tissue survival, including decreased cardiac infarct size and muscle damage (Clark et al. 2003; Guo et al. 2004; Varadi et al. 2007), improved renal graft survival and mitigating parenchymal damage (Sandouka et al. 2006; Vera et al. 2005), and demonstrated antiapoptotic effects in lung I-R injuries (Zhang et al. 2003). While the exact mechanisms of cellular protection are most likely related to the vasodilatory and anti-inflammatory properties, there is another possibility: inhibition of apoptosis. CO appears to target multiple layers of the pro-apoptotic pathways, including inhibition of cytochrome *C* oxidase and NADPH oxidase-derived ROS (Boczkowski et al. 2006; Taillé et al. 2005; Zuckerbraun et al. 2007), upregulation of NF-kB-dependent anti-apoptotic genes (A1 and c-IAP2) via P38 MAPK activation and downregulation of ERK1/2 (Boczkowski et al. 2006;

Brouard et al. 2002; Ryter et al. 2007; Soares et al. 2002; Zhang et al. 2003; Zuckerbraun et al. 2007).

Leukocytes, particularly neutrophils, also appear to play a significant role in generating the observed endothelial damage. Activated neutrophils secrete MPO, leading to the formation of ROS and destruction of cellular membrane (Dejonckheere et al. 2011; Eltzschig & Eckle 2011; Hobeika et al. 2008; Lutz et al. 2010; Panes & Granger 1998). Application of CORM-3 was found to modulate polymorphonuclear (PMN)-induced ROS production, as well as mitigate cell surface levels of elastase in several *in vitro* models, with subsequent reduction in PMN rolling and adhesion along endothelial cells, thus decreasing endothelial dysfunction (Bihari et al. 2019; Mizuguchi et al. 2009; Patterson et al. 2014). It can be surmised that, although CO is not a free radical scavenger, it may have the ability to suppress the oxidative stress indirectly, by modulating the activity of redox enzymes, thereby minimizing the extent of endothelial injury.

4.1.2.3 Effects of CO and CORM-3 on Leukocyte Activity

In our study, leukocyte-endothelial activation appeared to be inhibited by CORM-3, as demonstrated by a significant reduction of adherent leukocytes at 24-, 48-, and 72-hour time points. Surprisingly, rolling leukocytes were markedly reduced by CORM-3 only at 24 hour, but not at later times.

Multiple studies have demonstrated anti-inflammatory properties of CO and its inhibitory effects on leukocyte activity. For example, animals with acute pancreatitis or sepsis treated with CO donor, CORM-2, demonstrated significant

reduction of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 adhesion molecules, inhibition of inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6, as well as downregulation of NF-kB expression (Liu et al. 2019a,b). In intestinal and hepatic I-R models, CORM-2 diminished expression of TNF- α , NF-kB activity, leukocyte and endothelial adhesion molecules, as well as neutrophil infiltration (Katada et al. 2010; Wei et al. 2010). CO was found to inhibit a variety of inflammatory cytokines, including MCP-1, in a murine renal I-R (Ruan et al. 2014), while increasing anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 in a rat model of pancreatitis (Chen et al. 2010) and a murine model of acute liver failure (Yan et al. 2016). Various in vitro and in vivo experiments have shown that application of CORM-3 led to inhibition of TNF- α -mediated activation, translating into a decrease in VCAM-1, E-selectin, integrin complexes, as well as caspases (pro-apoptotic) activity (Bergstraesser et al. 2012; Bihari et al. 2019; Motterlini 2007; Song et al. 2009; Vadori et al. 2009). Additionally, CORM-3 has been shown to have cytoprotective effects in cardiac and renal I-R through upregulation of mitochondrial ATP-dependent potassium channels and calciumpotentiated potassium channels, downregulation of NADPH oxidase-generating superoxide free radical, suppression of NF-kB activity, and inhibition of E-selectin and ICAM-1 (Caumartin et al. 2011; Clark et al. 2003; Guo et al. 2004).

CO appears to suppress Toll-like receptor activity and NF-kB gene transduction pathways involved in inflammatory response. By inhibiting NF-kB activity, TNF-α-mediated upregulation of adhesion molecules (such as E-selectin, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1) is suppressed (Chhikara et al. 2009; Choi et al. 2017; Soares et al. 2002). CO has also shown potent inhibitory effects on

lipopolysaccharide-induced upregulation of TNF- α and IL-1 β (Otterbein et al. 2000). Previous studies have demonstrated, *in vitro*, suppression of leukocyteendothelial interaction of platelet-activating factor, CD11b integrin surface levels, cell surface elastase (proteolytic enzyme), MMP activity and neutrophil-derived MPO activity; substantially decreasing adhesion and transmigration of leukocytes in inflammation-stimulated environments (Bihari et al. 2019; Inoue et al. 2017; Megías et al. 2007; Mizuguchi et al. 2009; Patterson et al. 2014; Urquhart et al. 2007; Zhuang et al. 2017).

While CORM-3 appears to have a significant effect on leukocyte adhesion and transmigration, its effects on leukocyte rolling remains questioned. In our experiment, significant increase in rolling leukocytes occurred only at 24 hours, but not at 48 or 72 hours post-ICP elevation. This can be explained, at least in part, by selectin modulation and their differential PSGL-1 binding (Ley 2003; Somers et al. 2000; Vestweber & Blanks 1999). Previous studies of CO-RMs have shown suppression of the E-selectin receptors in renal rat I-R (Caumartin et al. 2011) and in vitro HUVEC models (Song et al. 2009). However, CORM-3's effect on P-selectin remains largely unknown. A study of lipopolysaccharidestimulated platelet model using blood from healthy volunteers demonstrated a decrease in platelet P-selectin expression following CORM-2 treatment (Liu et al. 2016). Given that CORM-3 attenuation of rolling leukocyte behaviour only occurred at 24 hours, its suppression is likely through the inhibitory effects of CO on inflammatory cytokines. However, CORM-3's significant therapeutic effect on adherent leukocytes in all 3 groups suggests that CO also has a direct cytokineindependent effect on adhesion molecules, such as immunoglobulin superfamily (eg. ICAM-1, VCAM-1) and $\alpha\beta$ -integrin complexes (eg. LFA-1, MAC-1) (Bihari et al. 2017; Lawendy et al. 2014). Finally, uncovering temporal activation and effects of other inflammatory cytokines/chemokines on leukocytes, as well as their response to CORM-3 will help further elucidate the leukocyte activity observed in this study.

4.2 STUDY LIMITATIONS

Despite the encouraging results, there are several limitations to our study. First, the duration of elevated ICP was based on previous studies, as well as on physiological and mathematical assumptions (Hoppeler & Weibel 2005; Lawendy et al. 2011, 2014; Radermacher & Haouzi 2013). Therefore, it was assumed that 2 hours of elevated ICP in rats corresponded to 8 hours in humans. However, future studies are required to correlate ACS equivalence in rats and humans.

Second, only one injection of CORM-3 was administered, using a single route. Therefore, whether there is an additive or dynamic effect of multiple injections and/or injection sites, as well as the optimal rate of CO release in the treatment of ACS remain unclear.

In this experiment, no functional testing (i.e. assessing rat hindlimb function) was performed. Thus, no clinical correlations could be made. Finally, while CORM-3 does not seem to elevate COHb levels in animal models, it has yet to be tested in humans. How CORM-3 injections translate in humans during ACS is unknown.

4.3 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

This study remains an early experimental study of CORM-3 without fasciotomy. Further studies are required to elucidate its role as a potential first-line treatment in ACS or as an adjunct to prolong the surgical window.

- Analyze the effects of CORM-3 during shorter intervals, e.g. at 6- and 12hours post-elevation of ICP, to identify whether there are more prominent effects in the earlier stages.
- Compare outcomes using different injection doses and frequencies, as well as alternative routes of administration of CORM-3.
- Perform functional limb assessments to determine the clinical outcomes of CORM-3.
- Further studies are needed to clarify CORM-3's mechanism of action and its effects on tissue regeneration.
- 5) In previous animal studies of ACS, despite undergoing fasciotomies, inflammatory markers remained elevated systemically, often observed as a *second hit phenomenon*. Clinically, acute renal failure, rhabdomyolysis, systemic shock, and multiorgan dysfunction syndrome can occur despite fasciotomies. Although CORM-3 has shown its ability to suppress TNF-α and other inflammatory cytokines, it would be important to determine whether inhibition of systemic inflammatory cytokines can be sustained long-term when treated without fasciotomy (Bihari et al. 2017; Donaldson et al. 2014; Lawendy et al. 2014, 2016; Mabvuure et al. 2012).

4.4 CONCLUSIONS

Multiple alternative therapies to surgical fasciotomy have been proposed in the treatment of ACS. However, none of them have been validated as a potential first-line treatment. While the exact underlying mechanism of CORM-3 still needs further elucidation, it is likely that the CO released has multiple therapeutic molecular and cellular targets during ACS (Ryter & Otterbein 2004).

In this study, CORM-3 without fasciotomy has demonstrated improved microvascular perfusion, diminished tissue injury, and mitigated leukocyte activation. Based on the current literature, it is plausible to assume that CORM-3 played a major role in mediating vasodilation, reducing pro-inflammatory cytokines/chemokines and formation of ROS, thereby inhibiting leukocyte-endothelial adhesion molecules. This study is a novel experiment demonstrating sustained therapeutic effects of CORM-3 without fasciotomy in the treatment of ACS, indicating its potential role as a pharmacological agent in the management of ACS.

REFERENCES

Abe T, Yazawa K, Fujino M, Imamura R, Hatayama N, et al. 2017. High-pressure carbon monoxide preserves rat kidney grafts from apoptosis and inflammation. *Lab Invest*. 97(4):468–77

Abraham N, Asija A, Drummond G, Peterson S. 2007. Heme oxygenase-1 gene therapy: recent advances and therapeutic applications. *CGT*. 7(2):89–108

Abraham P, Leftheriotis G, Saumet JL. 1998. Laser doppler flowmetry in the diagnosis of chronic compartment syndrome. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. British volume*. 80-B(2):365–69

Akamatsu Y, Haga M, Tyagi S, Yamashita K, Graça-Souza AV, et al. 2004. Heme oxygenase-1-derived carbon monoxide protects hearts from transplantassociated ischemia reperfusion injury. *FASEB j.* 18(6):771–72

Alavi A, Sibbald RG, Mayer D, Goodman L, Botros M, et al. 2014. Diabetic foot ulcers. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. 70(1):1.e1-1.e18

Albelda SM, Muller WA, Buck CA, Newman PJ. 1991. Molecular and cellular properties of PECAM-1 (endoCAM/CD31): a novel vascular cell-cell adhesion molecule. *J Cell Biol*. 114(5):1059-68

Al-Dadah O, Darrah C, Cooper A, Donell ST, Patel AD. 2008. Continuous compartment pressure monitoring vs. clinical monitoring in tibial diaphyseal fractures. *Injury*. 39(10):1204–9

Almeida AS, Soares NL, Vieira M, Gramsbergen JB, Vieira HL. 2016. Carbon monoxide releasing molecule-A1 (CORM-A1) improves neurogenesis: increase of neuronal differentiation yield by preventing cell death. *PloS one*. *11*(5), e0154781

Alshehri A, Bourguignon M-P, Clavreul N, Badier-Commander C, Gosgnach W, et al. 2013. Mechanisms of the vasorelaxing effects of CORM-3, a water-soluble carbon monoxide-releasing molecule: interactions with eNOS. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol*. 386(3):185–96

Arumugam TV, Magnus T, Woodruff TM, Proctor LM, Shiels IA, Taylor SM. 2006. Complement mediators in ischemia–reperfusion injury. *Clinica Chimica Acta*. 374(1–2):33–45

Ashton H. 1975. The effect of increased tissue pressure on blood flow. *Clin Orthop*. 113:15–26

Baatz H, Pleyer U, Thiel H-J, Hammer CM. 1995. In vivo study of leukocyteendothelium interaction in endotoxin-induced uveitis. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 36(10):1960–67

Balla G, Jacob HS, Balla J, Rosenberg M, Nath K, et al. 1992. Ferritin: a cytoprotective antioxidant strategem of endothelium. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267(25):18148–53

Bano D, Prehn JHM. 2018. Apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) in physiology and disease: the tale of a repented natural born killer. *EBioMedicine*. 30:29–37

Baranano D, Rao M, Ferris CD, Snyder SH. 2002. Biliverdin reductase: a major physiologic cytoprotectant. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 99(25):16093–98

Bardenheuer B. 1911. Die entstehung und behandlung der ischämischen muskelkontraktur und gangrän. *Deutsche Zeitschrift f. Chirurgie*. 108(1–2):44

Bardenheuer L. 1906. Die ischiimische kontraktur und gangran als folge der arterienverletzung. *Leuthold's Gedenkschrift*. 2:87

Bechara C, Chai H, Lin PH, Yao Q, Chen C. 2007. Growth related oncogenealpha (GRO-alpha): roles in atherosclerosis, angiogenesis and other inflammatory conditions. *Med. Sci. Monit.* 13(6):RA87-90

Bellner L, Martinelli L, Halilovic A, Patil K, Puri N, et al. 2009. Heme oxygenase-2 deletion causes endothelial cell activation marked by oxidative stress, inflammation, and angiogenesis. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 331(3):925–32

Benjamin A. 1957. The relief of traumatic arterial spasm in threatened Volkmann's ischaemic contracture. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 39-B(4):711–13

Bergamo A, Sava G. 2011. Ruthenium anticancer compounds: myths and realities of the emerging metal-based drugs. *Dalton Trans*. 21;40(31):7817-23

Bergstraesser C, Hoeger S, Song H, Ermantraut L, Hottenrot M, et al. 2012. Inhibition of VCAM-1 expression in endothelial cells by CORM-3: The role of the ubiquitin–proteasome system, p38, and mitochondrial respiration. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*. 52(4):794–802

Berman ME, Muller WA. 1995. Ligation of platelet/endothelial cell adhesion molecule 1 (PECAM-1/CD31) on monocytes and neutrophils increases binding capacity of leukocyte CR3 (CD11b/CD18). *J Immunol*. 154(1):299-307

Bettaga N, Jäger R, Dünnes S, Groneberg D, Friebe A. 2015. Cell-specific impact of nitric oxide-dependent guanylyl cyclase on arteriogenesis and angiogenesis in mice. *Angiogenesis*. 18(3):245–54

Bhattacharyya T, Vrahas MS. 2004. The medical-legal aspects of compartment syndrome. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery-American Volume*. 86(4):864–68

Bihari A. 2017. Therapeutic application of carbon monoxide in acute limb compartment syndrome. *Western University Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 4442. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/4442

Bihari A, Cepinskas G, Forbes TL, Potter RF, Lawendy A-R. 2017. Systemic application of carbon monoxide-releasing molecule 3 protects skeletal muscle from ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*. 66(6):1864–71

Bihari A, Cepinskas G, Sanders DW, Lawendy A-R. 2018. Systemic administration of carbon monoxide–releasing molecule-3 protects the skeletal muscle in porcine model of compartment syndrome. *Critical Care Medicine*. 46(5):e469–72

Bihari A, Chung K (Akira), Cepinskas G, Sanders DW, Schemitsch E, Lawendy A. 2019. Carbon monoxide-releasing molecule-3 (CORM-3) offers protection in an in vitro model of compartment syndrome. *Microcirculation*. 26(7):

Binns RM, Licence ST, Harrison AA, Keelan ET, Robinson MK, Haskard DO. 1996. In vivo E-selectin upregulation correlates early with infiltration of PMN, later with PBL entry: MAbs block both. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*. 270(1):H183–93

Blaisdell FW. 2002. The pathophysiology of skeletal muscle ischemia and the reperfusion syndrome: a review. *Cardiovascular Surgery*. 10(6):620–30

Bleecker ML. 2015. Carbon monoxide intoxication. In *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, Vol. 131, pp. 191–203. Elsevier

Boczkowski J, Poderoso JJ, Motterlini R. 2006. CO–metal interaction: vital signaling from a lethal gas. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*. 31(11):614–21

Bolognesi M, Sacerdoti D, Piva A, Di Pascoli M, Zampieri F, et al. 2007. Carbon monoxide-mediated activation of large-conductance calcium-activated potassium channels contributes to mesenteric vasodilatation in cirrhotic rats. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 321(1):187–94

Brieger K, Schiavone S, Miller FJ, Krause K-H. 2012. Reactive oxygen species: from health to disease. *Swiss Med Wkly*

Brooks B. 1922. Pathologic changes in muscle as a result of disturbances of circulation: an experimental study of Volkmann's ischemic paralysis. *Arch Surg.* 5(1):188

Brouard S, Berberat PO, Tobiasch E, Seldon MP, Bach FH, Soares MP. 2002. Heme oxygenase-1-derived carbon monoxide requires the activation of transcription factor NF- κ B to protect endothelial cells from tumor necrosis factor- α -mediated apoptosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277(20):17950–61

Brouard S, Otterbein LE, Anrather J, Tobiasch E, Bach FH, et al. 2000. Carbon monoxide generated by heme oxygenase-1 suppresses endothelial cell apoptosis. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 192(7):1015–26

Brown M, Wallace CS, Truskey GA. 2006. Vascular and capillary endothelium. In *Wiley Encyclopedia of Biomedical Engineering*, ed. M Akay, p. ebs0436. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Burton AC. 1951. On the physical equilibrium of small blood vessels. *American Journal of Physiology-Legacy Content*. 164(2):319–29

Bywaters EGL, Beall D. 1941. Crush injuries with impairment of renal function. *BMJ*. 1(4185):427–32

Bywaters EGL, Delory GE, Rimington C, Smiles J. 1941. Myohaemoglobin in the urine of air raid casualties with crushing injury. *Biochemical Journal*. 35(10–11):1164–68

Caumartin Y, Stephen J, Deng JP, Lian D, Lan Z, et al. 2011. Carbon monoxidereleasing molecules protect against ischemia–reperfusion injury during kidney transplantation. *Kidney Int*. 79(10):1080–89

Cepinskas G, Katada K, Bihari A, Potter RF. 2008. Carbon monoxide liberated from carbon monoxide-releasing molecule CORM-2 attenuates inflammation in the liver of septic mice. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*. 294(1):G184-91

Chautems RC, Irmay F, Magnin M, Morel P, Hoffmeyer P. 1997. Spontaneous anterior and lateral tibial compartment syndrome in a type I diabetic patient: case report. *The Journal of Trauma: Injury, Infection, and Critical Care*. 43(1):140–41

Chen P, Sun B, Chen H, Wang G, Pan S, et al. 2010. Effects of carbon monoxide releasing molecule-liberated CO on severe acute pancreatitis in rats. *Cytokine*. 49(1):15–23

Chen R, Wang Z, Chen Q, Zhang T, Zhu Y, et al. 2018. Heme oxygenase-2 suppresses acute inflammation and improves the survival of skin allografts. *International Immunopharmacology*. 63:191–97

Chen X, Patra A, Sadowska GB, Stonestreet BS. 2018. Ischemic-reperfusion injury increases matrix metalloproteinases and tissue metalloproteinase inhibitors in fetal sheep brain. *Dev Neurosci.* 234-245

Cheung PY, Sawicki G, Wozniak M, Wang W, Radomski MW, et al. 2000. Matrix metalloproteinase-2 contributes to ischemia-reperfusion injury in the heart. *Circulation*. 101(15):1833-9

Chhikara M, Wang S, Kern SJ, Ferreyra GA, Barb JJ, et al. 2009. Carbon monoxide blocks lipopolysaccharide-induced gene expression by interfering with proximal TLR4 to NF- κ B signal transduction in human monocytes. *PLoS ONE*. 4(12):e8139

Choi AMK, Otterbein LE. 2002. Emerging role of carbon monoxide in physiologic and pathophysiologic states. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*. 4(2):227–28

Choi S, Kim J, Kim J-H, Lee D-K, Park W, et al. 2017. Carbon monoxide prevents TNF- α -induced eNOS downregulation by inhibiting NF- κ B-responsive miR-155-5p biogenesis. *Exp Mol Med*. 49(11):e403–e403

Ciuffetti G, Mercuri M, Ott C, Lombardini R, Paltriccia R, et al. 1991. Use of pentoxifylline as an inhibitor of free radical generation in peripheral vascular disease: results of a double-blind placebo-controlled study. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 41(6):511–15

Clark JE, Naughton P, Shurey S, Green CJ, Johnson TR, et al. 2003. Cardioprotective actions by a water-soluble carbon monoxide–releasing molecule. *Circulation Research*. 93(2):e2–8

Coburn RF, Williams WJ, Forster RE. 1964. Effect of erythrocyte destruction on carbon monoxide production in man. *J. Clin. Invest.* 43(6):1098–1103

Conrad MF, Stone DH, Albadawi H, Hua HT, Entabi F, et al. 2005. Local inflammatory and thrombotic responses differ in a murine model of partial and complete hindlimb ischemia/reperfusion. *Surgery*. 138(2):375–81

Cowled P, Fitridge R. 2011. Pathophysiology of reperfusion injury. In *Mechanisms of Vascular Disease: A Reference Book for Vascular Specialists*, eds. R Fitridge, M Thompson. Adelaide (AU): University of Adelaide Press

Daly CJ, Gordon JF, McGrath JC. 1992. The use of fluorescent nuclear dyes for the study of blood vessel structure and function: novel applications of existing techniques. *J. Vasc. Res.* 29(1):41–48

Daniels M, Reichman J, Brezis M. 1998. Mannitol treatment for acute compartment syndrome. *Nephron*. 79(4):492–93

Degterev A, Huang Z, Boyce M, Li Y, Jagtap P, et al. 2005. Chemical inhibitor of nonapoptotic cell death with therapeutic potential for ischemic brain injury. *Nat Chem Biol.* 1(2):112–19

Dejonckheere E, Vandenbroucke RE, Libert C. 2011. Matrix metalloproteinases as drug targets in ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Drug Discovery Today*. 16(17–18):762–78

Deshmane SL, Kremlev S, Amini S, Sawaya BE. 2009. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1): an overview. *J Interferon Cytokine Res.* 29(6):313–26

Djoussé L, Rothman KJ, Cupples LA, Levy D, Ellison RC. 2003. Effect of serum albumin and bilirubin on the risk of myocardial infarction (the framingham offspring study). *The American Journal of Cardiology*. 91(4):485–88

Dolinay T, Szilasi M, Liu M, Choi AMK. 2004. Inhaled carbon monoxide confers antiinflammatory effects against ventilator-induced lung Injury. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*. 170(6):613–20

Donaldson J, Haddad B, Khan WS. 2014. The pathophysiology, diagnosis and current management of acute compartment syndrome. *TOORTHJ*. 8(1):185–93

Donohoe E, Bihari A, Schemitsch E, Sanders DW, Lawendy A-R. 2018. Compartment syndrome-induced muscle injury is diminished by the neutralization of pro-inflammatory cytokines. *OTA International*. 1(3):e011

Dopheide JF, Doppler C, Scheer M, Obst V, Radmacher M-C, et al. 2013. Critical limb ischaemia is characterised by an increased production of whole blood reactive oxygen species and expression of TREM-1 on neutrophils. *Atherosclerosis*. 229(2):396–403

Doro CJ, Sitzman TJ, O'Toole RV. 2014. Can intramuscular glucose levels diagnose compartment syndrome? *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery*. 76(2):474–78

Du Trochet H. 1824. *Recherches Anatomiques et Physiologiques Sur La Structure Intime Des Animaux et Des Végétaux, et Sur Leur Motilité,*. Paris,: J. B. Baillière,

Dunn LL, Midwinter RG, Ni J, Hamid HA, Parish CR, et al. 2014. New insights into intracellular locations and functions of heme oxygenase-1. *Antioxidants & redox signaling*. 20(11); 1723–1742

Durante A, Camici PG. 2015. Novel insights into an "old" phenomenon: the no reflow. *International Journal of Cardiology*. 187:273–80

Ebraheim NA, Siddiqui S, Raberding C. 2016. A single-incision fasciotomy for compartment syndrome of the lower leg. *Journal of Orthopaedic Trauma*. 30(7):e252–55

Edwards PO, Miles KA, Owens SJ, Kemp PM, Jenner JR. 1999. A new non-invasive test for the detection of compartment syndromes. *Nuclear Medicine Communications*. 20(3):215–18

Elliott KGB, Johnstone AJ. 2003. Diagnosing acute compartment syndrome. *J Bone Joint Surg Br.* 85(5):625–32

Eltzschig HK, Collard CD. 2004. Vascular ischaemia and reperfusion injury. *British Medical Bulletin*. 70(1):71–86

Eltzschig HK, Eckle T. 2011. Ischemia and reperfusion—from mechanism to translation. *Nat Med*. 17(11):1391–1401

Emsley J. 1989. The Elements. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK

Eppihimer MJ, Granger DN. 1997. Ischemia/reperfusion-induced leukocyteendothelial interactions in postcapillary venules. *Shock*. 8(1):16–25

Epstein FH, McCord JM. 1985. Oxygen-derived free radicals in postischemic tissue injury. *N Engl J Med*. 312(3):159–63

Erdos J, Dlaska C, Szatmary P, Humenberger M, Vécsei V, Hajdu S. 2011. Acute compartment syndrome in children: a case series in 24 patients and review of the literature. *International Orthopaedics (SICOT)*. 35(4):569–75

Fayad-Kobeissi S, Ratovonantenaina J, Dabiré H, Wilson JL, Rodriguez AM, et al. 2016. Vascular and angiogenic activities of CORM-401, an oxidant-sensitive CO-releasing molecule. *Biochem Pharmacol*. 102:64-77

Ferran C, Millan MT, Csizmadia V, Cooper JT, Brostjan C, et al. 1995. Inhibition of NF-κB by pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate blocks endothelial cell activation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 214(1):212–23

Ferris CD, Jaffrey SR, Sawa A, Takahashi M, Brady SD, et al. 1999. Haem oxygenase-1 prevents cell death by regulating cellular iron. *Nat Cell Biol*. 1(3):152–57

Finkelstein JA, Hunter GA, Hu RW. 1996. Lower limb compartment syndrome: course after delayed fasciotomy. *The Journal of Trauma: Injury, Infection, and Critical Care*. 40(3):342–44

Fischer S, Maclean AA, Liu M, Cardella JA, Slutsky AS, et al. 2000. Dynamic changes in apoptotic and necrotic cell death correlate with severity of ischemia–reperfusion injury in lung transplantation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*. 162(5):1932–39

Fitzgerald A, Gaston P, Wilson Y, Quaba A, McQueen M. 2000. Long-term sequelae of fasciotomy wounds. *British Journal of Plastic Surgery*. 53(8):690–93

Flamini S, Zoccali C, Persi E, Calvisi V. 2008. Spontaneous compartment syndrome in a patient with diabetes and statin administration: a case report. *J Orthopaed Traumatol*. 9(2):101–3

Forbes TL, Harris KA, Jamieson WG, DeRose G, Carson M, Potter RF. 1996. Leukocyte activity and tissue injury following ischemia-reperfusion in skeletal muscle. *Microvascular Research*. 51(3):275–87

Foresti R, Hammad J, Clark JE, Johnson TR, Mann BE, et al. 2004. Vasoactive properties of CORM-3, a novel water-soluble carbon monoxide-releasing molecule. *British Journal of Pharmacology*. 142(3):453–60

Forsh DA, Wolinsky PR. 2013. Compartment syndrome. In *Management of Musculoskeletal Injuries in the Trauma Patient*, eds. WR Smith, PF Stahel, pp. 225–42. New York, NY: Springer New York

Francis A, Baynosa R. 2017. Ischaemia-reperfusion injury and hyperbaric oxygen pathways: a review of cellular mechanisms. *Diving Hyperb Med*. 47(2):110–17

Frink M, Hildebrand F, Krettek C, Brand J, Hankemeier S. 2010. Compartment syndrome of the lower leg and foot. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 468(4):940–50

Furuichi K, Wada T, Iwata Y, Kokubo S, Hara A, et al. 2006. Interleukin-1dependent sequential chemokine expression and inflammatory cell infiltration in ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Critical Care Medicine*. 34(9):2447–55

García-Bonilla L, Sosti V, Campos M, Penalba A, Boada C, et al. 2011. Effects of acute post-treatment with dipyridamole in a rat model of focal cerebral ischemia. *Brain Research*. 1373:211–20

Garner MR, Taylor SA, Gausden E, Lyden JP. 2014. Compartment syndrome: diagnosis, management, and unique concerns in the twenty-first century. *HSS Jrnl*. 10(2):143–52

Gaschler MM, Stockwell BR. 2017. Lipid peroxidation in cell death. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 482(3):419–25

Gidday JM, Gasche YG, Copin JC, Shah AR, Perez RS, et al. 2005. Leukocytederived matrix metalloproteinase-9 mediates blood-brain barrier breakdown and is proinflammatory after transient focal cerebral ischemia. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 289(2):H558-68

Gold BS, Barish RA, Dart RC, Silverman RP, Bochicchio GV. 2003. Resolution of compartment syndrome after rattlesnake envenomation utilizing non-invasive measures. *The Journal of Emergency Medicine*. 24(3):285–88

Gourgiotis S, Villias C, Germanos S, Foukas A, Ridolfini MP. 2007. Acute limb compartment syndrome: a review. *Journal of Surgical Education*. 64(3):178–86

Grace P. 1994. Ischaemia-reperfusion injury. Br. J. Surg. 81(5):637-47

Granger DN, Benoit JN, Suzuki M, Grisham MB. 1989. Leukocyte adherence to venular endothelium during ischemia-reperfusion. *Am. J. Physiol.* 257(5 Pt 1):G683-688

Green DR, Llambi F. 2015. Cell death signaling. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*. 7(12):a006080

Greensmith EJ. 2004. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy in extremity trauma. *Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons*. 12(6):376–84

Griffiths D. 1940. Volkmann's ischaemic contracture. Br. J. Surg. 28(110):239–60

Guo J, Yin Y, Jin L, Zhang R, Hou Z, Zhang Y. 2019. Acute compartment syndrome: cause, diagnosis, and new viewpoint. *Medicine*. 98(27):e16260

Guo Y, Stein AB, Wu W-J, Tan W, Zhu X, et al. 2004. Administration of a COreleasing molecule at the time of reperfusion reduces infarct size in vivo. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*. 286(5):H1649–53

Gute DC, Ishida T, Yarimizu K, Korthius RJ. 1998. Inflammatory responses to ischemia and reperfusion in skeletal muscle. *Mol. Cell. Biochem*. 179(1/2):169–87

Hall CN, Reynell C, Gesslein B, Hamilton NB, Mishra A, et al. 2014. Capillary pericytes regulate cerebral blood flow in health and disease. *Nature*. 508(7494):55–60

Hallahan D, Kuchibhotla J, Wyble C. 1996. Cell adhesion molecules mediate radiation-induced leukocyte adhesion to the vascular endothelium. *Cancer Res.* 56(22):5150–55

Hamburg NM, Creager MA. 2017. Pathophysiology of intermittent claudication in peripheral artery disease. *Circ J.* 81(3):281–89

Hargens AR, Akeson WH, Mubarak SJ, Owen CA, Evans KL, et al. 1978. Fluid balance within the canine anterolateral compartment and its relationship to compartment syndromes. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 60(4):499–505

Harrington P, Bunola J, Jennings AG, Bush DJ, Smith RM. 2000. Acute compartment syndrome masked by intravenous morphine from a patient-controlled analgesia pump. *Injury*. 31(5):387–89

Hartsock LA, O'Farrell D, Seaber AV, Urbaniak JR. 1998. Effect of increased compartment pressure on the microcirculation of skeletal muscle. *Microsurgery*. 18(2):67–71

Harvey EJ, Sanders DW, Shuler MS, Lawendy A-R, Cole AL, et al. 2012. What's new in acute compartment syndrome? *Journal of Orthopaedic Trauma*. 26(12):699–702

Hayashi S, Omata Y, Sakamoto H, Higashimoto Y, Hara T, et al. 2004. Characterization of rat heme oxygenase-3 gene. Implication of processed pseudogenes derived from heme oxygenase-2 gene. *Gene*. 336(2):241–50

Heckman MM, Whitesides TE, Grewe SR, Rooks MD. 1994. Compartment pressure in association with closed tibial fractures. The relationship between tissue pressure, compartment, and the distance from the site of the fracture. *The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery*. 76(9):1285–92

Heideman M, Norder-Hansson B, Bengtson A. 1988. Terminal complement complexes and anaphylatoxins in septic and ischemic patients. *Arch Surg.* 123(2):188

Heppenstall RB, Scott R, Sapega A, Park YS, Chance B. 1986. A comparative study of the tolerance of skeletal muscle to ischemia. Tourniquet application compared with acute compartment syndrome. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 68(6):820–28

Hickman P, Harrison DK, Hill A, McLaren M, Tamei H, et al. 1994. Exercise in patients with intermittent claudication results in the generation of oxygen derived free radicals and endothelial damage. In *Oxygen Transport to Tissue XVI*, Vol. 361, eds. MC Hogan, O Mathieu-Costello, DC Poole, PD Wagner, pp. 565–70. Boston, MA: Springer US

Hildebrandt O. 1906. Die lehre von der ischämischen muskellähmungen und kontrakturen. *Samml Klinik Vorträge*. 437:559–84

Hobeika MJ, Edlin RS, Muhs BE, Sadek M, Gagne PJ. 2008. Matrix metalloproteinases in critical limb ischemia. *Journal of Surgical Research*. 149(1):148–54

Hoekman P, Diallo S, Souna BS, Casteleyn P-P. 2005. Is acute compartment syndrome avoidable? *Acta Orthop Belg*. 71(2):204–8

Hongmei Z. 2012. Extrinsic and intrinsic apoptosis signal pathway review. In *Apoptosis and Medicine*, ed. T Ntuli. InTech

Hope MJ, McQueen MM. 2004. Acute compartment syndrome in the absence of fracture. *J Orthop Trauma*. 18(4):220–24

Hopkins PN, Wu LL, Hunt SC, James BC, Vincent GM, Williams RR. 1996. Higher serum bilirubin is associated with decreased risk for early familial coronary artery disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 16(2):250–55 Hoppeler H, Weibel ER. 2005. Scaling functions to body size: theories and facts. *Journal of Experimental Biology*. 208(9):1573–74

Hughes JR. 1948. Ischaemic necrosis of the anterior tibial muscles due to fatigue. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 30B(4):581–94

Hulbert AJ, Pamplona R, Buffenstein R, Buttemer WA. 2007. Life and death: metabolic rate, membrane composition, and life span of animals. *Physiological Reviews*. 87(4):1175–1213

Inoue K, Patterson EK, Capretta A, Lawendy AR, Fraser DD, et al. 2017. Carbon monoxide-releasing molecule-401 suppresses polymorphonuclear leukocyte migratory potential by modulating F-actin dynamics. *Am J Pathol*. 1121-1133

Intagliata S, Salerno L, Ciaffaglione V, Leonardi C, Fallica AN, et al. 2019. Heme oxygenase-2 (HO-2) as a therapeutic target: activators and inhibitors. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*. 183:111703

Ishikawa N, Oda M, Kawaguchi M, Tsunezuka Y, Watanabe G. 2003. The effects of a specific neutrophil elastase inhibitor (ONO-5046) in pulmonary ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Transpl Int*. 16(5):341-6

Jaggar JH, Leffler CW, Cheranov SY, Tcheranova D, Shuyu E, Cheng X. 2002. Carbon monoxide dilates cerebral arterioles by enhancing the coupling of Ca2+ sparks to Ca2+-activated K+ channels. *Circulation Research*. 91(7):610–17

Janzing HMJ, Broos PLO. 2001. Routine monitoring of compartment pressure in patients with tibial fractures: beware of overtreatment! *Injury*. 32(5):415–21

Jepson PN. 1926. Ischaemic contracture: experimental study. *Ann Surg.* 84(6):785–95

Jiang J, Wang J, Li C, Yu SP, Wei L. 2009. Dual roles of tumor necrosis factor- α receptor-1 in a mouse model of hindlimb ischemia. *Vasc Med.* 14(1):37–46

Kajimura M, Fukuda R, Bateman RM, Yamamoto T, Suematsu M. 2010. Interactions of multiple gas-transducing systems: hallmarks and uncertainties of CO, NO, and H2S gas biology. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*. 13(2):157–92

Kalogeris T, Baines CP, Krenz M, Korthuis RJ. 2016. Ischemia/reperfusion. In *Comprehensive Physiology*, ed. R Terjung, pp. 113–70. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Kang Y-H, Yi M-J, Kim M-J, Park M-T, Bae S, et al. 2004. Caspase-independent cell death by arsenic trioxide in human cervical cancer cells: reactive oxygen species-mediated poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 activation signals apoptosis-inducing factor release from mitochondria. *Cancer Res.* 64(24):8960–67

Katada K, Bihari A, Mizuguchi S, Yoshida N, Yoshikawa T, et al. 2010. Carbon monoxide liberated from CO-releasing molecule (CORM-2) attenuates ischemia/reperfusion (I/R)-induced inflammation in the small intestine. *Inflammation*. 33(2):92–100

Kawashima A, Oda Y, Yachie A, Koizumi S, Nakanishi I. 2002. Heme oxygenase–1 deficiency: the first autopsy case. *Hum Pathol*. 33(1):125–30

Kearns SR, Daly AF, Sheehan KM, Murray P, Kelly C, Bouchier-Hayes D. 2004. Oral vitamin C reduces the injury to skeletal muscle caused by compartment syndrome. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. British volume*. 86-B(6):906– 11

Kearns SR, O'Briain DE, Sheehan KM, Kelly C, Bouchier-Hayes D. 2010. Nacetylcysteine protects striated muscle in a model of compartment syndrome. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 468(8):2251–59

Kelley C, D'Amore P, Hechtman HB, Shepro D. 1988. Vasoactive hormones and cAMP affect pericyte contraction and stress fibres in vitro. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil*. 9(2):184–94

Kelly RP, Whitesides TE. 1967. Transfibular route for fasciotomy of leg. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 49A:1022–23

Keyse SM, Tyrrell RM. 1989. Heme oxygenase is the major 32-kDa stress protein induced in human skin fibroblasts by UVA radiation, hydrogen peroxide, and sodium arsenite. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*. 86(1):99–103

Khanna A, Cowled PA, Fitridge RA. 2005. Nitric oxide and skeletal muscle reperfusion injury: current controversies (research review). *Journal of Surgical Research*. 128(1):98–107

Kim H, Zamel R, Bai X-H, Lu C, Keshavjee S, et al. 2018. Ischemia-reperfusion induces death receptor-independent necroptosis via calpain-STAT3 activation in a lung transplant setting. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. 315(4):L595–608

Kim HP, Ryter SW, Choi AMK. 2006. CO as a cellular signaling molecule. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 46(1):411–49

Kim J, Zarjou A, Traylor AM, Bolisetty S, Jaimes EA, et al. 2012. In vivo regulation of the heme oxygenase-1 gene in humanized transgenic mice. *Kidney Int*. 82(3):278–91

Kluck RM, Bossy-Wetzel E, Green DR, Newmeyer DD. 1997. The release of cytochrome c from mitochondria: a primary site for bcl-2 regulation of apoptosis. *Science*. 275(5303):1132–36

Kubes P, Ibbotson G, Russell J, Wallace JL, Granger DN. 1990a. Role of platelet-activating factor in ischemia/reperfusion-induced leukocyte adherence. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*. 259(2):G300–305

Kubes P, Suzuki M, Granger DN. 1990b. Platelet-activating factor-induced microvascular dysfunction: role of adherent leukocytes. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*. 258(1):G158–63

Kunugi S, Shimizu A, Kuwahara N, Du X, Takahashi M, et al. 2011. Inhibition of matrix metalloproteinases reduces ischemia-reperfusion acute kidney injury. *Lab Invest*. 91(2):170-80

Kurose I, Anderson DC, Miyasaka M, Tamatani T, Paulson JC, et al. 1994. Molecular determinants of reperfusion-induced leukocyte adhesion and vascular protein leakage. *Circ Res*. 74(2):336–43

Labbe R, Lindsay T, Walker PM. 1987. The extent and distribution of skeletal muscle necrosis after graded periods of complete ischemia. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*. 6(2):152–57

Lander. 1895. Ein fall v. ischämischer lähmung durch embolie einer armarterie bewirkt. *Jahrbuch d. Wiener k. k. Kranken-Anstalten*

Langer HF, Chavakis T. 2009. Leukocyte - endothelial interactions in inflammation. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*. 13(7):1211–20

Lavitrano M, Smolenski RT, Musumeci A, Maccherini M, Slominska E, et al. 2004. Carbon monoxide improves cardiac energetics and safeguards the heart during reperfusion after cardiopulmonary bypass in pigs. *FASEB j.* 18(10):1093–95

Lawendy A-R, Bihari A, Sanders DW, Badhwar A, Cepinskas G. 2016. Compartment syndrome causes systemic inflammation in a rat. *The Bone & Joint Journal*. 98-B(8):1132–37

Lawendy A-R, Bihari A, Sanders DW, McGarr G, Badhwar A, Cepinskas G. 2015. Contribution of inflammation to cellular injury in compartment syndrome in an experimental rodent model. *The Bone & Joint Journal*. 97-B(4):539–43

Lawendy A-R, Bihari A, Sanders DW, Potter RF, Cepinskas G. 2014. The severity of microvascular dysfunction due to compartment syndrome is diminished by the systemic application of co-releasing molecule-3. *Journal of Orthopaedic Trauma*. 28(11):e263–68

Lawendy A-R, Sanders DW. 2010. *Operative Techniques: Orthopaedic Trauma Surgery*. Philadelphia: Saunders

Lawendy A-R, Sanders DW, Bihari, A, Parry N, Gray D, Badhwar A. 2011. Compartment syndrome–induced microvascular dysfunction: an experimental rodent model. *Can J Surg*. 54(3):194–200

Leach RE, Hammond G, Stryker WS. 1967. Anterior tibial compartment syndrome. Acute and chronic. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 49(3):451–62

Lehr H-A, Guhlmann A, Nolte D, Keppler D, Messmer K. 1991. Leukotrienes as mediators in ischemia-reperfusion injury in a microcirculation model in the hamster. *J. Clin. Invest.* 87(6):2036–41

Lejay A, Paradis S, Lambert A, Charles A-L, Talha S, et al. 2018. N-acetyl cysteine restores limb function, improves mitochondrial respiration, and reduces oxidative stress in a murine model of critical limb ischaemia. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg.* 56(5):730–38

Leser. 1884. Untersuchungen über ischämische muskellähmung und contracturen. *Samml. klin. Vortr*

Lewis MS, Whatley RE, Cain P, McIntyre TM, Prescott SM, Zimmerman GA. 1988. Hydrogen peroxide stimulates the synthesis of platelet-activating factor by endothelium and induces endothelial cell-dependent neutrophil adhesion. *J. Clin. Invest.* 82(6):2045–55

Lewis ST. 1936. Vascular Disorders of the Limbs. London: Macmillan & Co

Ley K. 2003. The role of selectins in inflammation and disease. *Trends Mol Med.* 9(6):263–68

Ley K. 2008. *Handbook of Physiology: Microcirculation*. Bethesda, Md: American Physiolog. Society

Ley K, Kansas GS. 2004. Selectins in T-cell recruitment to non-lymphoid tissues and sites of inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 4(5):325–36

Ley K, Laudanna C, Cybulsky MI, Nourshargh S. 2007. Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 7(9):678–89

Li C, Stocker R. 2009. Heme oxygenase and iron: from bacteria to humans. *Redox Report*. 14(3):95–101

Linkermann A, Green DR. 2014. Necroptosis. N Engl J Med. 370(5):455–65

Linkermann A, Hackl MJ, Kunzendorf U, Walczak H, Krautwald S, Jevnikar AM. 2013. Necroptosis in Immunity and Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury: necroptosis in IRI. *Am J Transplant*. 13(11):2797–2804

Liu D, Wang X, Qin W, Chen J, Wang Y, et al. 2016. Suppressive effect of exogenous carbon monoxide on endotoxin-stimulated platelet over-activation via the glycoprotein-mediated PI3K-Akt-GSK3β pathway. *Sci Rep.* 6(1):23653

Liu Y, Liu T, Lei T, Zhang D, Du S, et al. 2019a. RIP1/RIP3-regulated necroptosis as a target for multifaceted disease therapy (review). *Int J Mol Med*. 44(3):771–86

Liu Y, Wang X, Xu X, Qin W, Sun B. 2019b. Carbon monoxide releasing molecule-2 (CORM-2)-liberated CO ameliorates acute pancreatitis. *Mol Med Report*. 19(6):5142–52

Liu Y, Wang X, Xu X, Qin W, Sun B. 2019c. Protective effects of carbon monoxide releasing molecule-2 on pancreatic function in septic mice. *Mol Med Report*. 19(6):5142–52

Lum H, Roebuck KA. 2001. Oxidant stress and endothelial cell dysfunction. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*. 280(4):C719–41

Luo W, Wang Y, Yang H, Dai C, Hong H, et al. 2018. Heme oxygenase-1 ameliorates oxidative stress-induced endothelial senescence via regulating endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation and coupling. *aging*. 10(7):1722–44

Lushchak VI. 2015. Free radicals, reactive oxygen species, oxidative stresses and their classifications. *Ukr.Biochem.J.* 87(6):11–18

Lutz J, Thurmel K, Heemann U. 2010. Anti-inflammatory treatment strategies for ischemia/reperfusion injury in transplantation. *J Inflamm*. 7(1):27

Mabvuure NT, Malahias M, Hindocha S, Khan W, Juma A. 2012. Acute compartment syndrome of the limbs: current concepts and management. *TOORTHJ*. 6(1):535–43

Maines MD, Kappas A. 1977. Regulation of cytochrome P-450-dependent microsomal drug-metabolizing enzymes by nickel, cobalt, and iron. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. 22(5part2):780–90

Maines MD, Trakshel M, Kutty RK. 1986. Characterization of two constitutive forms of rat liver microsomal heme oxygenase. Only one molecular species of the enzyme is inducible. *J. Biol. Chem.* 261(1):411–19

Maksimenko AV, Turashev AD. 2012. No-reflow phenomenon and endothelial glycocalyx of microcirculation. *Biochem Res Int*. 2012:1–10

Mancini DM, Bolinger L, Li H, Kendrick K, Chance B, Wilson JR. 1994. Validation of near-infrared spectroscopy in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 77(6):2740–47

Manjoo A, Sanders DW, Lawendy A-R, Gladwell M, Gray D, et al. 2010. Indomethacin reduces cell damage: shedding new light on compartment syndrome. *Journal of Orthopaedic Trauma*. 24(9):526–29

Marquet PA, Quiñones RA, Abades S, Labra F, Tognelli M, et al. 2005. Scaling and power-laws in ecological systems. *J. Exp. Biol.* 208(Pt 9):1749–69

Martinon F, Burns K, Tschopp J. 2002. The inflammasome: a molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of pro-IL-beta. *Molecular Cell*. 10(2):417–26

Matsen FA. 1975. Compartmental syndrome. An unified concept. *Clin. Orthop. Relat. Res.* (113):8–14

Matsen FA, Mayo KA, Sheridan GW, Krugmire RB. 1976. Monitoring of intramuscular pressure. *Surgery*. 79(6):702–9

Matsen FA, Wyss CR, Krugmire RB, Simmons CW, King RV. 1980. The effects of limb elevation and dependency on local arteriovenous gradients in normal human limbs with particular reference to limbs with increased tissue pressure. *Clin. Orthop. Relat. Res.* (150):187–95

Matsuyama M, Hayama T, Funao K, Naganuma T, Kawahito Y, et al. 2008. The effect of neutrophil elastase inhibitor on acute tubular necrosis after renal ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Mol Med Rep.* 1(4):489-92

Maurer M, von Stebut E. 2004. Macrophage inflammatory protein-1. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 36(10):1882–86

Mavor G. 1956. The anterior tibial syndrome. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 38-B(2):513–17

May JW, Chait LA, O'brien BM, Hurley JV. 1978. The no-reflow phenomenon in experimental free flaps. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*. 61(2):256–67

Mazolewski PJ, Roth AC, Suchy H, Stephenson LL, Zamboni WA. 1999. Role of the thromboxane A2 receptor in the vasoactive response to ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*. 104(5):1393–96

McCallum E, Keren S, Lapira M, Norris JH. 2019. Orbital compartment syndrome: an update with review of the literature. *OPTH*. Volume 13:2189–94

Mccoubrey WK, Huang TJ, Maines MD. 1997. Isolation and characterization of a cDNA from the rat brain that encodes hemoprotein heme oxygenase-3. *Eur J Biochem*. 247(2):725–32

McLaughlin N, Heard H, Kelham S. 2014. Acute and chronic compartment syndromes: know when to act fast. *Journal of the American Academy of Physician Assistants*. 27(6):23–26

McMillan TE, Gardner WT, Schmidt AH, Johnstone AJ. 2019. Diagnosing acute compartment syndrome—where have we got to? *International Orthopaedics (SICOT)*. 43(11):2429–35

McQueen MM, Court-Brown CM. 1996. Compartment monitoring in tibial fractures: the pressure threshold for decompression. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. British volume*. 78-B(1):99–104

McQueen MM, Gaston P, Court-Brown CM. 2000. Acute compartment syndrome. Who is at risk? *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 82(2):200–203

Megías J, Busserolles J, Alcaraz MJ. 2007. The carbon monoxide-releasing molecule CORM-2 inhibits the inflammatory response induced by cytokines in Caco-2 cells. *Br J Pharmacol*. 977-86

Menger MD, Steiner D, Messmer K. 1992. Microvascular ischemia-reperfusion injury in striated muscle: significance of "no reflow." *Am J Physiol*. 263(6):H1892–1900

Menten P, Wuyts A, Van Damme J. 2002. Macrophage inflammatory protein-1. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews*. 13(6):455–81

Miyamoto K, Ogura Y, Hamada M, Nishiwaki H, Hiroshiba N, Honda Y. 1996. In vivo quantification of leukocyte behavior in the retina during endotoxin-induced uveitis. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 37(13):2708–15

Mizuguchi S, Stephen J, Bihari R, Markovic N, Suehiro S, et al. 2009. CORM-3derived CO modulates polymorphonuclear leukocyte migration across the vascular endothelium by reducing levels of cell surface-bound elastase. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 297(3):H920–29

Morita T, Perrella MA, Lee ME, Kourembanas S. 1995. Smooth muscle cellderived carbon monoxide is a regulator of vascular cGMP. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 92(5):1475–79

Morse D, Choi AMK. 2005. Heme oxygenase-1: from bench to bedside. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*. 172(6):660–70

Mortensen SJ, Zhang D, Mohamadi A, Collins J, Weaver MJ, et al. 2020. Predicting factors of muscle necrosis in acute compartment syndrome of the lower extremity. *Injury*. 51(2):522–26

Motterlini R. 2007. Carbon monoxide-releasing molecules (CO-RMs): vasodilatory, anti-ischaemic and anti-inflammatory activities. *Biochemical Society Transactions*. 35(5):1142–46

Motterlini R, Clark JE, Foresti R, Sarathchandra P, Mann BE, Green CJ. 2002. Carbon monoxide-releasing molecules: characterization of biochemical and vascular activities. *Circulation Research*. 90(2):E17-24

Motterlini R, Foresti R. 2014. Heme oxygenase-1 as a target for drug discovery. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*. 20(11):1810–26

Motterlini R, Foresti R. 2017. Biological signaling by carbon monoxide and carbon monoxide-releasing molecules. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 312(3):C302-C313

Motterlini R, Otterbein LE. 2010. The therapeutic potential of carbon monoxide. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. 9(9):728–43

Motterlini R, Sawle P, Hammad J, Bains S, Alberto R, et al. 2004. CORM-A1: a new pharmacologically active carbon monoxide-releasing molecule. *FASEB J*. 19(2):284-6

Mubarak SJ, Hargens AR. 1983. Acute compartment syndromes. *Surgical Clinics of North America*. 63(3):539–65

Mubarak SJ, Owen CA, Hargens AA, Garetto LP, Akeson WH. 1978. Acute compartment syndromes: diagnosis and treatment with the aid of the wick catheter. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 60(8):1091–95

Murphy JB. 1914. Myositis. JAMA. LXIII(15):1249

Musameh M, Fuller BJ, Mann BE, Green CJ, Motterlini R. 2009. Positive inotropic effects of carbon monoxide-releasing molecules (CO-RMs) in the isolated perfused rat heart: positive inotropic effects of carbon monoxide-releasing molecules. *British Journal of Pharmacology*. 149(8):1104–12

Mustoe TA, O'Shaughnessy K, Kloeters O. 2006. Chronic wound pathogenesis and current treatment strategies: a unifying hypothesis. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*. 117(SUPPLEMENT):35S-41S

Nakahira K, Kim HP, Geng XH, Nakao A, Wang X, et al. 2006. Carbon monoxide differentially inhibits TLR signaling pathways by regulating ROS-induced trafficking of TLRs to lipid rafts. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 203(10):2377–89

Nakao A, Kimizuka K, Stolz DB, Neto JS, Kaizu T, et al. 2003. Protective effect of carbon monoxide inhalation for cold-preserved small intestinal grafts. *Surgery*. 134(2):285–92

Nanobashvili J, Neumayer C, Fuegl A, Blumer R, Prager M, et al. 2003. Development of 'no-reflow' phenomenon in ischemia/reperfusion injury: failure of active vasomotility and not simply passive vasoconstriction. *Eur Surg Res.* 35(5):417–24

Neto JS, Nakao A, Kimizuka K, Romanosky AJ, Stolz DB, et al. 2004. Protection of transplant-induced renal ischemia-reperfusion injury with carbon monoxide. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology*. 287(5):F979–89

Niccoli G, Kharbanda RK, Crea F, Banning AP. 2010. No-reflow: again prevention is better than treatment. *European Heart Journal*. 31(20):2449–55

Nishijima K, Kiryu J, Tsujikawa A, Miyamoto K, Honjo M, et al. 2004. Platelets adhering to the vascular wall mediate postischemic leukocyte–endothelial cell interactions in retinal microcirculation. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 45(3):977–84

Nudel I, Dorfmann L, deBotton G. 2016. The compartment syndrome: is the intracompartment pressure a reliable indicator for early diagnosis? *Math Med Biol*. dqw016

Odland R, Schmidt AH, Hunter B, Kidder L, Bechtold JE, et al. 2005. Use of tissue ultrafiltration for treatment of compartment syndrome: a pilot study using porcine hindlimbs. *Journal of Orthopaedic Trauma*. 19(4):267–75

Odland RM, Schmidt AH. 2011. Compartment syndrome ultrafiltration catheters: report of a clinical pilot study of a novel method for managing patients at risk of compartment syndrome. *Journal of Orthopaedic Trauma*. 25(6):358–65

Oerlemans MIFJ, Liu J, Arslan F, Ouden K, Middelaar BJ, et al. 2012. Inhibition of RIP1-dependent necrosis prevents adverse cardiac remodeling after myocardial ischemia–reperfusion in vivo. *Basic Res Cardiol*. 107(4):270

Okajima K, Harada N, Uchiba M, Mori M. 2004. Neutrophil elastase contributes to the development of ischemia-reperfusion-induced liver injury by decreasing endothelial production of prostacyclin in rats. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*. 287(6):G1116-23

Olivas TP, Saylor TF, Wong HP, Stephenson LL, Zamboni WA. 2001. Timing of microcirculatory injury from ischemia reperfusion. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*. 107(3):785–88

Olson SA, Glasgow RR. 2005. Acute compartment syndrome in lower extremity musculoskeletal trauma. *Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons*. 13(7):436–44

O'Sullivan MJ, Rice J, McGuinness AJ. 2002. Compartment syndrome without pain! *Ir Med J*. 95(1):22

O'Toole RV, Whitney A, Merchant N, Hui E, Higgins J, et al. 2009. Variation in diagnosis of compartment syndrome by surgeons treating tibial shaft fractures. *The Journal of Trauma: Injury, Infection, and Critical Care*. 67(4):735–41

Otterbein LE, Bach FH, Alam J, Soares M, Tao Lu H, et al. 2000. Carbon monoxide has anti-inflammatory effects involving the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. *Nat Med*. 6(4):422–28

Otterbein LE, Otterbein SL, Ifedigbo E, Liu F, Morse DE, et al. 2003a. MKK3 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway mediates carbon monoxide-induced protection against oxidant-induced lung injury. *The American Journal of Pathology*. 163(6):2555–63

Otterbein LE, Zuckerbraun BS, Haga M, Liu F, Song R, et al. 2003b. Carbon monoxide suppresses arteriosclerotic lesions associated with chronic graft rejection and with balloon injury. *Nat Med*. 9(2):183–90

Oudemans-van Straaten HM, Spoelstra-de-Man A, de Waard MC. 2014. Vitamin C revisited. *Crit Care*. 18(4):460

Ouyang W, O'Garra A. 2019. IL-10 family cytokines IL-10 and IL-22: from basic science to clinical translation. *Immunity*. 50(4):871–91

Owen CA. 2008. Leukocyte cell surface proteinases: regulation of expression, functions, and mechanisms of surface localization. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology*. *40*(6-7):1246–1272

Ozer K, Adanali G, Zins J, Siemionow M. 1999. In vivo microscopic assessment of cremasteric microcirculation during hindlimb allograft rejection in rats. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 103(7):1949–56

Panes J, Granger DN. 1998. Leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions: molecular mechanisms and implications in gastrointestinal disease. *Gastroenterology*. 114(5):1066–90

Patterson EK, Fraser DD, Capretta A, Potter RF, Cepinskas G. 2014. Carbon monoxide-releasing molecule 3 inhibits myeloperoxidase (MPO) and protects against MPO-induced vascular endothelial cell activation/dysfunction. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*. 70:167–73

Pearse MF, Harry L, Nanchahal J. 2002. Acute compartment syndrome of the leg. *BMJ*. 325(7364):557–58

Pechar J, Lyons M. 2016. Acute compartment syndrome of the lower leg: a review. *The Journal for Nurse Practitioners*. 12(4):265–70

Peers C. 2011. Ion channels as target effectors for carbon monoxide: ion channels as target effectors for carbon monoxide. *Experimental Physiology*. 96(9):836–39

Perler BA, Tohmeh AG, Bulkley GB. 1990. Inhibition of the compartment syndrome by the ablation of free radical-mediated reperfusion injury. *Surgery*. 108(1):40–47

Perry MO. 1988. Compartment syndromes and reperfusion injury. *Surgical Clinics of North America*. 68(4):853–64

Perry MO, Fantini G. 1987. Ischemia: profile of an enemy. reperfusion injury of skeletal muscle. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*. 6(3):231–34

Perry MO, Shires T, Albert SA. 1984. Cellular changes with graded limb ischemia and reperfusion. *J. Vasc. Surg.* 1(4):536–40

Plewes L. 1940. Occlusion of brachial artery and volkmann's ischaemic contracture. *BMJ*. 1(4147):1054–55

Potter RF, Dietrich HH, Tyml K, Ellis CG, Cronkwright J, Groom AC. 1993. Ischemia-reperfusion induced microvascular dysfunction in skeletal muscle: application of intravital video microscopy. *Int J Microcirc Clin Exp*. 13(3):173–86

Potter RF, Peters G, Carson M, Forbes T, Ellis CG, et al. 1995. Measurement of tissue viability using intravital microscopy and fluorescent nuclear dyes. *J. Surg. Res.* 59(5):521–26

Prayson MJ, Chen JL, Hampers D, Vogt M, Fenwick J, Meredick R. 2006. Baseline compartment pressure measurements in isolated lower extremity fractures without clinical compartment syndrome. *The Journal of Trauma: Injury, Infection, and Critical Care*. 60(5):1037–40

Privratsky JR, Newman DK, Newman PJ. 2010. PECAM-1: conflicts of interest in inflammation. *Life Sci.* 87(3-4):69-82

Radermacher P, Haouzi P. 2013. A mouse is not a rat is not a man: speciesspecific metabolic responses to sepsis - a nail in the coffin of murine models for critical care research? *ICMx*. 1(1):7

Raza H, Mahapatra A. 2015. Acute compartment syndrome in orthopedics: causes, diagnosis, and management. *Advances in Orthopedics*. 2015:1–8

Reneman RS. 1975. The anterior and the lateral compartmental syndrome of the leg due to intensive use of muscles. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 113:69–80

Reneman RS, Slaaf DW, Lindbom L, Tangelder GJ, Arfors KE. 1980. Muscle blood flow disturbances produced by simultaneously elevated venous and total muscle tissue pressure. *Microvascular Research*. 20(3):307–18

Ricci MA, Corbisiero RM, Mohamed F, Graham AM, Symes JF. 1990. Replication of the compartment syndrome in a canine model: experimental evaluation of treatment. *Journal of Investigative Surgery*. 3(2):129–40

Roberts JP, Perry MO, Hariri R, Shires T. 1985. Incomplete recovery of muscle cell function following partial but not complete ischemia. *Circ. Shock*. 17(3):253–58

Rorabeck CH, Macnab I. 1976. Anterior tibial-compartment syndrome complicating fractures of the shaft of the tibia. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 58(4):549–50

Ruan Y, Wang L, Zhao Y, Yao Y, Chen S, et al. 2014. Carbon monoxide potently prevents ischemia-induced high-mobility group box 1 translocation and release and protects against lethal renal ischemia–reperfusion injury. *Kidney Int.* 86(3):525–37

Rubanyi GM, Vanhoutte PM. 1986. Superoxide anions and hyperoxia inactivate endothelium-derived relaxing factor. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*. 250(5):H822–27

Rupprecht H, Dormann H, Gaab K. 2019. Thoracic compartment syndrome after penetrating heart and lung injury. *GMS Interdiscip Plast Reconstr Surg DGPW*. 8:Doc07

Ryter SW, Choi AMK. 2016. Targeting heme oxygenase-1 and carbon monoxide for therapeutic modulation of inflammation. *Transl Res.* 167(1):7–34

Ryter SW, Kim HP, Hoetzel A, Park JW, Nakahira K, et al. 2007. Mechanisms of cell death in oxidative stress. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*. 9(1):49–89

Ryter SW, Otterbein LE. 2004. Carbon monoxide in biology and medicine. *Bioessays*. 26(3):270–80

Sadasivan KK, Carden DL, Moore MB, Korthuis RJ. 1997. Neutrophil mediated microvascular injury in acute, experimental compartment syndrome. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*. 339:206–15

Sakagami K, Kawamura H, Wu DM, Puro DG. 2001. Nitric oxide/cGMP-induced inhibition of calcium and chloride currents in retinal pericytes. *Microvasc Res.* 62(2):196–203

Salvemini D, Cuzzocrea S. 2003. Therapeutic potential of superoxide dismutase mimetics as therapeutic agents in critical care medicine. *Critical Care Medicine*. 31(Supplement):S29–38

Sandouka A, Fuller BJ, Mann BE, Green CJ, Foresti R, Motterlini R. 2006. Treatment with CO-RMs during cold storage improves renal function at reperfusion. *Kidney International*. 69(2):239–47

Sarady JK, Zuckerbraun BS, Bilban M, Wagner O, Usheva A, et al. 2004. Carbon monoxide protection against endotoxic shock involves reciprocal effects on iNOS in the lung and liver. *FASEB j.* 18(7):854–56

Schmidt AH. 2017. Acute compartment syndrome. *Injury*. 48:S22–25

Schmidt AH, Bosse MJ, Obremskey WT, O'Toole RV, Carroll EA, et al. 2018. Continuous near-infrared spectroscopy demonstrates limitations in monitoring the development of acute compartment syndrome in patients with leg injuries. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*. 100(19):1645–52

Schofer J, Montz R, Mathey DG. 1985. Scintigraphic evidence of the "no reflow" phenomenon in human beings after coronary thrombolysis. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 5(3):593–98

Schwertner H, Jackson WG, Tolan G. 1994. Association of low serum concentration of bilirubin with increased risk of coronary artery disease. *Clin. Chem.* 40(1):18–23

Seddon H. 1966. Volkmann's ischaemia in the lower limb. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 48(4):627–36

Shah D, Bock D, Darling RC, Chang BB, Kupinski AM, Leather RP. 1996. Beneficial effects of hypertonic mannitol in acute ischemia—reperfusion injuries in humans. *Cardiovascular Surgery*. 4(1):97–100

Sharfuddin AA, Molitoris BA. 2011. Pathophysiology of ischemic acute kidney injury. *Nat Rev Nephrol*. 7(4):189–200

Sheridan GW, Matsen FA. 1976. Fasciotomy in the treatment of the acute compartment syndrome. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 58(1):112–15

Shibahara S, Müller RM, Taguchi H. 1987. Transcriptional control of rat heme oxygenase by heat shock. *J. Biol. Chem.* 262(27):12889–92

Shuler MS, Reisman WM, Cole AL, Whitesides TE, Moore TJ. 2011. Nearinfrared spectroscopy in acute compartment syndrome: case report. *Injury*. 42(12):1506–8 Singh S, Trikha P, Lewis J. 2004. Acute compartment syndrome. *Current Orthopaedics*. 18(6):468–76

Slaaf DW, Reneman RS, Wiederhielm CA. 1987. Cessation and onset of muscle capillary flow at simultaneously reduced perfusion and transmural pressure. *Int J Microcirc Clin Exp*. 6(3):215–24

Soares MP, Usheva A, Brouard S, Berberat PO, Gunther L, et al. 2002. Modulation of endothelial cell apoptosis by heme oxygenase-1-derived carbon monoxide. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*. 4(2):321–29

Soejima Y, Yanaga K, Nishizaki T, Yoshizumi T, Uchiyama H, et al. 1999. Effect of specific neutrophil elastase inhibitor on ischemia/reperfusion injury in rat liver transplantation. *J Surg Res*. 86(1):150-4

Somers WS, Tang J, Shaw GD, Camphausen RT. 2000. Insights into the molecular basis of leukocyte tethering and rolling revealed by structures of P-and E-selectin bound to SLeX and PSGL-1. *Cell*. 103(3):467–79

Song H, Bergstraesser C, Rafat N, Höger S, Schmidt M, et al. 2009. The carbon monoxide releasing molecule (CORM-3) inhibits expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and E-selectin independently of haem oxygenase-1 expression. *Br J Pharmacol*. 157(5):769–80

Song R, Kubo M, Morse D, Zhou Z, Zhang X, et al. 2003. Carbon monoxide induces cytoprotection in rat orthotopic lung transplantation via anti-inflammatory and anti-apoptotic effects. *The American Journal of Pathology*. 163(1):231–42

Spoelstra-de Man AME, Elbers PWG, Oudemans-Van Straaten HM. 2018. Vitamin C: should we supplement? *Curr Opin*. 24(4):248–55

Stowe AM, Adair-Kirk TL, Gonzales ER, Perez, RS, Shah AR, et al. 2009. Neutrophil elastase and neurovascular injury following focal stroke and reperfusion. *Neurobiology of disease*. *35*(1), 82–90

Suematsu M, Goda N, Sano T, Kashiwagi S, Egawa T, et al. 1995. Carbon monoxide: an endogenous modulator of sinusoidal tone in the perfused rat liver. *J. Clin. Invest.* 96(5):2431–37

Suematsu M, Kashiwagi S, Sano T, Goda N, Shinoda Y, Ishimura Y. 1994. Carbon monoxide as an endogenous modulator of hepatic vascular perfusion. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 205(2):1333–37

Summers WK, Jamison RL. 1971. The no reflow phenomenon in renal ischemia. *Lab. Invest.* 25(6):635–43

Suzuki H, Abe K, Tojo S, Morooka S, Kimura K, et al. 1997. Postischemic expression of P-selectin immunoreactivity in rat brain. *Neuroscience Letters*. 228(3):151–54

Taillé C, El-Benna J, Lanone S, Boczkowski J, Motterlini R. 2005. Mitochondrial respiratory chain and NAD(P)H oxidase are targets for the antiproliferative effect of carbon monoxide in human airway smooth muscle. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280(27):25350–60

Taketani S, Kohno H, Yoshinaga T, Tokunaga R. 1989. The human 32-kDa stress protein induced by exposure to arsenite and cadmium ions is heme oxygenase. *FEBS Letters*. 245(1–2):173–76

Tenhunen R, Marver HS, Schmid R. 1968. The enzymatic conversion of heme to bilirubin by microsomal heme oxygenase. *Proc Nat Acad Sci*. 61(2):748–55

Thomas JJ. 1909. Nerve involvement in the ischemic paralysis and contracture of Volkmann. *Annals of Surgery*. 49(3):330–70

Thompson JC. 2016. *Netter's Concise Orthopaedic Anatomy*. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders Elsevier. Second edition, updated edition ed.

Tiwari A, Haq AI, Myint F, Hamilton G. 2002. Acute compartment syndromes. *Br J Surg*. 89(4):397–412

Toyokuni S. 1999. Reactive oxygen species-induced molecular damage and its application in pathology. *Pathology International*. 49(2):91–102

Tran TP, Tu H, Liu J, Muelleman RL, Li Y-L. 2012. Mitochondria-derived superoxide links to tourniquet-induced apoptosis in mouse skeletal muscle. *PLoS ONE*. 7(8):e43410

Tsatsanis C, Androulidaki A, Venihaki M, Margioris AN. 2006. Signalling networks regulating cyclooxygenase-2. *The International Journal of Biochemistry* & *Cell Biology*. 38(10):1654–61

Ulmer T. 2002. The clinical diagnosis of compartment syndrome of the lower leg: are clinical findings predictive of the disorder? *Journal of Orthopaedic Trauma*. 16(8):572–77

Urquhart P, Rosignoli G, Cooper D, Motterlini R, Perretti M. 2007. Carbon monoxide-releasing molecules modulate leukocyte-endothelial interactions under flow. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 321(2):656–62

Vadori M, Seveso M, Besenzon F, Bosio E, Tognato E, et al. 2009. In vitro and in vivo effects of the carbon monoxide-releasing molecule, CORM-3, in the xenogeneic pig-to-primate context. *Xenotransplantation*. 16(2):99–114
Vaillancourt C, Shrier I, Vandal A, Falk M, Rossignol M, et al. 2004. Acute compartment syndrome: how long before muscle necrosis occurs? *CJEM*. 6(03):147–54

Van Cruchten S, Van den Broeck W. 2002. Morphological and biochemical aspects of apoptosis, oncosis and necrosis. *Anatom Histol Embryol.* 31(4):214–23

Vanlangenakker N, Bertrand MJM, Bogaert P, Vandenabeele P, Vanden Berghe T. 2011a. TNF-induced necroptosis in L929 cells is tightly regulated by multiple TNFR1 complex I and II members. *Cell Death Dis*. 2(11):e230–e230

Vanlangenakker N, Vanden Berghe T, Bogaert P, Laukens B, Zobel K, et al. 2011b. cIAP1 and TAK1 protect cells from TNF-induced necrosis by preventing RIP1/RIP3-dependent reactive oxygen species production. *Cell Death Differ*. 18(4):656–65

Varadi J, Lekli I, Juhasz B, Bacskay I, Szabo G, et al. 2007. Beneficial effects of carbon monoxide-releasing molecules on post-ischemic myocardial recovery. *Life Sciences*. 80(17):1619–26

Vera T, Henegar JR, Drummond HA, Rimoldi JM, Stec DE. 2005. Protective effect of carbon monoxide–releasing compounds in ischemia-induced acute renal failure. *JASN*. 16(4):950–58

Vestweber D, Blanks JE. 1999. Mechanisms that regulate the function of the selectins and their ligands. *Physiol Rev.* 79(1):181–213

Via AG, Oliva F, Spoliti M, Maffulli N. 2015. Acute compartment syndrome. *Muscles Ligaments Tendons J*. 5(1):18–22

Volkmann R von. 2007. Ischaemic muscle paralyses and contractures. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*. 456:20–21

Vollmar B, Westermann S, Menger MD. 1999. Microvascular response to compartment syndrome-like external pressure elevation: an in vivo fluorescence microscopic study in the hamster striated muscle. *The Journal of Trauma: Injury, Infection, and Critical Care*. 46(1):91–96

von Keudell AG, Weaver MJ, Appleton PT, Bae DS, Dyer GSM, et al. 2015. Diagnosis and treatment of acute extremity compartment syndrome. *The Lancet*. 386(10000):1299–1310

von Volkmann R. 1881. Die ischaemischen muskellahmungen und kontrakturen. *Zentralbl Chir*. 8:801–3

Wang R. 1998. Resurgence of carbon monoxide: an endogenous gaseous vasorelaxing factor. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 76(1):1–15

Wang R, Wang Z, Wu L. 1997. Carbon monoxide-induced vasorelaxation and the underlying mechanisms. *British Journal of Pharmacology*. 121(5):927–34

Wang W, Schulze CJ, Suarez-Pinzon WL, Dyck JR, Sawicki G, et al. 2002. Intracellular action of matrix metalloproteinase-2 accounts for acute myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury. *Circulation*. 106(12):1543-9

Wang WZ, Fang X-H, Stephenson LL, Khiabani KT, Zamboni WA. 2008. Ischemia/reperfusion-induced necrosis and apoptosis in the cells isolated from rat skeletal muscle. *J. Orthop. Res.* 26(3):351–56

Wang X, Wang Y, Lee S-J, Kim HP, Choi AM, Ryter SW. 2011. Carbon monoxide inhibits Fas activating antibody-induced apoptosis in endothelial cells. *Med Gas Res.* 1(1):8

Watanabe P da S, Trevizan AR, Silva-Filho SE, Góis MB, Garcia JL, et al. 2018. Immunocompetent host develops mild intestinal inflammation in acute infection with toxoplasma gondii. *PLoS ONE*. 13(1):e0190155

Waza AA, Hamid Z, Ali S, Bhat SA, Bhat MA. 2018. A review on heme oxygenase-1 induction: is it a necessary evil. *Inflamm. Res.* 67(7):579–88

Weaver LK. 2009. Carbon monoxide poisoning. N Engl J Med. 360(12):1217-25

Wei Y, Chen P, de Bruyn M, Zhang W, Bremer E, Helfrich W. 2010. Carbon monoxide-releasing molecule-2 (CORM-2) attenuates acute hepatic ischemia reperfusion injury in rats. *BMC Gastroenterol*. 10(1):42

Weibel ER, Palade GE. 1964. New cytoplasmic components in arterial endothelia. *The Journal of Cell Biology*. 23(1):101–12

Weick JW, Kang H, Lee L, Kuether J, Liu X, et al. 2016. Direct measurement of tissue oxygenation as a method of diagnosis of acute compartment syndrome. *Journal of Orthopaedic Trauma*. 30(11):585–91

Welbourn R, Goldman G, Paterson IS, Valeri CR, Shepro D, Hechtman HB. 1991. Pathophysiology of ischaemia reperfusion injury: central role of the neutrophil. *Br. J. Surg.* 78(6):651–55

Whitesides TE, Haney TC, Morimoto K, Harada H. 1975. Tissue pressure measurements as a determinant for the need of fasciotomy. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*. 113:43–51

Whitesides TE, Heckman MM. 1996. Acute compartment syndrome: update on diagnosis and treatment. *Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons*. 4(4):209–18

Whitney A, O'Toole RV, Hui E, Sciadini MF, Pollak AN, et al. 2014. Do one-time intracompartmental pressure measurements have a high false-positive rate in diagnosing compartment syndrome? *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery*. 76(2):479–83

Williams AB, Luchette FA, Papaconstantinou HT, Lim E, Hurst JM, et al. 1997. The effect of early versus late fasciotomy in the management of extremity trauma. *Surgery*. 122(4):861–66

Woodfin A, Voisin MB, Nourshargh S. 2007. PECAM-1: a multi-functional molecule in inflammation and vascular biology. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 27(12):2514-23

Woodman RC, Reinhardt PH, Kanwar S, Johnston FL, Kubes P. 1993. Effects of human neutrophil elastase (HNE) on neutrophil function in vitro and in inflamed microvessels. *Blood*. 82(7):2188-95

Wright J, Griffiths DE, Nwaboku HC. 2011. Acute compartment syndrome with an atypical presentation: a useful clinical lesson. *JRSM Short Reports*. 2(4):1–3

Wright JG, Fox D, Kerr JC, Valeri CR, Hobson RW. 1988. Rate of reperfusion blood flow modulates reperfusion injury in skeletal muscle. *Journal of Surgical Research*. 44(6):754–63

Wu L, Wang R. 2005. Carbon monoxide: endogenous production, physiological functions, and pharmacological applications. *Pharmacol Rev.* 57(4):585–630

Yabluchanskiy A, Sawle P, Homer-Vanniasinkam S, Green CJ, Foresti R, Motterlini R. 2012. CORM-3, a carbon monoxide-releasing molecule, alters the inflammatory response and reduces brain damage in a rat model of hemorrhagic stroke. *Critical Care Medicine*. 40(2):544–52

Yachie A, Niida Y, Wada T, Igarashi N, Kaneda H, et al. 1999. Oxidative stress causes enhanced endothelial cell injury in human heme oxygenase-1 deficiency. *J. Clin. Invest.* 103(1):129–35

Yamaguchi Y, Matsumura F, Wang FS, Akizuki E, Liang J, et al. 1998. Neutrophil elastase enhances intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression. *Transplantation*. 65(12):1622-8

Yan B-Z, Yang B-S, Li H, Zhang Y-F, Pei F-H, et al. 2016. The therapeutic effect of CORM-3 on acute liver failure induced by lipopolysaccharide/D-galactosamine in mice. *Hepatobiliary & Pancreatic Diseases International*. 15(1):73–80

Zhang X, Shan P, Alam J, Davis RJ, Flavell RA, Lee PJ. 2003. Carbon monoxide modulates fas/fas ligand, caspases, and bcl-2 family proteins via the p38α mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway during ischemia-reperfusion lung injury. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278(24):22061–70

Zhuang M, Sun B, Liu D, Shi Y. 2017. Suppressive effect of CORM-2 on platelet α-granule exocytosis in sepsis via SNARE/Munc18b complex formation. *Zhonghua Wei Zhong Bing Ji Jiu Yi Xue*. 29(2):156-161

Zou H, Henzel WJ, Liu X, Lutschg A, Wang X. 1997. Apaf-1, a human protein homologous to c. elegans CED-4, participates in cytochrome c–dependent activation of caspase-3. *Cell*. 90(3):405–13

Zuckerbraun BS, Billiar TR, Otterbein SL, Kim PKM, Liu F, et al. 2003. Carbon monoxide protects against liver failure through nitric oxide–induced heme oxygenase 1. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 198(11):1707–16

Zuckerbraun BS, Chin BY, Bilban M, d'Avila J de C, Rao J, et al. 2007. Carbon monoxide signals via inhibition of cytochrome oxidase and generation of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species. *FASEB j.* 21(4):1099–1106

APPENDICES

APPENDIX I: FASCIOTOMY TECHNIQUES

Currently, the only gold standard in the treatment of ACS remains surgical fasciotomy. The goal is to provide immediate pressure relief and decreased compartmental pressures. By incising the skin and rigid fascia, this increases the volume of the muscle compartments, thereby reducing the pressure and restoring microvascular perfusion (Schmidt 2017). During fasciotomy, the muscles are assessed for colour, consistency, contractility, and perfusion. Any necrotic tissue should be debrided (Lawendy & Sanders 2010; von Keudell et al. 2015).

The lower leg and forearm are the most commonly affected locations in ACS (Elliott & Johnstone 2003). In the lower leg, the most frequently described techniques are the single-incision (lateral incision) technique or two-incision technique (lateral and medial incisions). A single incision with concomitant fibulectomy has been previously described (Kelly & Whitesides 1967). However, this technique has fallen out of favour given that both the two-incision and single incision without fibulectomy techniques provide adequate release without the morbidity of fibular removal, while this technique also places the peroneal vessels and superficial peroneal nerve at risk (Ebraheim et al. 2016; Lawendy & Sanders 2010). In the forearm, the volar and dorsal approaches are used to decompress the muscle compartments.

I.1 LOWER LEG FASCIOTOMY

Although better visualisation of the soft tissues and neurovascular structures favours the two-incision technique, both approaches have yielded satisfactory results and demonstrated adequate 4-compartment release (Forsh & Wolinsky 2013; von Keudell et al. 2015).

I.1.1 Single-Incision Fasciotomy

The patient is positioned supine on the operative table. A tourniquet is applied to the thigh but not insufflated, and the limb is freely prepped and draped. A bump is also placed under the hip. A single lateral incision along the fibula is made longitudinally extending from the fibular head and ends just proximally to the lateral malleolus. Anterior and posterior skin flaps are created; the anterior and lateral compartments are identified, and, using dissecting scissors, longitudinal fasciotomies are performed. It is essential to identify and protect the superficial peroneal nerve in the distal third of the leg piercing out of the fascia from the lateral compartment. Using the posterior flap created and while elevating the structures in the lateral compartment, the superficial posterior compartment is exposed, and the fascia is incised. Subsequently, the soleus ridge is identified, and the soleus muscle is detached from the fibula in order to expose the deep posterior compartment and decompress it. Subperiosteal dissection is performed around the posterior side of the fibula as well to decompress the deep posterior compartment (Forsh & Wolinsky 2013; Gourgiotis et al. 2007; Lawendy & Sanders 2010).

I.1.2 Two-Incision Fasciotomy

The patient is set up the same way as in the single-incision technique. A 20-25cm longitudinal incision is performed midway between the fibula and tibial crest (Figure I.1). Anterior and posterior skin flaps are created, and the lateral intermuscular septum is identified. Fasciotomies of the anterior and lateral compartments in line with the tibialis anterior and fibular shaft, respectively, are performed. Care is taken to identify the superficial peroneal nerve piercing through the fascia of the lateral compartment in the distal third of the leg. Attention is then turned towards the medial aspect of the lower leg. A medially based longitudinal incision is made 2cm posterior to the medial aspect of the tibia. The skin is retracted posteriorly, the saphenous nerve and vein are identified and protected, the septum dividing the superficial and posterior compartments is identified and released, and the fascia overlying the gastrocnemius-soleus complex is released. An incision overlying the flexor digitorum longus is then made to access and decompress the deep posterior compartment. When the soleus bridge is extended more than halfway down the tibia, its extended origin is also released in order to access the deep posterior compartment. (Forsh & Wolinsky 2013; Gourgiotis et al. 2007; Lawendy & Sanders 2010). For both techniques, the wound is left open with packing or loose skin closure for later primary closure or skin grafting. The leg is splinted with the foot plantigrade (Lawendy & Sanders 2010; von Keudell et al. 2015).



Figure I.1. Two-incision fasciotomy. The lateral incision is centred halfway between the fibular shaft and the crest of the tibia. Lateral intermuscular septum is exposed. The anterior compartment is released in line with the tibialis anterior while the lateral compartment is released in line with fibular shaft. A medial longitudinal incision 2cm posterior to the posterior margin of the tibia is created; gastrocnemius-soleus complex fascia is released followed by deep posterior compartment release via fascial incision over the flexor digitorum longus.

Reproduced with permission from Lawendy and Sanders (2010).

I.2 FOREARM FASCIOTOMY

I.2.1 Volar Approach

The volar incision is performed using either a radial or ulnar curvilinear incision. Regardless of the choice of incision, the volar incision must begin proximal to the elbow flexion crease and terminate past the wrist crease (Figure I.2). Incisions at the elbow and wrist flexion crease are made at an oblique angle to avoid contracture. Proximally, the lacertus fibrosis is released and the brachial artery is explored. The mobile wad, flexor carpi ulnaris and its neurovascular bundle, flexor digitorum superficialis, and median nerve are decompressed, explored, and retracted. The fascia and epimysium overlying the flexor digitorum profundus are then incised. Distally, the carpal tunnel is always released during forearm fasciotomy. A distal volar ulnar approach to explore Guyon's canal may be used when the ulnar nerve is affected (Forsh & Wolinsky 2013; Lawendy & Sanders 2010).

I.2.2 Dorsal Approach

Typically, a volar approach alone is sufficiently adequate to decompress the forearm. Nonetheless, posterior compartment pressures must be assessed. If needed, a dorsal incision extending from 2cm distal to the lateral epicondyle to the centre of the wrist at the level of the radioulnar joint is made for the posterior forearm. Subsequently, the fascia overlying the extensor retinaculum and the mobile wad is decompressed, and the muscles of the mobile wad are individually



В

Figure I.2 Fasciotomy of the forearm. A volar curvilinear incision is performed, the superficial volar compartment is then released by identifying the mobile wad, flexor digitorum superficialis, flexor carpi ulnaris, and median nerve. Then, the flexor digitorum profundus in the deep compartment is exposed by incising the fascia longitudinally. Proximally, the lacertus fibrosis is released while distally, the carpal tunnel is decompressed.

Reproduced with permission from Lawendy and Sanders (2010).

released. The incision(s) are kept open with moist gauze for later primary closure or skin grafting, and the arm is splinted with the elbow below 90 degrees of flexion (Forsh & Wolinsky 2013; Lawendy & Sanders 2010).

APPENDIX II: PERMISSIONS TO USE COPYRIGHTED MATERIALS

II.1 Operative Techniques: Orthopaedic Trauma Surgery 2010;

Compartment Syndrome: Evidence-Based Approaches, Elsevier, pp.679-702



Dear Dr. Patrick Qi Wang

We hereby grant you permission to reprint the material below at no charge in your thesis subject to the following conditions:

- 1. If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies.
- 2. Suitable acknowledgment to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:
- "This article was published in Publication title, Vol number, Author(s), Title of article, Page Nos, Copyright Elsevier (or appropriate Society name) (Year)." 1. Your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form.
- 2. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose for which permission is hereby given.
- 3. This permission is granted for non-exclusive world English rights only. For other languages please reapply separately for each one required.
- 4. Permission excludes use in an electronic form other than submission. Should you have a specific electronic project in mind please reapply for permission.
- 5. This includes permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

Thanks



II.2 Mechanisms of Vascular Disease: A Reference Book for Vascular Specialists (2011)

Pathophysiology of Reperfusion Injury, Barr Smith Press, pp. 331-350



Hi Patrick,

Thanks for the information.

I'm happy to grant you permission on behalf of the University of Adelaide to use the two images in your thesis as long as they are appropriately attributed.

Kind regards, Anne

Anne Hawkins





CRICOS Provider Number 00123M

IMPORTANT: This message may contain confidential or legally privileged information. If you think it was sent to you by mistake, please delete all copies and advise the sender. For the purposes of the SPAM Act 2003, this email is authorised by The University of Adelaide.

The University Library wishes to acknowledge the Kaurna people, the original custodians of the Adelaide Plains and the land on which the University of Adelaide's campuses at North Terrace, Waite and Roseworthy are built.

II.3 Nature Reviews Immunology 2007; 7(9):678-689

SPRINGER NATURE LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Aug 19, 2020

This Agreement between Dr. Patrick Qi Wang ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4890951344745
License date	Aug 16, 2020
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Nature Reviews Immunology
Licensed Content Title	Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated
Licensed Content Author	Klaus Ley et al
Licensed Content Date	Dec 31, 1969
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	1 - 29
Author of this Springer Nature content	no
Title	Potential Therapeutic Role of CORM-3-Derived Carbon Monoxide in a Rodent Model of Acute Limb Compartment Syndrome
Institution name	University of Western Ontario
Expected presentation date	Oct 2020
Portions	Figure 1: The updated leukocyte adhesion cascade.
Requestor Location	
Total	
Terms and Conditions	

Springer Nature Customer Service Centre GmbH Terms and Conditions

This agreement sets out the terms and conditions of the licence (the Licence) between you and Springer Nature Customer Service Centre GmbH (the Licensor). By clicking 'accept' and completing the transaction for the material (Licensed Material), you also confirm your acceptance of these terms and conditions.

1. Grant of License

1. 1. The Licensor grants you a personal, non-exclusive, non-transferable, world-wide licence to reproduce the Licensed Material for the purpose specified in your order only. Licences are granted for the specific use requested in the order and for no other use, subject to the conditions below.

1.2. The Licensor warrants that it has, to the best of its knowledge, the rights to license reuse of the Licensed Material. However, you should ensure that the material you are requesting is original to the Licensor and does not carry the copyright of another entity (as credited in the published version).

1.3. If the credit line on any part of the material you have requested indicates that it was reprinted or adapted with permission from another source, then you should also seek permission from that source to reuse the material.

2. Scope of Licence

2. 1. You may only use the Licensed Content in the manner and to the extent permitted by these Ts&Cs and any applicable laws.

2. 2. A separate licence may be required for any additional use of the Licensed Material, e.g. where a licence has been purchased for print only use, separate permission must be obtained for electronic re-use. Similarly, a licence is only valid in the language selected and does not apply for editions in other languages unless additional translation rights have been granted separately in the licence. Any content owned by third parties are expressly excluded from the licence.

2. 3. Similarly, rights for additional components such as custom editions and derivatives require additional permission and may be subject to an additional fee. Please apply to

Journalpermissions@springernature.com/bookpermissions@springernature.com for these rights.

2. 4. Where permission has been granted free of charge for material in print, permission may also be granted for any electronic version of that work, provided that the material is incidental to your work as a whole and that the electronic version is essentially equivalent to, or substitutes for, the print version.

2. 5. An alternative scope of licence may apply to signatories of the <u>STM Permissions Guidelines</u>, as amended from time to time.

3. Duration of Licence

3. 1. A licence for is valid from the date of purchase ('Licence Date') at the end of the relevant period in the below table:

Scope of Licence	Duration of Licence	
Post on a website	12 months	
Presentations	12 months	
Books and journals	Lifetime of the edition in the language purchased	

I. Acknowledgement

4. 1. The Licensor's permission must be acknowledged next to the Licenced Material in print. In electronic form, this acknowledgement must be visible at the same time as the figures/tables/illustrations or abstract, and must be hyperlinked to the journal/book's homepage. Our required acknowledgement format is in the Appendix below.

5. Restrictions on use

5. 1. Use of the Licensed Material may be permitted for incidental promotional use and minor editing privileges e.g. minor adaptations of single figures, changes of format, colour and/or style where the adaptation is credited as set out in Appendix 1 below. Any other changes including but not limited to, cropping, adapting, omitting material that affect the meaning, intention or moral rights of the author are strictly prohibited.

5. 2. You must not use any Licensed Material as part of any design or trademark.

5. 3. Licensed Material may be used in Open Access Publications (OAP) before publication by Springer Nature, but any Licensed Material must be removed from OAP sites prior to final publication.

6. Ownership of Rights

6. 1. Licensed Material remains the property of either Licensor or the relevant third party and any rights not explicitly granted herein are expressly reserved.

7. Warranty

IN NO EVENT SHALL LICENSOR BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL OR INDIRECT DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND

WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.

8. Limitations

8. 1. <u>BOOKS ONLY</u>: Where 'reuse in a dissertation/thesis' has been selected the following terms apply: Print rights of the final author's accepted manuscript (for clarity, NOT the published version) for up to 100 copies, electronic rights for use only on a personal website or institutional repository as defined by the Sherpa guideline (<u>www.sherpa.ac.uk/romeo/</u>).

9. Termination and Cancellation

9. 1. Licences will expire after the period shown in Clause 3 (above).

9. 2. Licensee reserves the right to terminate the Licence in the event that payment is not received in full or if there has been a breach of this agreement by you.

Appendix 1 — Acknowledgements:

For Journal Content:

Reprinted by permission from [the Licensor]: [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

For Advance Online Publication papers:

Reprinted by permission from [the Licensor]: [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication), advance online publication, day month year (doi: 10.1038/sj.[JOURNAL ACRONYM].)

For Adaptations/Translations:

Adapted/Translated by permission from [the Licensor]: [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

Note: For any republication from the British Journal of Cancer, the following credit line style applies:

Reprinted/adapted/translated by permission from [the Licensor]: on behalf of Cancer Research UK: : [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

For Advance Online Publication papers:

Reprinted by permission from The [the Licensor]: on behalf of Cancer Research UK: [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication), advance online publication, day month year (doi: 10.1038/sj.[JOURNAL ACRONYM])

For Book content:

Reprinted/adapted by permission from [the Licensor]: [Book Publisher (e.g. Palgrave Macmillan, Springer etc) [Book Title] by [Book author(s)] [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

Other Conditions:

Version 1.2

APPENDIX III: ANIMAL PROTOCOL APPROVAL LETTER

Western 😽

AUP Number: 2017-146 PI Name: Lawendy, Abdel AUP Title: Direct and Remote Organ Injury Following Compartment Syndrome Approval Date: 04/01/2018

Official Notice of Animal Care Committee (ACC) Approval: Your new Animal Use Protocol (AUP) 2017-146:1: entitled " Direct and Remote Organ Injury Following Compartment Syndrome " has been APPROVED by the Animal Care Committee of the University Council on Animal Care. This approval, although valid for up to four years, is subject to annual Protocol Renewal.

Prior to commencing animal work, please review your AUP with your research team to ensure full understanding by everyone listed within this AUP

As per your declaration within this approved AUP, you are obligated to ensure that:

Animals used in this research project will be cared for in alignment with:
a) Western's Senate MAPPs 7.12, 7.10, and 7.15

arch.html http://www.uwo.ca/univsec/policies proceed lures/re

b) University Council on Animal Care Policies and related Animal Care Committee procedures <u>http://uwo.ca/research/services/animalethics/animal_care_and_use_policies.htm</u>
2) As per UCAC's Animal Use Protocols Policy,

b) CAC s Animal Use Protocols Policy, a) this AUP accurately represents intended animal use; b) external approvals associated with this AUP, including permits and scientific/departmental peer approvals, are complete and accurate; c) any divergence from this AUP will not be undertaken until the related Protocol Modification is approved by the ACC; and d) AUP form submissions - Annual Protocol Renewals and Full AUP Renewals - will be submitted and attended to within timeframes outlined by the ACC. e) http://uwo.ca/research/services/animalethics/animal_use_protocols.html 3) As per MAPP 7.10 all individuals listed within this AUP as having any hands-on animal contact will a) be made familiar with and have direct access to this AUP;
b) complete all required CCAC mandatory training (training@uwo.ca); and
c) be overseen by me to ensure appropriate care and use of animals.
4) As per MAPP 7.15, (ACP 7.15, a) Practice will align with approved AUP elements;
b) Unrestricted access to all animal areas will be given to ACVS Veterinarians and ACC Leaders;
c) UCAC policies and related ACC procedures will be followed, including but not limited to: i) Research Animal Procurement i) Assess of Namual Area of Use Records
iii) Sick Animal Care and Use Records
iii) Sick Animal Response
iv) Continuing Care Visits
5) As per institutional OH&S policies, all individuals listed within this AUP who will be using or potentially exposed to hazardous materials will have completed in advance the appropriate institutional OH&S training, facility-level training, and reviewed related (M)SDS Sheets, http://www.uwo.ca/hr/learning/required/index.html

Submitted by: Copeman, Laura on behalf of the Animal Care Committee University Council on Animal Care



VITA

Name:	Patrick Qi Wang
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	Champlain Regional College, Lennoxville, Quebec, Canada 2010-2012 Diploma-Collegial Studies (Quebec)
	McGill University Montreal, Quebec, Canada 2012-2013 Med-P
	McGill University Montreal, Quebec, Canada 2013-2017 MDCM
	University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2019-2020 MSc
	University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2017-2022 FRCSC
Honours and Awards:	Orthopaedic Trauma Association Resident Research Grant 2020 – 2021
Related Work Experience:	Research Assistant 2019 – 2020

Publications:

Wang P, Matache B, Suh N, Grewal R. Treatment of Stages IIIA and IIIB in Kienbock's Disease: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Wrist Surgery*, accepted July 14, 2020.

Wang P, Lawendy AR, Schemitsch E, Bihari A. Possible therapeutic application of CORM-3-derived carbon monoxide in acute limb compartment syndrome. *Orthopaedic Trauma Association*, Annual meeting, October 2020.